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CHRIS HANI

Murder Most Horrible

AS THIS issue was being prepared for the printer, a news flash announced
the murder of Chris Hani. This was an act of terror which we abominate.
Throughout our existence, the editors of Searchlight South Africa have con-
demned as contemptible the assassination of leading resistance politicians in
South Africa.

We also wish to draw the attention of readers to our note in the articles on
negotiations and on Bisho, in which we speak of the threats to leading politi-
cal figures. Despite our opposition to their politics we do not stay silent when
their lives are threatened. The threats and the killing must stop.

Nonetheless we will not retract our criticisms of Hani, The subject matter
with which we deal goes far beyond the fate of the man. The whole future of
South African depends on the righting of the many wrongs of the past two
decades, in the camps of the ANC and the PAC, and on the part of the state

Mr de Klerk has wept crocodile tears over the murder: yet the blame for
the terrible deeds that are tearing South Africa apart must be laid first at the
doors of the state murder machine, of which he was an integral part. We
describe this in the article that follows and will not go into details here. Clues
must be sought for links between the murderer (or murderers) and Military
Intelligence, the real organiser of death in South Africa, which must be com-
pletely broken up. :

The ANC was quick to speak in its statements about the disinformation
spread about Mr Hani during the past month. This was justified, but also
hypocritical coming from the organization that will not disclose who was be-
hind the killings at Quatro, as described in our analysis of the enquiries into
the events of 1984. One of the outcomes of Mr Hani’s tragic killing is the cur-
tain it will draw on his role in suppressing the mutiny. Death was final for the
man, but it does not end the need to disclose what happened at Quatro. -

Finally, without yet knowing whether the man who has been arrested is
guilty, we must note that South Africa has been actively encouraging the
migration of persons from the former Soviet bloc. We do not have words
enough to condemn those states that once claimed to be communist, for
having reared hundreds and thousands of men who have turned out to be
skinheads, fascists, and now, believers in ‘ethnic cleansing’. It is from such
elements, together with racists from former Rhodesia (Zimbabwe) and
Mozambique, that the South African state sought the personnel to back their
claim to white supremacy. It is with regret that we must say:

As the assassins sowed, so shall the people of South Africa reap.
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THE TALKS THAT DESCEND INTO HELL

Baruch Hirson

The Negotiating Strategy

IT IS now three years since talks between the government of Mr de Klerk and
the ANC/SACP leaders commenced officially. When they actually started
has not been disclosed. Even before 2 February 1990, when Nelson Mandela
was released from jail, there were reports of his meeting with President P W
Botha, There were also reports of meetings in central and west Africa be-
tween representatives of the mines, big business, political parties and govern-
ment agents, with the ANC leaders and anti-apartheid activists in exile.

It was also obvious, in the late 1980s, that Moscow and Washington were
putting pressure on de Klerk and the ANC leadershipto negotiate. Talks, or
talks about talks, have therefore been around for many years now, filling
people with expectations of great changes to come. Yet the continued talks,
some public, most concealed, have not opened up new hope for the vast
majority of South Africans. They are not a promise to a new future, but a
means by which the hopes of millions are being frustrated.

Is it necessary to print a balance sheet for these three or more years? The
government, directly, or through security apparatus it inherited, has assas-
sinated leading members of the people’s organisations; has overseen the
death of countless activists in the hands of the police; has seemingly connived
at the massacres at Boipatong and elsewhere; has done nothing to ap-
prehend the murderers on the trains; has indemnified ruthless killers; and
has walched silently as members of the extreme right-wing speak of mur-
derous action against members of the ANC and SACP, as well as other or-
ganisations.

It is not possible to get an accurate picture of the crime rate in the country.
Men and women are murdered, women are raped, and the number of mug-
gings and crimes of violence are beyond count.

This violence against people is only one side of the balance sheet. There
has been no improvement in the education of most of the population, the
health service has worsened, housing continues in an appalling state with mil-
lions homeless or living in squatter camps. Every township home is vul-
nerable while wealthy whites live behind stockaded security walls in their
selected suburbs. At the same time millions are unemployed, children have
been reduced to beggary and prostitution, and the number left destitute and
starving on the land is vast.

Of course the economy is in a mess, the official figure for inflation is 10 per
cent or more (for the white consumers) but nearer 15 per cent for the black
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population, the tax level has risen considerably since the imposition of Value
Added Tax (VAT) on almost every product, firms have been going bankrupt,
leading to dismissals of workers and the closing of subsidiary workshops, and
all the time the level of corruption, theft and fraud among state servants and
the upper-class, has mushroomed.

Behind this sits Mr de Klerk, his cabinet ministers and their secretaries.
While the society falls apart they sit tight. Nobody ever resigns, nobody seems
to care, nobody ever expresses regret. They use the talks as a shield to cover
their activities and inactivities.

What then of those who are clamouring at the talks for their share of the
scam? In speaking generally I do not wish to imply that everybody has been
guilty of such misdeeds - but I am surprised by the failure of leading persons
to stand up and denounce a situation of which they are fully aware.

The ANC has already squandered millions of pounds donated by western
governments, the Soweto Congress Youth League lost half a million Rand
through misappropriation, Winnie Mandela is said to have handed over
thousands of Rand to her lover in the Department of Social Security, and
being even-handed, has run up a vast debt on her phone bill, which Nelson
Mandela has been forced to repudiate. There are apparently vast areas of
land in Botswana, once bought by the ANC with money donated by foreign
governments, but registered in private names. These farmlands have not
been retrieved. To whom then does the land (and the money for the land)
belong? The ANC has lost one (or is it two?) printing presses which it once
owned in Europe, but which have just disappeared. Now, after raising mil-
lions of dollars (some through the begging bowl of Mr Mandela) across five
continents, the ANC is short of money. Yet there are press reports of money
being paid to hit-men and other disreputable persons, by ANC officials who
wanted awkward persons removed. Despite the revelations in the press there
has been little or no attempt to prosecute such people.

So, the ANC is short of money again. That is why 900 anti-apartheid ac-
tivists have recently been summoned to a giant jamboree in South Africa, to
press for further donations of $43m from overseas sources, to cover the ex-
penses of the forthcoming elections.

At the same time officials of the ANC have done well for themselves.
Tambo and Mandela (and how many others?) live in sumptuous mansions,
others take rooms in five star hotels. The number of BMW cars at the dis-
posal of these men defies the counting frame. There has been no published
account of their living expenses or of the savings they have been able to put
aside. They know no shame at the money they squander while the people they
are said to represent live in shacks and subsist on tiny handouts.

We can only guess that this must be one of the factors that attracted the
(Coloured) Labour Party to switch its allegiance from The National Party to
the ANC, and that will attract some of the others who were happy to support
the government when there seemed to be no possibility of change.
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If there are no such pay-offs for the smaller organizations it is only be-
cause the ANC cornered the market. The PAC, Azapo, Unity Movement
and other small organizations have not been able to secure the money they
would like because foreign powers see little profit from the groups they
regard as have-beens. The corruption in some of these groups is small-scale,
precisely because the pork-barrel is too small, but the scam that does exist en-
riches the few who know where to put their hands. That is one of the factors,
no doubt, that determines their decisions to participate in these talks. The ex-
ceptions are those who gained their position by playing the Homelands
game. They have state coffers, with big contributions for the South African
government, or in some cases from casinos and prostitution that was not al-
lowed to flourish in the area that is called South Africa. And they also have
the trappings of power: armed forces, police, a bureaucracy, a ‘state’ univer-
sity and patronage. The sums of money that have disappeared into the pock-
ets of some officials, the extent of fraudulent dealing, and the sums paid out
to sympathetic whites who assisted them, is vast. But the total sum is con-
cealed, no doubt, in creative accounting: in other words, through fraud.

Do I have to continue. Must I talk of the failure of the ANC and other
movements to build branches, or of the indiscipline of members who act as
hoodlums in the name of the organizations to which they belong? Must we
mention the armed clashes and ambushes in which people are murdered be-
cause of their ethnicity or membership of rival organizations? Is it necessary
to talk of taxi owners who hire (or organize) thugs to shoot up their rivals?
Must it be said once again that the carrying of so-called ‘traditional weapons’
is a recipe for murder? And must we all ask: How long must the people en-
dure the war-cries of Inkatha, of the Homeland’s bosses, or of the Natal
regional ANC, or of the shoot-by-night Apla warriors (PAC ‘army’)?

In the last three years, since the ban on organizations was lifted the extent
of movement building has been pathetic. This is not a new phenomena.
There was precious little attempt at building branches of the ANC or PAC
before the ban on these organizations in 1960. The movements at that time
depended on their ability to call out support for rallies, demonstrations or
stay at homes. Sometimes the rally-call worked, at other times there were
awful flops. We are now back at square-one, except that the ANC does com-
mand support from the main trade union federation. Consequently, the or-
ganised workers are used as the battering ram to advance ANC fortunes.
When VAT was imposed, even on basic foods, in 1991, the ANC called for a
mass stay-at-home. The trade union movement Cosatu obligingly called on
its members to stop work, and the ANC could shout victory. With a hollow
voice the Cosatu officials also yelled victory. They all raised their hands in
clenched salute, repeated the slogans of the day and . . . they all went back to
work again. It is true that a few of the items on which VAT was levied have
been taken off the list, but there is no doubt that the people are worse off now,
precisely because the severest price rises are on the staple products that
everybody must buy. Ultimately the episode turned out to be, as in so many
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other cases, only a means to strengthen the ANC at the negotiating table. Ex-
cept for such stunts (and if we want to be honest we must label them as
stunts), the trade union movement is kept on the back burner. The unions
are only to appear when Mandela (or Ramaphosa) calls them, they are to
take no formal part in the talks, they are not to mobilize their members, and
they are to remain passive during these months of talks. I will return to this
below.

Where Does the Struggle Lie?

All parties to the talks have naturally endeavoured to place their own
demands at the head of the agenda. The ANC called, at least originally, for a
one-person, one-vote assembly, in a unitary state, with some radical
economic changes. On the other hand Buthelezi’s demand has been for a
federal state, with Natal falling under his control. Mr de Klerk’s position has
been clear from the outset. He wants to secure at least partial control of
government in order to preserve as many of the privileges as possible for the
white population. But above all he is intent on maintaining the capitalist sys-
tem through the so-called ‘free market’. To make his point clear, de Klerk
called a whites-only referendum to secure a mandate for himself and the Na-
tional Party. Central to his appeal was the preservation of white privileges
and the retention of the capitalist system. Among those who urged the whites
to vote ‘Yes’ were the ANC leaders. Their white followers were among the
most enthusiastic persons who went to the polls. Mr de Klerk got the majority
vote he wanted.

This was the final abdication of the ANC/SACP on the economic front.
When the vote is extended to all and there are free elections, whatever the
result and whoever leads the government, the economic framework under
which the new government will operate will be that which is determined by de
Klerk’s cronies, in association with the World Bank and the International
Monetary Fund. That is, the country will be controlled by the same
mechanisms as determine the fate of all debt-ridden capitalist states.

The consequence of this for the majority of the population is disastrous.
There can be no radical changes in the country’s institutions, in the pattern of
land holding, in the facilities offered for health and education, or in housing.
Despite the plans that are being discussed for housing, education, health, or
in economic Forums, there will be little or no money to alter the framework of
the society. Only in some areas will blacks be able to enter the current white
schools or be tended in current white hospitals, provided that they can pay
for such services. This is a charter for the emerging black middle class and the
political cabal. In fact the ‘new South Africa’ will be run by the existing civil
service, controlled by the existing police force and army.

That is looking at an optimistic scenario. The police force and the army
will undoubtedly recruit former members of Umkhonto we Sizwe, Inkatha,
and other private ‘armies’. This will not make such bodies more friendly to
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those who seek more radical change, ot to the majority of the population
Their role, as elsewhere in Africa, will be to ensure the continuation of the ex-
isting regime, with more authority than the present armed forces.

What Went Wrong?

It is not possible to understand what is happening if it is not realized that
talks began only after the decisive defeat of the popular upheavels of 1984—
86. Although the National Party regime had to move out of Namibia and An-
gola, and needed to respond to pressures exerted by foreign powers, the
townships of South Africa had been subdued. Far from making these areas
‘ungovernable’, the urban regions were occupied by troops and the rural
areas were subdued. The delegates from government and opposition sat
down together, but Mr de Klerk and his supporters were more equal than the
leaders of the ANC/SACP. That was why, initially men like Beyers Naude
were brought in to the talks — apparently to add weight to the opposition
groupings.

At first there was bluster from the ANC leaders about their demands.
There would be ‘nationalisation’, there would be a unitary state, the schools
would be integrated, and so on. One by one these demands were whittled
away and the ANC sounded increasingly like the National Party. Then, to
break the deadlock, Joe Slovo, one-time Communist supremo, spoke of the
‘Sunset Scenario’. There would be power sharing for five years. The
ANC/SACP would participate in a government which had representatives of
the National Party and any other group that could win representation in the
new assembly. There were protests. Leading figures disagreed with this plan,
but after all the smoke had cleared away, almost everyone on the opposition
side accepted this arrangement. When the new talks started at the beginning
of April, 26 parties met together with only the tiny left wing groups standing
aloof.

Let the reader note. There were no elections to seat delegates at the talks.
There were no consultations. This was not to be a Constituent Assembly, but
a public forum at which ideas would be debated. Ultimately the Leaders
(with a capital L) would gather together to put their seal on the deliberations.
Only then would an assembly be called, apparently to rubber-stamp the
proceedings.

That is how the public has been allowed to see the arrangement. What is
seldom mentioned is the complete hold up on any changes that might be
meaningful for the vast majority of the people. For this it is necessary to read
the internal documents of the ANC and the SACP. Not the hand-outs for the
press, but those pieces of paper that lay down the policy of the ANC/SACP.
These are obviously concealed and generally unavailable. However when
such documents do emerge they reveal the reason for the static position.

In the document entitled ‘Local Government in South Africa’, the ANC
Department of Local and RegionalGovernment consider the lifting of apart-
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heid regulations as they concern people in the townships. There is no easy
solution tothe problems involved in housing and in improving the lot of the
the urban population. Most recent attempts at securing change have failed.
Therefore the body concludes that these negotiations must cease. ‘Local
apartheid was nationally imposed — it must be nationally removed’. The in-
struction is clear: local branches of the ANC are not to engage in talks with
local government on conditions in the townships. In issuing these instructions
the ANC removed the initiative from township residents, leaving matters in
abeyance while talks foundered at the national level. Besides the fact that
conditions in most townships have deteriorated over the years, this policy
either immobilized local branches or removed one of the bases for building a
strong local leadership.

This policy directive to local leaders can be understood at one level. The
negotiations (if they are real) must concentrate on national issues, and they
must take priority over local talks, The policy would be even more real if it
was decided that the townships are an abomination and must be eradicated.
However, these slum areas will not be removed overnight (particularly if
market forces are to operate), and there must be massive house building and
improvement of facilities. The one method of civic mobilization in which
local political activists could had participated, and which could have led to
some amelioration, would have been campaigning over rents, housing,
electrification, road building, schooling and so on. This was not undertaken.
It has even been vetoed by the top brass. This has left the urban population
without local objectives, except for the most obvious: the formation of gangs,
the trafficking in drugs, the meaningless violence that dominates these areas
of deprivation. :

The entire programme upon which the ANC/SACP has based itself has
been false and for this, the people are suffering. Enough is enough. The
people need new directions and it is time that the trade unions and com-
munity organisations began to represent the interests of their members inde-
pendently of the ANC or the SACP, and it is the duty of socialists to assist
them in this work.

There is a severe crisis of moral authority in South Africa that is not very
different from that in large parts of eastern Europe and many of the former
colonial territories. In these difficult and dangerous times, when the freedom
to discuss and act is in danger, it is essential that socialists find common
ground in providing a firm, courageous, just and vigorous leadership. If they
should fail they will open the door to the extreme right andtheir military al-
lies. There is little time left and silence or procrastination is unacceptable.

Note

L. This document , circulated under the general heading ‘Proposals for the Transition’, was
produduced by the ANC Department of Local and Regional Govemment in May 1992. To
the best of our knowledge this has remained ANC policy.



THE ANC PRISON CAMPS:
AN AUDIT OF THREE YEARS, 1990-1993.

Paul Trewhela

To the memory of
Ephraim Nkondo and Mlamli Namba

Vindication of Searchlight South Africa

SEARCHLIGHT SOUTH AFRICA has been vindicated by three recent
reports and one major press investigation into the system of prison camps run
by the African National Congress in exile.

Still more, the participants in the mutiny in the ANC army Umkhonto we
Sizwe (MK) in Angola in 1984 have been vindicated. There is clear recogni-
tion in all three reports that a major motive for the mutiny was the demand
for democracy in an army tyrannised by the ANC Security Department. Not
a shred of credibility remains for the slur that the mutiny was ‘instigated by
enemy agents’.

At the same time, there has been no investigation worth the name into
abuses in the camps run by the South West African People’s Organisation of
Namibia (Swapo) in southern Angola, or in camps run by the Pan Africanist
Congress (PAC) in Tanzania and elsewhere.

The three reports into abuses in the ANC appeared between October
1992 and January 1993. The most reliable and significant of these reports, by
Amnesty International (2 December 1992), drew more than half its material
from information previously published in Searchlight South Africa in issues 5
to 9. This information was subsequently confirmed by Amnesty, conducting
its own independent investigation through a full-time professxonal re-
searcher, Richard Carver, with whom SS4 was frequently in touch.”

The ANC was compelled at the highest level to acknowledge its imprison-
ment, torture and execution of members in exile as a means of suppressing
critical opinion. It was compelled also to acknowledge the role of Searchlight
South Africa in exposing these abuses. The Weekly Mail, the leading liberal
newspaper in South Africa, also acknowledged reliance on material publish-
edin §S4 more than two years previously, as a source for its own exposure of
torture and executions by the ANC.

After long delay, the work of this journal has become front-page reading
in South Africa. It has entered the archives and everyday political knowledge
and debale.

The reality of the ANC’s system of prison camps and the nature of its
Security Department, Imbokodo (‘the boulder that crushes’), has been es-
tablished without question. The ANC is no longer portrayed almost univer-
sally by the left and the liberals as a saintly Robin Hood riding to the rescue of
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humanity on a dashing (Hollywood) charger. Where previously there was
silence, or uncritical celebration of the perpetrators of abuses, there now is
routine reference in the South African and international press to the issue of
‘the camps’. It is a truth that can no longer be suppressed.

This work was carried out in conditions of extreme difficulty. The Amnes-
ty report was the culmination of two and a half years of exhausting campaign-
ing, in all but total isolation, mainly by two people. Amnesty had to be
threatened with exposure before it undertook to carry out this investigation.
Even then there was no certainty that its inquiry — which was taken out of the
hands its South Africa desk — would result in publication,

Whole-hearted, generous and unstinting collaboration was provided to
this magazine by a single British colleague, the former Westminster borough
councillor, Bill McElroy — an outstanding human being worth an army in
any campaign. Southern Africa owes this remarkable man a debt of
gratitude. He is known and loved by many former ANC and Swapo
detainees.

The State of the Left

The campaign provided a painful lesson in the lack of concern for human
rights among socialists and liberals, when relau.ng to nationalist and stalinist
politics in southern Africa. Only one left-wing socialist group in Britain, the
Workers Revolutionary Party (WRP), and its affiliated organisations interna-
tionally, actively and continuously drew attention to suppression of political
dissent by murder, torture and imprisonment by the ANC and by Swapo
(now the party of government), during the decades of exile.

The other trotskyist groups in Britain, the United States, South Africa and
elsewhere nearly all maintained a stony silence. So did the British Labour
and Liberal parties, which were informed at the highest level of what had
happened in the camps. This was done by Bill McElroy and myself, as co-
editor of Searchlight South Africa, working together in the umbrella organisa-
tion, Justice for Southern Africa. The few individuals who read our journal
and expressed support for our stand were exceptions to the rule. We wel-
comed them, but they were as isolated in this matter as was SSA4.

These groupings and individuals either justified the methods of stalinist
dictatorship when practised by the ANC and Swapo, or turned a blind eye.
This failure of moral judgement, in countries where press freedom and
freedom of association are well established, made the work of exposing
abuses extraordinarily difficult. Greater humanity was shown on this issue in
Britain by Baroness Chalker at the Foreign Office. It is sad, but true. The ex-
traordinarily comprehensive resistance to the fairly straightforward moral is-
sues posed in this campaign, especially in Britain, indicates a substantial
problem in modern society at the level of thought, of philosophy, of intellec-
tual culture and ideology. Hopefully, this can be explored in a future issue.
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In one instance, the biggest left-socialist group in Britain, the Socialist
Workers Party (SWP), knowingly preserved silence over the assassination in
South Africa in June 1990 of Sipho Phungulwa, a former ANC detainee, even
though a leading member of the SWP had met Phungulwa in Johannesburg
only three weeks previously. This member of the SWP passed information to
Searchlight South Africa, published in issue number 6 (January 1991), which
the SWP excluded from its own press.

At a meeting in the London School of Economics in February 1992, at a
discussion on South Africa convened jointly by SS4, the RCP and the journal
Critique, a leading officer of the Revolutionary Communist Party (RCP), sug-
gested from the platform that I ‘deserved a bullet’ after I had spoken to the
meeting about the ANC prison camps. Two thirds of the audience, members
and supporters of the RCF, cheered vociferously.

Another trotskyist group, based in the US, in its weekly newspaper
described the editors of Searchlight South Africa as ‘New World Order
socialists’ serving the interests of the Bush administration, because of our
criticism of the prison camps and the criminality of Mrs Winnie Mandela.

It was much the same within South Africa. When Baruch Hirson, co-
editor of SS4 raised the issue of the ANC security department and its prison
camps in his opening address to the Conference on Marxsm in South Africa
at the University of the Western Cape in September 1991, the audience froze.
No-one referred to the issue in general discussion. Other attempts to open
the discussion at the University of the Witwatersrand, never happened: there
was apparently no time in the busy academic year for a talk on the subject.

Frozen out in silence or vilified by the left, Searchlight South Africa was
simultaneously subject to arbitrary seizures by security officials in South
Africa, having been banned for commercial distribution in its first three is-
sues. We have no idea how many copies were confiscated or destroyed.

Individual copies nevertheless percolated through to university libraries
in South Africa and to individuals in the townships and suburbs. In particular,
the article on the 1984 mutiny in the ANC by Bandile Ketelo and four other
former ANC guerrillas in SS4 No 5 was widely c::culaled within the country
by Samizdat, mainly through extensive photocopymg, Each copy of this issue
entering the country was read by many readers, passing from hand to hand.
The article was later published as a pamphlet by Justice for Southern Africa
under the title Mutiny in the ANC, 1984. This pamphlet was produced jointly
with the WRP in Britain, which sold it through its bookshop in south London.

To many hundreds of people in South Africa, Searchlight South Africa
provided the first authoritative account of the mutiny and the fate of its vic-
lims, In several instances, SSA4 and Justice for Southern Africa, working
together, provided families with their first glimmer of hope for the fate of
relatives whom they had last seen, as youngsters, fourteen or more years pre-
viously. In several instances, we provided friends and relatives with the first
reliable account of a death.

Life in Arrears
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In the years immediately before and after the return of the exiles, this was the
only South African journal that gave impartial airing o the truth that
everybody in the camps knew by word of mouth, or as the brand of servitude
on their own backs. Despite a few (very few) inaccuracies, inevitable in the
conditions under which the journal is produced, our reporting was and
remains trusted by the exiles.

Several prisoners of the ANC in central and east Africa were released as
a result of the efforts of S§4 and Justice for Southern Africa. Slightly safer
conditions of life were secured for former detainees within African states,
and more especially in South Africa itself. Our achievements, however, only
throw into relief immense continuing unmet needs.

Two former ANC detainees with whom we were directly or indirectly in
touch were murdered almost immediately on their return ‘home.’ These
were Sipho Phungulwa (shot dead in Umtata in the Transkei in June 1990, ‘al-
legedly by named ANC officials’, as Amnesty states, p17) and Bongani
Ntshangase, ‘shot dead by unidentified assailants’, as Amnesty records, at
Msinga in Natal on 21 May 1992. More details can be found about the lives
and deaths of these two men in Searchlight South Africa Nos 5, 6,8 and 9, and
in the Amnesty report. The bulk of the former victims of the ANC security
department who have returned to South Africa live miserable lives. Some in
disappointment and desperation have turned to alcohol.

It has been a chilling experience. We have struggled in isolation to try to
save the lives of brave and democratic people in South Africa, for whom ex-
istence, as one said recently, in desperation, is merely ‘living in arrears’. In this
we have received no help of any substance from the left, or from liberals, or
from academics, in Britain, South Africa or internationally — rather,
obstruction.

It is an issue that involves a mark of shame on nearly all the socialists and
liberals, who uncritically championed the ANC and failed to take the
measure of their own convictions. To this general truth an exception must be
made in the case of those individuals who, against the current in South Africa,
together with the courageous publisher of this magazine in South Africa,
Kevin French, gave their support to our protests against the crimes com-
mitted by the ANC and by Swapo.

Former detainees now fear that a future ANC/National Party coalition
government, bringing together these two dominant undemocratic political
traditions, will be the most authoritarian in the country’s history. They stand
In a very dangerous exposed position as this new fusion government comes
mnto being, Its first task must be to damp down expectations among milions of
b‘lacks for an improvement in their inmediate conditions of life. Under these
circumstances, the former detainees’ critical understanding of the real nature
of the ANC and its corruption in exile may well prove intolerable.
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Their experience of the ANC was and is a learning resource concerning
South Africa’s future. By shutting their eyes to this, future oppositional in-
dividuals and groups — socialists, liberals, trade unionists, convinced Chris-
tians, civic-minded individuals and more independent-minded nationalists
— deprive themselves of an opportunity for arming themselves morally and
intellectually in advance.

In exile, the former detainees fought the battle for democracy under the
most difficult and dangerous conditions. They are precious educators of the
society about the need for defence of its civil rights, since they opposed both
the racist, capitalist abuses of the National Party and the stalinist abuses of
the ANC (directed in large part by its guiding brain, the South African Com-
munist Party). As such, they cannot be trusted by either of the future main
parties of government.

The problem is: who wants these democratic nuisances? They know too
much. That is why they are dangerous for the powers that be, as members of
the generation that went from the school students’ revolt of 1976 to the ANC
mutiny of 1984, and which humorously named the ANC’s worst prison after
the Fort prison in Johannesburg. (‘Number Four’ in Sowetan argot, trans-
lated into Portuguese, became ‘Quatro’ in Angola).

Despite the work of Searchlight South Africa, and despite the three recent
reports on ANC abuses, former detainees remain severely in danger because
of the world’s indifference. Vindication by three reports has not brought
former detainees, or this journal, any relief. Nor has it yet brought any new
courageous support in the form of fresh contributors, distributors or even
subscribers. Yet SSA continues to be the sole disinterested centre for liberal
and socialist international support for the former ANC and Swapo detainees,
despite our own pitiful human and material resources. This journal has on
principle refused to attempt to ‘use’ the detainees for any ideological, politi-
cal or organisational end.

Our dilemma will appear more clearly after a closer examination of the
three reports, and the public naming of individual ANC torturers and mur-
derers by the Weekly Mail in its issue of 21 October 1992.

Conflict within the NEC

The first report to appear was at once conclusive and yet very far from con-
clusive. In this report the ANC had no alternative except Lo condemn itself
out of its own mouth. In September 1991, Nelson Mandela as president of the
ANC responded to extensive pressure from returned exiles, from leading
members who had not been in exile and — no doubt — from certain foreign
governments, by naming a three person commission of inquiry into abuses
within the ANC in exile. This was in effect an inquiry by the ANC into itself.
It was reported in a footnote in Searchlight South Africa No 8, January 1992, in
which I'stated: “Political observers and victims of the ANC security apparatus
alike expect nothing to come of it’. (p 24)
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What could not be known at the time was that the decision to establish the
commission of inquiry, and then later on, the further decision to publish its
report, was the result of an intensive struggle within the National Executive
Committee of the ANC,

A very sharp conflict took place between NEC members who had run
Umkhonto we Sizwe and the security department in exile — who desperately
tried to prevent any inquiry (and, later, still more, publication of its findings)
_ and other NEC members who wanted the truth to be known. These were
mainly more civic-minded ANC activists who had led the campaign of the
United Democratic Front within the country during the 1980s. Exile leaders
who adamantly opposed an inquiry were Chris Hani (secretary-general of
the South African Communist Party, former deputy commander of
Umkhonto and the person most responsible for suppression of the mutiny in
Umkhonto), Joe Nhlanhla (head of the ANC’s Department of Intelligence
and Security from 1987, and thus head of security while Quatro prison was in
operation) and Jacob Zuma (a leading member of the SACP in exile, and
head of counter-intelligence in Umkhonto from 1987). The ANC president,
Nelson Mandela, gave his support to those in favour of holding the inquiry
and, later, of publishing its report; and this grouping prevailed.

Taking place behind closed doors, this struggle was of immense impor-
tance for the future of democracy and civic conditions generally in the whole
of southern Africa. At stake were two different styles of leadership within the
ANC, the one — of the ‘external’ leaders — deriving from three decades of
closed, autarkic, command society in the camps with its model derived from
the Soviet KGB and the east German Stasi; the other, of the ‘internal’ leaders,
from the more open and pluralistic culture developed in the trade unions and
civic associations within the country during the 1970s and 1980s.

A major concern of the ‘internal’ leaders was that in a future electoral
campaign, under a new constitution, the state security forces would use
secret information to discredit the ANC because of past human rights abuses
by ‘external’ leaders in the camps. There was no way ‘internal’ leaders could
know the background of their exile colleagues, in advance of the selection of
candidates, without an inquiry by the ANC itself. That decided the matter.

The commission appointed by Mandela was headed by a respected South
Alrican barrister, Advocate Thembile Louis Skweyiya, SC. Its official title
was The Commission of Enquiry into Complaints by Former African Nation-
al Congress Prisoners and Detainees, and was known as the ‘Skweyiya
Commission’.

Its report, conveyed to Mandela in August 1992, noted extensive concern
that the commission would carry out a ‘tame’ investigation. This was prin-
cipally because in this inquiry the ANC was investigating itself. In addition,
Skweyiya is a member of the ANC, and his brother, Zola Skweyiya, is a high-
ranking member of the ANC’s legal department. As Officer of Justice in the
ANC in exile, Zola Skweyiya had been frustrated in his brief to investigate the
prison camps. However well intentioned personally, he had been totally inef-
lective because the camps remained closed to him. A second member, Ms
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Bridget Mabandla, like Advocate Skweyiya, is a member of the ANC and a
member of its Constitutional Committee. The third initial member, Mr Char-
les Nupen, resigned and was replaced during 1991 by Advocate Gilbert Mar-
cus.

The Commission had no powers to subpoena witnesses, or to compel
them to answer questions. It was dependent on the willingness of witnesses to
come forward, which — given South African conditions — proved in the
Commission’s words its ‘greatest shortcoming’. Its hearings were not in
public.

Mr Marcus gave proof of personal impartiality in a discussion in Johan-
nesburg in October 1991 with the researcher appointed by Amnesty Interna-
tional, who attended some of the sessions of the Commission. The
Commission’s independence was however gravely threatened by the fact that
its secretariat was initially in the hands of a young lawyer, Mr Dali Mpofu,
later revealed in the press to be the lover of Mrs Winnie Mandela, then head
of the ANC’s Department of Social Welfare and a voracious threat to the
former detainees.

As the scandal concerning Mrs Mandela’s personal life rose to the boil,
Mr Mpofu left the commission. With him however also disappeared its
secretariat, seriously compromising it work. The ANC had undertaken that it
would appoint an ‘independent lawyer to conduct investigations, interview
witnesses, visit detention camps and iead the evidence before the commis-
sion and to do all things reasonably incidental to the foregoing’. Advocate
Elna Revelas of the Johannesburg Bar, who was not a member of the ANC,
was appointed to this investigatory post. A relatively extensive investigation
then followed — given the crucial limitation that this was an internal inquiry
by a commission appointed by a political party to look into its own abuses.

The reluctance of witnesses to come forward was not, in fact, the
Commission’s greatest weakness. Its central flaw lay in its terms of reference.
These had been set in a letter by Nelson Mandela to each of the three com-
missioners, referring them in effect to complaints only by /iving prisoners
about their own previous conditions of detention. By definition this excluded
what needed investigation at least as much: the murder and disappearances
of others, An absurd and arbitrary division was thus created for the Commis-
sion from the beginning, Its report was by its very nature partial, flawed and
massively inadequate. In the eyes of the commissioners, their brief from the
ANC placed the central event in the three decades of the exile — the mutiny
in the ANC in Angola by 90 per cent of its trained troops — out of purview. It
was as if Hamlet’s investigation into the troubles in his family were con-
strained to omit his father’s murder.

The consequences of this flawed brief were very serious. Of the three
reports, that of the Skweyiya Commission received by far the greatest atten-
tion in the South African press. ANC leaders such as Hani were not only ex-
onerated without proper inquiry but were able to hold up the report
afterwards as providing them with a clean bill of health. In this sense, it served
the classic function of an official fudge.
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An Abuse of Power

Nevertheless, the Commission concluded that within the ANC in exile for
the greater part of the 1980s, ‘there existed a situation of extraordinary abuse
of power and lack of accountability’. It confessed to ‘staggering’ brutality by
the ANC security department. (pp 65,39) The silence of the left and the
vilification of this journal is striking in the light of this admission. Nelson
Mandela accepted the Commissions’s conclusions — reluctantly, and
without grace — at a press conference on 19 October 1992. He stated that the
ANC leadership acknowledged ‘ultimate responsibility for not adequately
monitoring and, therefore, eradicating such abuses’. (Guardian Weekly, SA,
23 October 1992) This was an evasion. As will be seen, there is evidence that
the top leadership in exile, up to the level of Oliver Tambo as president, con-
doned and participated in the practice of abuses. A clear function of the
Skweyiya report was to deflect that impression.

The Commission’s treatment of written evidence was dilatory. As one of
the editors of SSA4, I posted the history of the mutiny in Umkhonto published
in §SA4 No 5 to Messrs Mashile-Ntlhoro, Attorneys, the Johannesburg firm
representing the Skweyiya Commission, on 19 May 1992. This was despite
reservations that the full truth could not be revealed in an internal ANC in-
quiry. Having worked for an independent international commission of in-
quiry since early 1990, I felt it necessary to make it as difficult as possible for
an internal inquiry to suppress information. I therefore tried to place this
document on record before the Commission, and in correspondence urged
former ANC detainees to place as much testimony as possible before it as
well. 1 later received a registered letter from Mr Brian Mashile of Mashile-
Ntlhoro, thanking me for providing the Commission with ‘valuable
information’. The letter added: ‘We will be corresponding with you in due
course and shall keep you posted of developments.” (Letter, 3 June 1992). No
such communication followed.

In the event, the Skweyiya report made no reference to the article on the
mutiny in 54 No 5. This was a significant and unjudicial lapse. The article in
S84 remains the single most important first-hand published account of
repressions within the ANC and of the mutiny, which took shape mainly in
response to these repressions, ,

The authors of the article had addressed a letter to Mr Mandela, then in
London, on 14 April 1990. This letter was later reprinted in SSA No 5, where
It Was available to the Commission. In this letter, Ketelo and his colleagues
f:alled' on Mandela to support their demand for a commission to inquire into
atrocities’ in the ANC camps. (p 68) It was their own first-hand revelations of
lortures and killings, published in the British press the previous week, that
tmpelled Mandela to make his first public repudiation of torture by the ANC,
at Jan Smuts airport on 14 April 1990,

For the Commission, or its attorneys, to neglect this article — written by
the individuals who first drew Mandela’s attention to the need for an inquiry
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— was beneath the level of judicial practice. Because of this lapse alone, the
investigation was neither ‘full’ nor ‘thorough,” as Mandela had requested.

The report states that it was ‘not within the scope of this Commission to
deal with the causes of the mutiny’. (p 55) In so far as repressions and
maltreatment were a very major cause of the mutiny, the limitation is absurd.
The report adds however that there were a

a number of published accounts on the mutiny including a chapter in

the recently published book by Stephen Ellis and Tsepo Sechaba en-

titled Comrades Against Apartheid. The authors record that included in
the demands of the mutineers was the suspension of the ANC security

apparatus and an investigation of Quatro. (pp 55-56)

This chapter in the book by Ellis and Sechaba (reviewed in SSA No 9) was
heavily based on the article by Ketelo and his colleagues. In this way, despite
the neglect of the ‘valuable information’ placed before the Commissi?n by
this journal, the work of Searchlight South Africa could not be avoided.

In the event only 17 detainees gave evidence to the Commission. One was
Pallo Jordan, a leading figure in the ANC’s negotiating team, who was held in
isolation for six weeks by the ANC security department in Zambia in 1983,
According to the report, he was arrested following criticism of the security
department for conducting itself ‘like a repressive police force’. (p 66)

The Commission was ‘eventually’ also furnished with a copy of the report
of the so-called Stuart Commission into the 1984 mutiny in Angola. The
Skweyiya Commission noted that the contents of this previous internal ANC
inquiry had ‘never been made public and, it seems, not formally tabled before
the ANC National Executive Committee’. (p 56) This bears out the account
published in SS4 No 6 of the sinister and farcical nature of the 1985 ANC na-
tional conference at Kabwe in Zambia in 19855 which, as stated in SSA4,
neglected to table the Stuart Commission report.

The Skweyiya Commission in fact vindicates the motives of the mutineers,
and exculpates them from the charge of having been ‘enemy agents’. Ellis and
Sechaba, it notes, state in their book that it was widely known that the Stuart
Commission ‘attributed blame for the mutiny on the excesses of the security
department, poor political education, poor recreational facilities and quality
of food and the yearning to go home and fight’. The Skweyiya Commission
then places its own stamp of verification on these remarks. ‘These are indeed
the findings of the Stuart Commission’, it states. (p 56)

The Skweyiya Commission did not publish the report of the Stuart Com-
mission, though it recommended publication. (So far, this appears not to
have been done). Revelations quoted from the Stuart report make it plain
that ANC leaders imprisoned, tortured and executed the mutineers in full
knowledge that they were innocent of the smear of being South African
government agents. The Skweyiya report states that the Stuart Commission
had ‘clearly identified’ the malaise of brutality in the ANC. (p 65) It quotes
the Stuart report as having stated that force had become ‘the rule rather than
the exception’ and that coercion was ‘indiscriminately used not only as a
punishment but even when carrying out interviews and debriefings’. (ibid)
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The then ANC president, Oliver Tambo, certainly knew this when he in-
spected the inmates at Quatro in 1987, as reported ?n 5S5A4 No 5 and con-
firmed by the Skweyiya Commission. (p 36) Yet neither he nor any other
leader relieved the prisoners of their misery, knowing well they were innocent
of the charge of being ‘enemy agents’. In his report as former president in
exile to the ANC national conference in Durban in July 1992, Tambo
repeated against the mutineers the brutal and now discredited assertion:
‘Enemy Agents!” (Sunday Star, Johannesburg, 21 July 1992) It was then, as it
had been in exile, an incitement to murder and brutality.

The Skweyiya Commission’s Conclusions
Contrary to Tambo, the report concludes:

(i) Those witnesses who were detained without trial should have the allegations
against them unequivocally and unconditionally withdrawn... These wit-
nesses deserve, in our view, a clear and unequivocal apology for the wrongs
that they have suffered.

(ii) All witneses who suffered maltreatment while being detained in ANC
camps should receive monetary compensation for their ordeal. . .

(iii) Some of the witnesses who appeared before us were, in our view, in need of
medical and psychological assistance. Such should be offered and provided
by the ANC.

(iv) Some of the witnesses expressed the desire to continue their education
which had been interrupted by long periods of detention. We recommend that
the ANC provide assistance in this regard.

(v) Detainees who lost property should be compensated for such loss.

(vi) 1t is apparent to the Commission that many people suffered in the ANC
camps. . . We suggest, therefore, that consideration be given to the creation of
an independent structure which is perceived to be impartial and which is
capable of documenting cases of abuse and giving effect to the type of recom-
mendations made in this report. . .

(vii) We are aware that allegations have been made conceming the disap-
pearance and murder of prisoners. . . (The) allegations are of the most
serious nature and demand investigation. We therefore suggest that the im-
partial and independent structure referred to in paragraph (vi) above, or some
other appropriate body be charged with the responsibility of investigating all

allegations of disappearance and murder.

(vitt) We strongly recommend that urgent and imniediate attention be given to
identifying and dealing with those responsible for the maltreatment of
detainees. . . It is clear that several persons against whom serious allegations
of brutality have been levelled are currently employed by the ANC in the
Secunty departrment. A list of such persons will be supplied to the President of
the ANC. It would be wrong, in ourview to limit the responsibility to such per-
sons. There are clearly persons in the senior ranks of the security department
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who were responsible for the situation in the camps and who should not es-
cape the net of accountability. We consider this recommendation to be of the
greatest importance, particularly in the light of the role that the ANC is likely
to play in a future Government. No person who is guilty of committing
atrocities should ever again be allowed to assume a position of power. Unless
the ANC is prepared to take decisive action, the risk of repetition will forever
be present. The best formula for prevention is to ensure that the perpetrators
of brutality are brought fo account and are seen to be brought to account.

(ix) [The Commission here recommends that secret ANC intemal reports into
the death of Thami Zulu in Zambia in 1989, cmd of the Stuart Commission
into the 1984 mutiny in MK, be made pubkc]

(x) [The Commission finally recommends that in keeping with its terms of ref-
erence, its report be released to the public ‘as soon as possible’. In the event,
this was to take two months, while ANC leaders debated how to handle these
damning conclusions.] (pp 68-74)

The principal blame for the conduct of the ANC security department was
placed by the Commission on a single individual, Mzwai Piliso, head of the
ANC’s Department of Intelligence and Security until 1987. Piliso admitted
personal participation in tortures. His task, in his own words, was to extract
information ‘at any cost’. The report states that Piliso was ‘relieved of his
duties’ in 1987, and that the views and attitude of his successor at the head of
a provisional directorate of security, Joe Nhlanhla, ‘contrasted sharply’ with
those of Piliso. No evidence is provided for this assertion.

Sizakhele Sigxashe, head of the military tribunal which ordered public ex-
ecution of mutineers at Pango camp in 1984, is cited as a member of the ‘new
department’ which, according to the report, was ‘charged with remedying the
past’. (p 63) There is no reference in the report to Sigxashe’s prominent role
in ordering executions, which is clearly stated in the article by Ketelo and his
colleagues. (5S4 No 5. p 52) Nor therefore is there any explanation how a
person responsible for ordering executions could be ‘charged with remedy-
ing the past’. At this point the Skweyiya Commission report becomes
whitewash. The failure of the Commission to place on record the ‘valuable
information’ provided by SS4 no 5 reveals itself here as prejudicial.

The Curious History of Chris Hani

In the same way, the Commission was able to exonerate Chris Hani, the then
Umkhonto commissar. Hani was permitted to express his ‘feelings of
revulsion’ at oppressive practices in the ANC without becoming subject to
normal cross-examination. (p 60) This is particularly important because of
Hanr’s current status as secretary-general of the SACP and his former posi-
tion as Umkhonto chief of staff, with a major following among its com-
manders. There are several explicit references to oppressive conduct by



THE ANC PRISON CAMPS: AN AUDIT OF THREE YEARS, 1990-93 19

Hani in Ketelo’s article. These too were ignored by the Commission, which
reported that Hani .
told us of his increasing concern for what he described as ‘the horrors
of Quatro’ [in bold type in the report] and how he and others had in-
sisted on the adoption of the Code of Conduct of 1985. [This Code was
a dead letter — PT] He described some of the members of the security
department as ‘really vicious’, a description which was amply borne out
by the evidence. He felt that the ANC as an organization built upon
respect for human rights had an obligation to acknowledge and redress
the wrongs of the past and to prevent them from happening in the fu-
ture. (pp 60-61)
The article by Ketelo and his colleagues includes the following references
to Hani.

1. In the second stage of the mutiny, during the democratic and peaceful drawing
up of grievances at Viana camp outside Luanda in February 1984, Hani ‘with
an AK submachine gun, made his appearance on the side of the loyalists
chasing and firing at those who wanted to join the mutineers’. (p 44)

2 Standing beside two members of the Liberation Committee of the Organisa-
tion for African Unity, Hani made a speech to the troops at Viana in which he
denounced the mutiny and its demands as ‘an adventure instigated by dis-
gruntled elements’. (p 47)

3. Hani and the Umkhonto commander Joe Modise ‘accompanied a group of
security personnel to round up those who had escaped arrest at Viana'. When
a captured mutineer tried to explode a grenade in the military vehicle in which
Hani and Modise were escorting their prisoner, ‘Hani issued instructions to
the security personnel to shoot [the prisoner] on the spot, but Modise inter-
vened saying "he [the prisoner] must go and suffer first". (p 48) The prisoner,
Vuyisile Maseko (real name Xolile Siphunzi) was last known by the authors
of the article to have been left in Luanda State Prison when the mutineers
were released in December 1988.

4. Mwezi Twala (travelling name Khotso Morena), a member of the Committee
of Ten which was elected to lead the mutiny, was ‘shot from behind in the
presence of Joe Modise and Chris Hani during their round-up of other
mutineers’. (p 50) Twala survived.

5. Following the decision by the military tnbunal headed by Sigxashe to execute
Seven of the mutineers at Pango camp in the third and final stage of the
mutiny, Hani ‘endorsed their execution’, which he appears to have witnessed
himself. (p 53) Another member of the tribunal was Morris Seabelo, ‘a
[ ormer commander and commissar at Quatro and at that time chief of
secunty in the whole of the Angola region of MK’ (p 52) Seabelo (real name
:".ufamf!e Dantile) has been described by participants in the mutiny as Hani’s

closest liewtenant’. Prisoners at Quatro were told by guards that Hani was in
fgct @ member of the tribunal himself, and that he was present at the execi-
lions. (personal communication) Similar allegations were made to the



20 SEARCHLIGHT SOUTH AFRICA, VOL 3, NO 2, APRIL 1993

Douglas Commission, discussed below. Hani denies this. SSA has not been
able independently either to verify or disprove these allegations. They are
matters that the Commission did not investigate.

6. Finally, together with Stanley Mabizela, a fellow member of the ANC Nation-
al Executive Committee (NEC), Hani personally suppressed all elected
structures at Dakawa camp in Tanzania in late December 1989, in order to
depose former mutineers who had been freely elected by ANC exiles. These
included the chairman and organising secretary of the elected committee rep-
resenting all the exiles in Tanzania.

An Admission

Hani and other top ANC leaders were spared by the Skweyiya Commission’s
terms of reference and by its decision to place responsibility for investigating
details of torture, murders and disappearances, and for naming names, on
yet another commission.

Prior to the Skweyiya report, the most serious investigation into abuses in
the camps published in South Africa was an article by Hein Marais in the
journal Work in Progress, in its issue of June 1992. Marais gives an impartial
assessment both of the book by Ellis and Sechaba and of the article in
Searchlight South Africa No 5, which he acknowledges by name at several
points. An editorial explains the editors’ decision to ‘look closely at the dark
chapter, both in the interests of the ANC itself, and in the interests of
democracy in the long-term’, It urges ANC leaders to ‘come clean’, arguing
that the organisation could not afford to have its image tarnished at election
time by the National Party, which would exploit every weakness. Appearing
in the closing months of the secret sessions of the Skweyiya Commission, this
issue of WIP bears the marks of a strenuous efforts by ‘internal’ leaders of the
ANC and the SACP to force the Commission to publish, Marais nevertheless
does address the central moral issues.

Next to a photograph of Hani, the journal cover ran the headline: ANC
Camps: Hani opens up’. There is very little opening up by Hani. Forgetting
his own role in damning the first ANC detainees to return to South Africa as
‘enemy agents’ (on South African television, in mid-1990), Hani presents
himself as the person most responsible for ending executions in 1984, which
he says he had always opposed. He declares that while certain ANC mem-
bers should not be part of a new security force in South Africa, and that a par-
liamentary committee should oversee the security apparatus, abuses in the
ANC had happened only ‘to a very small extent’. The more the evidence is
studied, the more it appears that Hani has adapted himself chameleon-like to
every terrain,

Within days of its publication of the Skweyiya report , the Weekly Mail
summed up its inadequacy in a major front-page article. It headed its ex-
posure: “The names the ANC tried to hide’. (21 October 1992) The article by
Ketelo and others in §54, the major suppressed document of the Commis-
sion, formed a principal basis to theWM’s investigation. In the preceding
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week, a journalist on its staff phloncd_Ketelo in Britain to que_s[ion lum in
detail about the article. He was intensively questioned about his relation to
this journal. (It must be stated emphatically that Ketelo has no relation to
Searchlight South Africa beyond having been the principal author of the ar-
ticle in issue No 5).

An interview with Ketelo then appeared as part of the three-page inves-
tigation by the WM. About half the names and details of torturers cited by the
WM confirmed information published over two years earlier in S54 and
posted to the paper at the time. It was not until after the ANC published the
Skweyiya report that the Weekly Mail moved to publish its own investigation,
confirming and supplementing Ketelo’s article in detail. Even then, despite
citing Ketelo, it carried no reference to Searchlight South Africa. There was
nothing in the WM referring readers to Ketelo’s article, despite its central
place in the literature on ANC abuses. In its own fashion, and for its own
reasons, the WM thus continued the strange relegation of this journal to the
land of the living dead.

In almost comical fashion, the WM was then forced to acknowledge the
existence of this journal the following week. This was at the instance of the
ANC itself. As the WM reported, its revelations ‘sparked outrage’ from the
ANC. For the first time, the ANC now publicly acknowledged the work of
Searchlight South Africa in exposing its abuses. Its spokesperson, Carl
Niehaus, stated:

The names, some of which are completely unknown to us, are clearly

drawn from a magazine article published in Searchlight South Africa

Vol 2 No 1 1990, and is [sic] therefore available for all people to read.

We find it regrettable that a newspaper such as The Weekly Mail with its

own outstanding record of exposing abuse and corruption should not

have seen fit to pay attention to accuracy and detail.

Among other things it states that Maurice Seabelo died mysteriously in

Lesotho. Now again the WM lifts this terminology from the magazine

article, whereas even a superficial investigation or an inquiry to the

ANC would have revealed what is a matter of public record. Maurice

Seabelo was among those killed in SADF raids on Maseru in December

1985. (WM, 30 October 1992)

Seabelo was the first commander at Quatro, which was known formally
both as ‘Camp 32’ and after his death as the ‘Morris Seabelo Rehabilitation
Centre’. Substantial detail is provided in SS4 No 5 about Seabelo, who at the
tume of the mutiny was chief of security of the whole of the Angola region of
Umkhonto. As Hani’s closest lieutenant, Seabelo sat on the tribunal which
ordered death by firing squad for the seven mutineers at Pango. He later
boasted to prisoners in Quatro that he had personally taken part in the execu-
tions, blasting his victims with an RPG7 anti-tank bazooka rocket. Survivors

were compelled to witness the mutilation of their comrades. (personal com-
munication)
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Without citing its source, the WM article of 23 October had repeated a
phrase by Ketelo and his co-authors in §54 No 5, concerning Seabelo’s
death. They had stated that in late 1985 Seabelo had ‘mysteriously lost his life
in an underground ANC residence in Lesotho, where none of those he was
with, including Nomkhosi Mini, were spared to relate the story’. (p 54)
Ketelo did not state that this mass killing took place in an SADF raid, but it
could easily be inferred. It was indicative of the ANC that it chose to make an
issue over such a phrase.

In reply, the WM stated that as well as drawing on S84 its report had been
based ‘on a variety of sources, and no names were included unless they were
corroborated by more than one source’. It argued cogently that where people
in authority had knowledge of torture being carried out by individuals direct-
ly under their command, this amounted to complicity. It asked:

If the minister of law and order, the commissioner of police or a senior

officer under his command, knew that certain detainees were being

tortured in security police detention and chose not to intervene, do we
not accuse them of the same crime?

A Type of Ambiguity

The WM suggests a much broader scope for inquiry concerning Hani's ac-
tivities than provided by the Skweyiya Commission. Hani’s role, it stated, was
‘ambiguous.’ It notes that
according to several affidavits and accounts by former detainees he en-
dorsed the decision by the Military Tribunal for the execution of seven
of the rebels (which he denies) and was present at the subsequent ex-
ecution of four others. They also say that he was present when Mwezi
Twala was shot in the back in Angola in 1984.

Former ANC detainees also say that at times he suppressed their right
to speak and hold office (after their release) and did not keep the
promises he had previously made to them. They say he also did little to
help them while they were in detention in Quatro.

Investigation of the role of ANC leaders in executions appears to be part
of the remit of a new commission named by the ANC a month after publica-
tion of the Skweyiya report. It includes Mr Sam Motsuenyane (an elderly
South African businessman), Mr David Zamchiya (a former Zimbabwean
government official) and Ms Margaret Burnham of the United States.
(Weekly Mail, 27 November 1992)

$5A has no additional information about the working of this new commis-
sion. It suffers the same defect as the Skweyiya Commission: whatever the
merits of its members, it represents an organisation investigating its own
malpractice. The evasivesness of the Skweyiya Commission in relation to
Hani does not inspire confidence in the will or ability of the new commission
to name names comprehensively, to specify crimes committed and to recom-
mend firm measures for exclusion of the perpetrators from office.
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As the WM pointed out, sev;ral high-ranking torturers and killers con-
tinue to work in the ANC security department operating out of party head-
uarters in Shell House, J ohannesburg. These mcludt.a Nelson Mandela’s
al bodyguard, MB Mavuso (Umkhonto travelling name ‘Jomo’), a
person; e : .
former guard at Quatro who is ‘widely alleged to have been directly involved
in torture’. (ibid) ) .

Another torturer currently working in ANC headquarters, travelling
name Sizwe Mkhonto — a former student at the Moscow Party Institution,
trained in intelligence in East Germany and the USSR — was camp com-
mander at Quatro for several years, starting while still in his teens. This
brutalised youth called the principal leader of the mutiny, Ephraim Nkondo,
from his cell in Quatro on Saturday 26 May 1984. This was shortly after the
crushing of the mutiny in Pango camp. Nkondo was seen the same day being
pulled through the camp with a rope around his neck. (personal communica-
tion) The next day he was found dead in his cell, with a rope around his neck.
Without strict accounting for the torture and murder of individuals such as
Nkondo, the ANC continues to carry the mark of Cain. It remains to be seen
whether the new commission headed by Mr Motsuenyane — a direcor of ICI
(South Africa), president of the Boy Scouts in South Africa and founder and
chairman of the National African Chamber of Commerce (Nafcoc) — can
honestly confront this past.

As its title indicates, the report by Amnesty International, the second to
appear, is far more adequate to the subject. Entitled: ‘South Africa: Torture,
ill-treatment and executions in African National Congress camps’, this was
the most balanced of the three reports. It notes that officials of politically im-
partial human rights bodies in South Africa had informed Amnesty that they
would have been ‘willing to establish a genuinely independent commission of
inquiry had they been approached by the ANC’. (p 21) The ANC did not ap-
proach them,

Amnesty is very forthright that the ANC’s torturers and killers should
never be

allowed to hold positions of authority within the organization or under

any future South African administration. In particular, they should

never be in a position where they have responsibility for law enforce-

ment or custody of prisoners. (p 26)

Such a cleansing of the stables has yet to begin.

Amnesty is lucid in pointing out weaknesses in the terms of reference and
operation of the Skweyiya Commission, particularly its failure to ‘analyze the
chains of command within the security department and MK, and between
these bodies and the ANC leadership, in order to establish political respon-
sility for what went on in the camps’. (p 23) This is the most sensitive issue for
E;LE? leaders in exile, and therefore least accessible to an internal closed in-

iry.

- The Amnesty report indicates that the ANC’s system of providing nearly
its black members in exile with travelling names, or noms de guerre, con-
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tinues to screen the identities of both victims and their persecutors. This is
shown by continued effective anonymity of torturers such as Sizwe Mkhonto
and of the seven men executed at Pango. (They are not anonymous of course
to South African state security officials, or to Imbokodo, only to the general
public).

The names of the seven people executed at Pango are taken by Amnesty
from Ketelo’s article. But these are travelling names, fictions, and therefore
serve to obscure of the fate of these people to their relatives. The best known
of these men, referred to in Searchlight South Africa and in the Amnesty
report by the travelling name James Nkabinde, was Mlamli Namba. (per-
sonal communication) Along with several other members of Imbokodo,
Namba resigned from the security department in 1980 in protest at its
authoritarian behaviour and because of corruption at ANC headquarters in
Lusaka. As stated in Ketelo’s histqry of the mutiny, he had been a personal
bodyguard to Tambo in Lusaka.’ Namba’s fate is therefore a personal
reproach against Tambo.

The Responsibility of Oliver Tambo

The third of the three reports summarises the results of an inquiry by a Dur-
ban advocate, Robert Douglas SC, commissioned by an explicitly pro-
capitalist urganisagion based in Washington DC, the International Freedom
Foundation (IFF).” Its most important section consists of extracts from about
60 sworn depositions made in the second half of 1992, mostly from survivors
of the camps. These depositions need to be carefully checked and assessed in
their original form, since witnesses were not cross examined and their state-
ments may well contain some individual errors as well as unfounded asser-
tions. In time, however, and in the course of thorough historical research,
they will provide a major source of information for a fuller historical picture
of the ANC in exile. Outside the archives of state security and the ANC itself,
they represent the biggest body of first-hand statements yet collected about
the life of the ANC in exile. Judging from extracts from witnesses whose ex-
periences were previously recorded in this journal, the material presented as
evidence by Douglas does appear to reflect the actual statements of survivors
of the camps and generally does not appear to have been falsified. Survivors
of the mutiny and victims of the security department think highly of the
evidence, though not necessarily of Douglas’ method of drawing conclusions.
(personal communication)

The report is particularly damaging to the reputation of Tambo. Witness
25 (they are not named) is described as having joined the ANC inside South
Alrica in 1978, eventually becoming a senior member of the intelligence wing
after leaving the country. He states:

I am fully familiar with the command structure of both the security and

intelligence wings in the ANC during those years. Al the head of both

was Oliver Tambo, the President of the ANC. The security wing was
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commanded by Mzwai Piliso [condemned by the Skweyiya Commis-

sion for his forthright advocacy of torture] and the intelligence wing by

Sezekele Sigxashe [head of the tribunal that ordered the execution of

the mutineers at Pango]. (p 45)

A former medical officer in the camps, interviewed by Douglas, is also
cited as saying that after the influx in 1976, ‘Presuden.t Ta;pbo appointed him
to a senior position in the security department to assist with the screening of
new recruits’. This witness is then quoted as saying that:

The security system was directly under the President. We reported to

the President directly and his secretary Duma Nokwe was the one we

first reported to. (pp 58-59)

Tambo has a powerful case to answer. As president he was no remote,
purely formal figure in the ANC — that is, principally a figurehead or symbol,
like a modern constitutional monarch. He was more in the manner of the
president of the United States, head of the executive: and in this case, at the
time of the mutiny, an unaccountable and largely unelected executive, un-
restrained by checks and balances. As ANC president he was commander in
chief of MK and one of the three senior office-holders in the ANC. (The
other two were Alfred Nzo, secretary-general after Nokwe, and Tom Nkobi,
as treasurer). Directly under his authority came three sub-departments: 1)
army; 2) security and intelligence; 3) information and publicity. As president,
he thus had more information than anyone else in the whole organisation.

Tambo presided over a crucial session of the High Command of MK,
meeting in Luanda, either in the last week of January or early February 1984.
This meeting took place immediately after the first stage of the mutiny at
Kangandala on the eastern front in Malanje province — when troops refused
1o go into action against the Angolan rebel movement Unita — and immedi-
ately before the second stage of mutiny at Viana camp on the outskirts of
Luanda in February, when a Committee of Ten was elected and demands
were drawn up.

Present at this session of the High Command besides Tambo were Nzo;
Nkobi; MK commander Joe Modise; MK chief of staff (and SACP secretary
general) Joe Slovo; SACP leaders Reg September, Mac Maharaj and Cas-
sius Make; Julius Mokoena, MK chief of personnel; David Moshoeu,
regional commander; and a number of ranking military and security officers.
(Hani was not present). The meeting discussed the grievances already being
expressed by the troops, Tambo taking a leading part.

The top political leaders of the ANC, the SACP, and the top military
leaders of MK, most notably Tambo and Slovo, were therefore well apprised
of the discontent among the overwhelming majority of the ANC’s trained
troops. They knew the feeling of the troops, then gathering in Viana, before
lhe_nutbreak of full-scale mutiny, and took no adequate measures to meet
their demands. As Ketelo and his colleagues recorded, these were:
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1. An immediate suspension of the Security Department and establishment of a
commission to investigate its all-round activities. Included here are alsothe
investigation of one of the most feared secret camps of the ANC, Quatro.

2. A review of the cadre policy of the ANC to establish the missing links that were
a cause for a stagnation that had caught up with our drive to expand the
anmed struggle. [ This was in essence a demand to be withdrawn from the civil
war in Angola, and to be sent to fight in South Africa against the forces of the
state.— PT]

3. To convene a fully representative democratic conference to review the
development of the struggle, draw new strategies and have elections for a new
NEC. (S84, No 5, p 45)

It is most probable that the High Command, acting as a body, and headed
by Tambo, directed the suppression of the purely peaceful gathering of the
mutineers at Viana, where these demands were formulated in a series of
open, public mass meetings. The ANC suppressed this phase of the mutiny
principally by summoning the Presidential Brigade of FAPLA, the army of
the ruling MPLA party, to storm the camp. In all likelihood this followed a
personal appeal by Tambo to the Angolan president. Close questioning of all
those present at this meeting of the High Command, by commission of in-
quiry, meeting in open session, is needed to determine precise reponsibility
for the tortures, imprisonment and deaths that followed.

The Executions at Pango

In his report, Advocate Douglas suggests further dimensions of responsibility
on the part of the ANC leadership. He quotes a very important passage from
the mterview with Hani in Work in Progress (June 1992) concerning suppres-
sion of the mutiny in its third and final stage, at Pango camp in May 1984.
Hani states:

The loyalists (if I may use that term) overran the camps. Lives were lost

on both sides. Very sad, because these were all members of the ANC,

fellow South Africans. And that was the end of my role. I was never a

member of the tribunal which tried them. A tribunal was set up by the

ANC to try them, and some of them were sentenced (o death. And ex-

ccuted — it was a big number, about eighteen or nincteen, I can’t

remember. [ rushed back to to Lusaka and said to the leadership: Stop

the executions. (pp 54-55)

This is the first high-level acknowledgement that the number of people ex-
ecuted at Pango was much higher than indicated in the article by Ketelo and
his colleagues. Their account was clearly restrained.

Secondly, Hani makes plain in this statement that authority for stopping
the executions lay with the top political leadership of the ANC at the
organisation’s headquarters in Lusaka. This suggests primarily Oliver Tambo
himself. Hani’s statement is the most important public comment on the
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. leading figure in the ANC in exile. It is puzzling, however,
;ﬁr‘uﬁ: ﬁﬂ?&mﬁsﬁmﬁm and as _thc sole mempber of 3‘1& NEC in
the region, Hani was himself already the senior leader of the ANC at Pango.
It was left to a relatively farl less mﬂuen_Ua.l figure in the NEC, Mrs Gcrlrud_c
Shope, to relieve the suffering of the prisoners, as reportccli} by Ketelo and his
colleagues in SS4 No 5. (p53) As Dou!glas observes, Hani’s statement raises
more questions than it answers. Nothing except questioning, in open com-
mission, of all relevant ANC officials can satisfy the need for justice in this
matter. No ANC leader of the exile can be trusted with authority until full
knowledge of this individual’s conduct is made available to the public.

The principal flaw in the Douglas Commission report relates to instances
of over-straining of [hc_pt:?ﬂ;d evidence, ;E stsllpport cijo;clus_im; c;aﬂn-

mning leading figures in onto: principally Slovo and Ronnie Kasrils,
gzth lcadcrsd;?ﬁlc%;c}’.g In the opinion of this writer, the existing evidence,
including evidence accumulated by Douglas, provides very strong supposi-
tion that both men had extensive knowledge of the system of human rights
abuses in the camps, and perhaps actively participated in authorising it. But
the evidence which is publicly available at present is not yet conclusive. It can-
not be concluded on the available evidence that they had direct, personal,
first-hand responsibility.

Slovo is cited in one deposition as having visited Quatro at night. (p 43)
Prisoners from the mutiny in Quatro were indeed told this at the time by
guards. An Umkhonto soldier, Zondi, whose jaw had been broken at Pango,
told fellow prisoners in Luanda State Security Prison that he had been sent to
military hospital in Luanda on Slovo’s orders, following a visit to Quatro.
Zondi later suffered severely at Quatro, where guards repeatedly hit his still
broken jaw, and where he developed epilepsy. (personal communication)

_ Kasrils is cited as being responsible for visiting a prison camp at Nampula
in Mozambique in 1982 and for incarcerating fourteen Umkhonto soldiers in
a basement at Quibaxe in northen Angola, following their refusal to obey or-
ders in 1977. (pp 7,43, 60) The prison at Nampula was deep in the bush, sur-
rounded by wild animals and in an area heavily affected by malaria. The
majority of prisoners were MK veterans of the war in Zimbabwe, where they
had fought in the military wing of the Zimbabwe African People’s Union
(Zapu). When they refused to be transferred to fight in the civil war in An-
gola, demanding to be sent to fight in South Africa itself, they were confined
to Nampula, where some went mad. Kasrils did not deny knowledge of this
;:amp in a press conference in Johannesburg in January 1993, At this con-
dcre_nce, he and two former participants in the 1977 ‘mutiny’ at Quibaxe
enied that the men imprisoned in the basement had been affected by
noxious fumes. (Weekly Mail, 29 January 1993) Slovo and Kasrils bear
responsibility as senior officers of Umkhonto. The precise limits and extent

of their responsibility for abuses remain unclear.
maEOUglaf. unfortunately made no h_eadway in tracking down the drugs
1a within Imbokodo, a line of inquiry that may well hold the key Lo the
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murder of several ANC personnel in Zambia in 1989, including the high-
ranking Umkhonto commander Thami Zulu who died under ANC guard in
Lusaka in November 1989.19 Until the criminal network within Umkhonto
we Sizwe, and especially in the security department, is uncovered, the precise
extent of infiltration by South African Military Intelligence must remain un-
known.

Whatever the flaws in the report, these are insignificant by comparison
with the additional information it makes available to South Africans about
the organisation which now prepares to govern them. The report is full of
suggestive leads, which need to be followed up by careful, investigative, his-
torical research. This cannot be done in detail here.

The editors of this journal were invited by letter to assist the investigation
by Mr Douglas. We did not respond, as there was no way of knowing what
kind of hidden agenda lay in his commission by the IFF, Paradoxically, the
report by Douglas was the only one to quote directly from the article by
Ketelo and others in $54, and to cite this magazine by name as its source.
There is a long, extended extract from this article in the report — a description
of the mutiny, which Douglas describes as a ‘vivid and detailed account.’ (pp
20-23) It is the longest quoted passage in the report.

Some former detainees whom we know of provided depositions to
Douglas, others declined. There can be no imputation of ‘selling out’ against
those who gave evidence to Douglas. They were completely within their
rights. So too of course was Stephen Ellis, who gave the benefit of his
knowledge to Mr Douglas in Leiden.

That said, it must be stated that it seems extremely likely that the IFF in
South Africa stands close to Inkatha and Chief Mangosuthu Buthelezi, and
therefore also to the wrecking strategy directed against the ANC and the
SACP by South African Military Intelligence. This is no reflection on the
standing of Mr Douglas as a barrister or on the quality of his evidence, but it
does indicate the serious weakness of liberal and human rights organisations
in South Africa, which all too frequently have compromised their principles
through uncritical support for the ANC. There is urgent need for these in-
dividuals and/organisations to reassess their mode of thinking and activity.

For many ANC detainees there is nowhere to turn for support, except to
an organisation tainted by its relation to the far right. Criticism must be
directed, not to these detainees (many of whom are in despair), but to people
and organisations in South Africa and abroad who abandoned them. In the
a‘bsencc of liberals and socialists who are prepared to conduct these inves-
tigations, this is left to the IFF and individuals such as Advocate Douglas.

There is a major need for a campaign to compel the ANC to implement
the recommendations of the Skweyiya Commission calling for disclosure of
the names of the guilty and for real, practical monetary restitution to the
detainees. The majority of the former detainees are in desperate poverty. It is
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th African and international disgrace, a pall on the conscience of
anyone concerned with civil rights in the region. Likewise, this journal sup-
ports the demand of former detainees (and of Advocate Douglas) for the
commission headed by Mr Justice Richard Goldstone — investigating mur-
ders and abuses by the security forces of the state — to extend its inquiries to
human rights abuses by the ANC and SACP in exile.

The matter becomes all the more urgent, since merger between the old
South African state security forces and members of the ANC security
department is on the order of the day. Nhlanhla, the head of the ANC’s
Department of Intelligence and Security — and one of the leading op-
ponents of the Skweyiya inquiry — is reported to be in line ‘for a top job’ in
the new combined force. (Weekly Mail, 29 January 1993)

a Sou

Maladministration of Justice

Like Amnesty, this journal deplores the government’s Further Indemnity
Act, which was passed shortly after publication of the ANC commission’s
report. The effect of this act is to provide state protection for its own torturers
and murderers and those of the ANC alike. We endorse the call of the
Douglas Commission for those responsible for human rights abuses in the
ANC camps to be prosecuted — but as part of comprehensive prosecution of
the infinitely greater number of murderers and torturers paid by the South
Alfrican state. There can be no justice in South Africa without this. Yet it is all
but impossible that it will happen.

The former detainees have real cause to fear for their future. This can be
seen in the Transkei. As the Amnesty report reveals, two and a half years after
the political assassination of the former detainee Sipho Phungulwa in the
Transkei, nobody has yet been brought to trial. This is despite the presence of
witnesses and ballistic evidence, and the fact that two men were belatedly ar-
rested, charged and released on bail.

Amnesty cites a report in the South African newspaper City Press in late
1992 to the effect that the office of the Transkei Commissioner of Police had
circulated a directive signed by the deputy chief of the Criminal Investigation
Department, ordering police not to arrest ANC members on criminal char-
ges without first consulting an Umkhonto liaison officer. (p 18) The Transkei
police have denied the report. It seems all too likely to be true.

To former detainees from the camps, it is a foretaste of South Africa to
come, Thf;rc is urgent need for connections to be made between former
gclmnecs_m South Africa and Namibia, and human rights organisations in

}:lulh_Afnca and the world. Without full and public justice for the victims of
the prison camps run by the ANC and Swapo, there is no future for civil rights
n the region. Future abuses can not be combatted by people who endorse (or

;m: silent about) past abuses. An issue of this kind can not be buried in a shal-
ow gr;_“.lc
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WITH THE PAC IN EXILE
Vusi Shange

It is not possible to round out the story of resistance in South Africa without including
a chapter (at least) on the Pan Africanist COI‘Ig'rCSS (PAC). Searchlight South Africa
has carried several articles in which there is reference to this movement but they are
fragmentary and reflect our inability to get first hand documentary accounts.
Formed in 1958, in opposition to the ANC, both on ideological grounds and as protest
against the anti-democratic practices of the ANC, the PAC called an anti-pass cam-
ion in 1960. Poorly organized and without adequate preparation, the campaign was a
miserable failure. However, the shooting by the police at Sharpeville (in the southern
Transvaal) and Langa (near Cape Town) created a nation-wide storm. A pass burning
campaign led by Albert Lithuli, president of the ANC, and a national stay-at-home led
to the banning of the ANC and the PAC. After violent skirmishes involving the PAC's
military wing, ‘Poqo’, in 196263, the organisation all but disappeared. It experienced a
termporary revival after the brutal crushing of the 1976 students’ revolt, but this was
quickly dissipated. - —— .
While many PAC leaders went to jail in 1960 some went into exile where, in 1962, they
tried to build a resistance army. The PAC leadership was tomn apart by personal rival-
ries, complaints that there was no democracy in the exile movement and by accusations
of theft. Some of this is told in Tom Lodge, Black Politics in South Africa Since 1945
(Longman, 1983). What has not been told openly is the story of in-fighting and assas-
sinations. One book, written by Henry Isaacs (a member of the PAC leadership in
exile), was ready for sale when leading members of the PAC threatened the publishers
with libel action. Consequently the book was pulped. We have read typescripts of some
of the chapters and found that, if true, the atrocities inside the ANC were a mere tea
party by comparison. However it has not been possible to find independent verification
of the account, many of which were reported at second hand by Isaacs.
This is a story that needs examination, but the PAC leaders have resolutely refused to
offer an account. What is obvious (whatever our opinion of guerilla warfare) is that the
PAC never built an army, did not engage in any significant fighting with govemment
troops, and substituted slogans like: ‘One settler, one bullet’ for any action.
In a rare example of what happened to one of its cadres , Vusi Shange wrote an account
of his 13 years in exile from 1977 until 1990. It appeared in the anonymously published
exile newsletter, Fighting the Crazy War, Vol 2, No 5, 1990. Written as an ‘open letter
to my comrades in exile', Shange’s main interest was not to relate the events within the
PAC but to draw attention to the nature of the ANC and its history of abuses. There
18 NO reason to doubt its authenticity. We reprint the introductory passage

An Open Letter

! LEFT SOUTH AFRICA on April 30, 1977.1 lived in Zola North in Soweto.
After the 1976 Soweto uprising I decided to go out to join a liberation move-
z;t_lt(. L knew of the African National Congress (ANC) and the Pan
* gc‘d.mst Congress (PAC). I looked for someone to take me out. I knew of
ANéoncthg nearby. I didn’t know of the political differences between the
il a'r:i.(;hf PAC. I wanted to leave. I could feel that we as a black com-
Wantcrél 1dn’t have any rights 1n comparison with the white community. I
ot olit(') ‘;‘ﬁmF and fight the regime to have the same rights. My actions were
and Ish 1cally mspired but I saw that other people including the Coloureds

¢ Indians were better off, But I thought that the land belongs to us also.
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I contacted this people [sic] in the Students Representative Council
(SRC) in a black school. Eventually I met someone in Zola to take us out,
They came and collected us. Richard Mthembu took us to Dube [in Soweto
- ecf]’ where we contacted other people (four women/ten men) and left for
Swaziland. We travelled by Hi-Ace combi. We left ten o’clock in the morning,

We crossed the border by foot at Piet Retief near the Swaziland border,
We got transport on the other side of the border to Manzini. There we
realised we were with the PAC. We were told we would go to Tanzania, have
military training, then come back to ﬁ%hl the SA regime. I heard that the
leader of PAC in Tanzania was working for the Coca-Cola company.

With the PAC

We left for Tanzania in May 1977. We travelled by Mozambican airline. We
were a group of more than seventy. While we were wmngg for military train-
ing the chairman of the Central Committee of the PAC, Potlako Leballo,
visited us time and time again. We had meetings on Sundays. I realised that
things were wrong — we received only promises of military training. Eventual-
ly a few went for training, but this represented only a fraction of the 200 wait-
ing to be trained. I also started to see differences between leaders of the PAC.

The commander of the army, Ndandala [Ntantala] and PAC chairman,
Leballo, were the only persons talking to us. No one was interested to fight at
all. The situation became critical when a group of 30 trained cadres came
back from China and were joined by a group trained in Libya. They heard
they were not going back to fight. Both groups were dissatished and wanted
to see the leadership. They went to Dar es Salaam and met Leballo who con-
vinced them he was the only person qualified to lead the liberation struggle.
But the group under Ndandala was the only group progressing. Themba
Maphalala at that staﬁe was talking against Leballo and was the only person
to do this. Subsequently there was a gﬂt inst Leballo on the question why
so little ?Coplc were mulitary trained. We demanded that Leballo must come
and explain, but there was no progress.

After the meeting Themba told us people wanted to go home to South
Africa and fight. For exa.mdi)le in the Matundas cami people who arrived
durinﬁ the sixties were still just sitting there. He asked them why? They
replied that they did not want to show differences between them and Leballo,
but the majority supported Ndandala.

We decided that we will on our own infiltrate South Africa from Tanzania.
We left some evening late in 1978. After three days we realised that we were
moving around in circles. I didn’t have any military training nor any weapons.
Only a knife. We also became ill and decided to go back. But our group was
divided. Themba, Ernest and Johnia deided to continue. Richard (who took
me out of the country), Sipiwe and I decided to go back to camp.

Tribalism

Back in Dar es Salaam Ndandala’s group surrounded all houses of Leballo™s
supporters. Because Ndandala was Xhosa and Leballo a Sotho man it be-
came apparent that tribal affiliations caused all the trouble and prevented us
from fighting inside South Africa. Fighting erupted between the two group:
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an army was called in to disperse them. Some were locked up
sentenced to two years imprisonment.
andﬁsfz';;‘&‘:ﬁ;z conference to um{z the two groups was held at Arusha. We,
:_uk and file members, were given seven days to come back and change
2 rminds. We wanted to form a third force because we were given a man-
gur b thé people in South Africa. But the Organisation of African Unity
Siu was aganst this. The governments of a and Mozambigue
Everc willing to support and train us to prepare to go and fight inside SA. The
saw that internal roblems and especially tribal affiliations hampered bo!
the ANC and PAC. Ndandala’s group, however, landed up as refugees under

ices of the UN. . ) _
melatul-fus:clz?t the PAC and joined the ANC in about 1979 in Tanzania. I was

to a residence used for people going to school. But I didn’t want to go
:i?;rlllo%l and instead wanted military training. I was angry at the regime and
knew now that the PAC consisted of useless people . ...

and the Tanzani

Shange states that he left the PAC in Tanzania, because of disillusionment at the inef-
fectiveness of the military wing in the mid-1970s. This was a time of severe conflict
within the organisation, which led to the murder in Tanzania of the leading PAC figure,
David Sibeko. . ) L
Shange's autobiographical account, which is one of a series of personal hxgmncs m_tms
undercover journal, goes on to describe his subsequent disillusionment with conditions
in Umkhonto we Sizwe, his participation in the mutiny in Angola in 1984 and his sub-
sequent five years in the ANC prison camp, Quatro.When Quatro prison was closed in
late 1988, he and other inmates were freed and transferred by the ANC to its camp at
Dakawa in Tanzania. After suppression of elected exile organisations at Dakawa by the
National Executive Committee of the ANC in December 1989, Shange fled Tanzania
with a group of fellow members critical of conditions in the ANC, and fearful for their
own safety. The individuals in this group were imprisoned in Malawi in the early
months of 1990. They were transferred by South African state security forces to South
Africa, where they were released in May 1990. A member of this group, Sipho Phungul-
wa, was murdered in a political assassination in the Transkei the following month, after
leaving the ANC offices in Umtata.
In 1990 Shange and his colleagues from the group that was imprisoned in Malawi
formed the Returned Exiles Coordinating Committee (Recoc), which has received sup-
port f_rom organisations close to the South African state. Shange himself has been a
promunent spokesperson for Recoc within South Africa.
Shange's account of his later experiences in the ANC confirms the information and in-
terpretation in Bandile Ketelo et al, ‘A Miscarriage of Democracy: The ANC Security
Department in the 1984 Mutiny in Umkhonto we Sizwe', Searchlight South Africa, No
5 (July 1990). Shange is referred to in that article as ‘one of the commanders of the
guerrilias' in the mutiny at Viana camp in February 1984. (p 47)
hom. Shange’s account, the inability of the PAC to make use of its advantages in
recruiting young people after the 1976 students’ revolt is striking. He describes the ex-
lled leaders of the PAC during the late 1970s as ‘useless people’. While not in the least
analytical, Shange's account of stagnation and divisions in the PAC in Tanzania is inter-
esting for its account of the effect of the troubles in the PAC on eager, young militants.
A number of his fellow exiles in the PAC left the organisation and joined the ANC with
him in 1979,
f:;‘;“?f“‘;_sul‘h as the above have become increasingly important with the emergence of
: ruﬂ;jd L;_Jplc_s Liberation Army (Apla) in recent months. Embarking apparently on
Eeitier )0 Edlscg'lmllnate shootings, together with the resurgance of the slogan, ‘one
0525 e ‘ul[c_t « this cannot lead to any meaningful change. This is little more than
nic cleansing’, a sentiment which we have no hesitation in roundly condeming.



QUO VADIS THE UNITY MOVEMENT?
A DISGRACEFUL EPISODE

Y S Rassool

THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL, organ of the Teachers’ League of Sout!
Africa, of June 1992, in its ‘Notes in School’, comments on the present con
flict in Yugoslavia. It states that:

The news media focuses on the tragic war in Yugoslavia has attempted
to project a Good Guys, Bad Guys situation. The European Com-
munity, with Germany in the forefront, America and the UN are
presented as the Good Guys supporting the independence of Bosnia-
Herzegovina, Croatia and Slovenia. The Serbs are the Bad guys fight-
ing a cruel and destructive war. News reports also create the
impression that there is a religious, very strong anti-Muslim element in
the strife . .. But the strong motivating force of Serbian nationalism is in
fact the desire to prevent the disintegration of the Yugoslav federation
into separate warring states, The Serbs wish to see the retention of the
coherence that was built by Marshal Tito after World War Two and of
the social system that flourished for 40 years after to the benefit of the
people of Yugoslavia.

This view is ill-informed and misconceived on several levels. Firstly, it
does not take into account that the Serbs have been actively following a policy
of ‘ethnic cleansing’ as part of their attempt to reconstruct the region on the
terms of a Greater Serbia. Every day there is mounting evidence of atrocities
that sicken, anger and revolt people across the globe. Only someone indulg-
ing in wishful thinking could suggest that this was being done in the name of
socialism — however relative that term might be. Since this position was not
reassessed in subsequent issues, one must assume a consensus with the ideas
expressed in this article.

Secondly, to interpret the evidence of the concentration camps, brutality,
random bombing of civilian targets, mass expulsion of people, systematic
rape and murder, and seizure of lands and homes as a ‘wish to see the reten-
tion. ... of the social system that flourished for 40 years . . . to the benefit of the
Yugoslav people’ must surely be more than an act of political blindness: it is @
callous disregard of the enormity of the Serbian expansionist policy.
Moreover, exactly who is being referred to as the “Yugoslav people’ remains
unclear - one can therefore assume that it serves a purely theoretical pur-
pose.

Thirdly, the article ignores all the evidence mounting daily about aggres-
sive Serbian expansionism because of the belief that the end is the preserva-
tion of the Yugoslav Federation. Surely unjust means cannot lead to a just
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Or is the humanitarian basis of socialism over-ridden by the Stalinist
ends justify the means) . .. in certain circumstances? Abhorrence
was a fundamental point c:{ departugecof the Unity Movement,

D ietincuished it from the SACP dominated Congress movement, and

Wlk:;(c:hh td}iztilglgfof the article in the Joumal calls into question.
" This would seem to be regrettable since the Teachers’ League has been
part of the Unity Movement since its inception about fifty years ago. Its
monthly journal was a beacon qf light during the dark years aftlcr the c_losurc
of The Torch ¢.1959, and banning of those newspapers associated with the
broad liberatory movement. In this context, ’.t provided extensive analyses of
world imperialism and an an analysis of social struggles in Africa, Asia and
South America. The philosophy that it adopted supported the principles of
non-collaboration and the need for a struggle based on a principled
programme of demands, the 10-Point Programme of the Non-European
Unity Movement as it was then called. The ideals were to influence a genera-
tion of political activists and theorists within the broad left. Thus, taking its
history into account, the views expressed in Article VIII of the ‘Notes in
School’ can be construed as a betrayal of the Movement’s position. This
refers to its championing of the cause of the oppressed against the oppressor
— and arguing for the rights of human beings in upholding their own language,
culture and religion. For the UM to adopt the view that the bloody slaughter
and expulsion of entire communities from their homes and the confiscation
of their property can be justified, on the grounds that it furthers the socialist
ideal, is absurd.

What is more disconcerting is the fact that the views put forward in ‘Notes
in School’ were repeated and developed at length in the September 1992
issue of The Bulletin of the New Unity Movement, vol 6, no 2.

The article headed ‘The Bloody Tradedy (sic) of Yugoslavia’ speaks in
portentous and omniscient tones. I quote the opening lines and will then
proceed to deconstruct its meaning though, frankly, their spuriousness is
blatantly self-evident,

Imperialis{ policy is one indivisible whole. It has turned its violence

against the semi-colonial oppressed in Africa, Asia the Americas, or

Eastern Europe, or to any socialist state. In South Africa, the Liberal-

53(‘)Cl_fill-Demo'::ratti(:-spansorf::d (eg ANC) policy of ‘working from

within’ or secking ‘space’ inside imperialism (eg CODESA) serves only
this single indivisible imperialist policy. That policy is: total war, on

ALL fronts, against the semi-colonial and socialist peoples. This policy

[P"hii-:"c} shaken by the defeat inflicted on the USA in 1973 by Vietnam.

5 efeat led to what came to be known as the ‘Vietnam syndrome’.

But this syndrome was ended by the 1990-91 US/EC/UNO ‘Gulf War

S%ndm}ft Ill‘raq, Its place was taken by the ‘Gulf Syndrome’ of arrogant tri-

\\d[i?' » O cCommitting any crime against humanity anywhere not only

tmpunity, but with the shameless backing on the ‘United Nations’.

end!
Diktat (the
of Stalinism
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‘Imperialism is one indivisible whole’ needs only to be uttered to reveal it
fallaciousness. The US, the EC, Japan . . . one indivisible whole? All the
GATT sparring, skulduggery and vying for supremacy mere play-acting to
confuse the oppressed? So, it can all just really be reduced to a great
capitalist imperialist conspiracy — and thus the problems of analysis are dealt
with — the answer is self-evident! Certainly imperialism battens on the
colonial and semi-colonial world and now seeks to extend its tentacles into
the erstwhile ‘socialist’ countries of eastern Europe. But one Indivisible Im-
perialism? The mind boggles at a procrustean world view that has not, seem-
ingly, reflected on the internecine piratical power conflicts — neither has it
come to terms with the collapse of the Soviet Union, and the eastern
European pseudo-socialist societies,

‘Imperialism is one indivisible whole’, implies one imperialism acting in a
unified way, or else the meaning is at variance with the language, a bit like
Alice in Wonderland, where words mean whatever the writer wishes them to
mean. By assuming that there is this ‘unified’ imperialism, the writer turns a
blind eye on the embargo busting competition among western capitalists to
provide arms and fuel to Yugoslavia. More ironic it is that this ‘unified’ im-
perialism finds no difficulty in applying stringent embargoes to Cuba, Libya,
Iraq, Cambodia and other countries that have incurred its wrath, yet cannot
successfully impede the supply of arms and fuel to Serbia. Couple this with
the effect that Bosnia-Herzegovina and Croatia, the supposed imperialist al-
lies, have been denied the means of defending themselves against their ag-
gressors, If imperialism indeed had any intention of teaching ‘the most
promising Socialist experiment’ a lesson, as the writer suggests, then surely
the Serbs would not have found it so easy to breach the so-called embargo.

The writer has for polemical reasons, no doubt, used the pejorative term
Ustashi to blanket all of Croatia, but selectively fails to use the term Chetnik
for the Serbians, a term the Yugoslav National Army has no difficulty in
adopting,! To append emotional epithets to disparage entire communities is
reprehensible and only clouds the issue.

We have moved beyond the Good Guys/Bad Guys scenario that made
political analysis relatively straightforward. Prior to 1989 there were the
‘western’ capitalist systems (which included Japan) vs the eastern ‘Peoples’
Democracies’. We defended and supported, unreservedly, the latter against
the imperialist countries, despite a growing awareness that these so-called
socialist societies were far from socialist. We called them ‘deformed workers’
states’; nevertheless they denoted a possibility for ultimate victory against our
own oppressors and a hope for the future. Indeed, few of the struggles in the
colonial and semi-colonial world would have achieved success were it not for
the material assistance of the Soviets and other non-capitalist states.

However, these utopian wishes were, as we know, to be sadly dashed with
the collapse of the Berlin Wall, The state-corruption that has continued to be
revealed, the corruption, tyranny and despoliation of the environmen;
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demand a re-evaluation of simplistic, conspiratorial and, moreover,
manichean or ‘black and white’ views.

Lest the attack against the decayed and corrupted forms of socialism be
regarded as support for capitalism, let it be stated beyond doubt that this in
no way indicates the victory of capitalist-imperialism. The empty, bankrupt
office towers, mass unemployment, with beggars and homeless people
thronging the streets all over the so-called developed world; the under-
developed world starving — and this includes large portions of the once
named ‘socialist states’ and our own South Africa; and the plundered planet
in extremis, provide overwhelming evidence of the effect.

It is well for us to remember, also, that in condemning the rapine, mass
slaughter and other atrocities of the Serbian regime we should not put a halo
around the other participants in the civil war. Ghastly acts of brutality have
occurred on all sides and, in addition, the unstable alliance between the
Croats and Bosnians does not augur well for peace in the region. The Croats
have not been averse to inflicting their own brand of ‘ethnic cleansing’ against
the Muslims.

The article is both factually and politically flawed, but it is also unforgiv-
able to give as a justification of the anti-Muslim crusade the fact that the
‘Muslims . . . are descendants not of the Turks who dominated the Balkans
from the 15th to the 19th century, but of Christian Bosnians who found it con-
venient to embrace Islam’. There then follow statistics of the percentage of
Muslims and Croats and that the former, though fewer in number, are being
used as shock troops to ‘complete the destruction of the most promising
socialist experiment thus far in Europe’.

It is said that seasoned politicians do not make idle statements. One must
assume therefore that the writer has carefully calculated the nature of his/her
remarks. The writer obviously does not wish to offend those in the movement
who are Muslim, and therefore hastens to assure Muslim supporters that
their sympathies are misplaced. The Bosnians are therefore not genuine
Muslims, but rather, Kafirs [unbelievers] deserving to be put to the sword.
Remarkably, the article does not mention the fact that the Bosnians love their
cherry brandy and their women do not wear the veil.

Then, trusting to the weak memories of the old guard and the ignorance of
the not so old, the writer refers to “Yugoslavia .. . . the most promising socialist
experiment thus far in Europe’. Is there no shame? When Tito broke with the
Soviet Union he was attacked with vitriolic venom by us in the NEUM. He
was breaking the Warsaw Pact, he was a capitalist roader, he was anti-
socialist. Perhaps he was, but now, it seems Tito has been rehabilitated — and
the Yugoslav regime is to be regarded as a model to emulate. This cynical
volte-face is done almost parenthetically.

The main thrust of the writer’s argument is an attack on the UN as a
‘thieve’s kitchen’. It is undeniable that the UN since its inception has been
flagrantly used by the US as an adjunct to employ as it pleases, and all those
concerned with the struggles of the oppressed need to grasp that basic fact.
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The writer is using a well worn ploy known as ‘knocking down skittles’. A tar-
get that is so blatantly open to criticism, such as the UN, is targeted in order
to divert the reader’s attention from one of the worst travesties of recent
times and, more significantly, gives support to the butchers of Greater Serbia
and Croatia in their campaign of ‘ethnic cleansing’ and its accompanying
atrocities against the Muslims of Bosnia. And is ethnic cleansing not another
way of saying apartheid, with all its hideous implications? Is this not what the
Unity Movement claims to be fighting in South Africa?

Thus the question is posed: Where is the Unity Movement going? Clearly
the position adopted in the bulletin and in the journal of the TLSA is no
minor abberation that can be dismissed as of no significance. This is surely
the lowest depth to which this movement, once so proud of its stance on
democracy and human rights, has sunk, When will its members speak out and
call for an end to this sophistry.

It is a feature of tragedy, as Shakespeare knew full well, that often ‘the
stamp of one defect .. ./Shall in the general censure take corruption from that
particular fault’. (Hamdlet, Act 1, Scene 4)

Notes

1. The Ustashi were the fascist Croatian forces that supported the occupation by fascist Italy
and nazi Germany in World War Two.They received substantial support from the Roman
Catholic Church. The Ustashi massacred Jews and Serbs, who generally belonged to the
Orthodox Church Their policy, which they implemented, was to kill one-third of the Serbs,
forcibly convert another third to Catholicism and endure the remainder. The Chetniks
were pro-monarchist Serbian forces under General Draza Mihailovic, who supported the
war aims of the Allies but were in conflict with the pro-Soviet partisans led by (Josip Broz)
Tito. Atrocities took place on all sides. A general massacre of Ustashi members and sup-
porters took place at the end of the war, when the German and Italian occupation forces
withdrew. After the war, the ‘left’ habitually underestimated the force of inter-ethnic ten-
sions in the region in its admiration of Tito's regime, which generally favoured the Serbs. —
Eds.

For those of our readers who have no knowledge of the Latin language, it must be explained
that Qou Vadis? means Where is it Going?

L B B O

Y S Rassool was a member of the New Era Fellowship until its dissolution in ¢1960. A
member of the executive of the Teachers League of South Africa and active in the Anti-
CAD, NEUM and affiliated organisations until his departure for the UK in 1970.
Remained a subscriber to the TLSA journal until 1993,



A MASSACRE OF INNOCENCE:
THE MARCH AT BISHO, 7 SEPTEMBER 1992

Paul Trewhela

Real Fictions

THIS WAS South Africa: it needed massacre, a really good, upfront mas-
sacre, with lots of dead, to get negotiations on the road again. Blood to grease
the words.

In the fragments of parched misery that make up the so-called former
‘homelands’ in South Africa, all official military forces in the 1980s were the
creatures of South African Military Intelligence (MI). That includes the cur-
rent regime in the Transkei. There the military dictator, Major-General
Bantu Holomisa, sprang the changes on his patrons in MI following a coup in
1987. He reversed the alliances and aligned himself with the rising political
fortunes of the African National Congress.

It is no doubt from connections made during his tenure in structures con-
trolled by MI that Holomisa acquired documents that led to the present head
of MI, Major General Christoffel (‘Joffel’) van der Westhuizen, being named
as author of the murder of four leading activists from the town of Cradock in
1985. Van der Westhuizen’s role was first revealed in a copy of a military sig-
nal released to the press by Holomisa in 1992. He was named again as author
of these murders in an inquest hearing in March 1993 by the communications
officer who had transmitted the signal.!

Bordering the Transkei lie the scattered bits and pieces of the Ciskei.
Here MI remained firmly in control. This was the setting for the massacre on
7 September 1992 that permitted ANC leaders to resume their interrupted
discussion with the government of President FW de Klerk.

The massacre took place outside the football stadium at Bisho, the Ciskei
‘capital.’ In truly South African fashion, this was an unreal place for a real kill-
ing, In the spirit of coups real and fictional that have characterised the region,
it was the outcome of an attempt (in the imagination of the ANC) at a radical
seizure of power, in a fictitious capital of a fictitious state created in the im-
agination of the apartheid rulers. A fictitious state, guarded however by real
i(ﬂlkeiils. In South Africa, fictions come policed with weapons, able and eager

0 Kull,

Only weeks before the massacre, the former head of MI in the Ciskei,
Colonel Gert Hugo, revealed his own role in the creation of the Ciskei dic-
tator, Brigadier Oupa Gqozo. (Hugo, like Holomisa before him, had
defected to the opposition). It was Gqozo's troops who slaughtered the ANC
demonstrators as they ran towards ‘his’ capital, in an effort to liberate this lit-
tle zone of dust from his tyrannical custody.

Hugo stated that the political government of President FW de Klerk was
Powerless against the real and still untouched military government of mass
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murderers in MI, which had detailed plans for a coup against the government
of politicians should it consider this necessary. Every local MI commander
had detailed coup instructions locked in his safe, awaiting the order to ac-
tivate them. The politicians in the government, including the president, were
all too compromised in sanctioning and commissioning past brutalities to
withstand the coercive suasion of the military, Hugo argued. (Independent, 24
August 1992)

About a year earlier, information came to light about the role of MI in
planning and executing the murder of two embarrassing former despots of
the Ciskei, Charles Sebe and Onward Guzana. They were lured into par-
ticipating in a fictitious ‘coup’ attempt (staged by MI) against the real coup-
regime of Gqozo that had succeeded them. According to the former chief of
operations of the Ciskei Defence Force, Lieutenant-Colonel Nelson Naka, in
a statement to Ciskei’s Acting Chief Justice, the coup attempt was faked in
January 1991 so that Sebe and Guzana would be ‘killed according to Brig
Gqozo’s instructions,’” The whole affair had been stage-managed from the
beginning with the aim of murdering these two embarrassing opponents of
Gqozo. (Southem Africa Report, 6 September 1991)

This act of blood, worthy of the serial murderers who really rule in South
Africa, was carried out by MI operating in the Ciskei under the charac-
teristically suave cover name of International Research (IR). As in Namibia
at the time of the independence elections in 1989 (where it styled itself
African Communication Projects) and as with its former corps of assassins,
the Civil Cooperation Bureau (CCB), MI has a taste for the academic and
the clinical in choosing the cover names for its crimes of blood. (A thesis is
writing to be written on the semantics of murder in South Africa).

Headed by three white former SADF officers, IR was set up in August
1990, was equipped with substantial resources, and operated outside the
control of the regular Ciskei army and police. It was based initially on
Gqozo’s personal farm. This was the kind of regime that the ANC attempted
to overturn by a kind of populist street theatre, through its ‘mass action’ cam-
paign. Colonel Hugo stated a month before the massacre that the fake ‘coup’
staged for Gqozo by IR had been ‘a cover to justify a crackdown on groups al-
lied to the ANC’. (Daily Telegraph, 9 September 1992)

Six months after the massacre, in the course of the inquest into the murder
of the ‘Cradock Four’ — Matthew Goniwe, Mbulelo Goniwe, Sparrow
Mkhonto and Fort Calata — the role of General van der Westhuizen was
confirmed by Colonel Lourens du Plessis, who said he had drafted van der
Westhuizen’s signal calling for the ‘permanent removal’ of Goniwe and two
others. The men were murdered three weeks later.

Al the same time Colonel du Plessis revealed how Sebe had been freed
from prison in the Transkei in 1986 by white commandos of MI, who stormed
the prison in which he was being held. The aim of MI at that time had been to
install Sebe as head of a unified ‘Xhosaland’, comprising the Transkei, the
Ciskei and the white-owned border region between them. According to the
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colonel, the plan involved the proposed ‘permanent removal’ of Sebe’s
brother, Lennox, then Ciskei president. Secret documents released by
Holomisa at the same time revealed that the plan for ‘Xhosaland’, including
the proposed killing of Lennox Sebe, grew out of a meeting of the State
Security Council. President de Klerk, like his predecessor PW Botha, was
then a member of the SSC. Joffel’ van der Westhuizen was head of its
secretariat,

An Appetite for Human Blood

When the march on Bisho was being planned in the higher reaches of the
ANC, everyone knew that the military forces of the Ciskei are creatures
nourishing an 4ppetite for human blood. The real issue was not whether the
end of such a monstrous dictatorship should be contended for, but how. The
breakdown in negotiations between the government and the ANC over anew
constitution — in which the ANC had made concession after concession —
provided the occasion for a conflict on strategy and tactics within the ANC
leadership. This reflected conflicts within the ANC’s social base of support.

The core ANC leadership grouped around Nelson Mandela rests ul-
timately on the small but growing black middle class being attached to capital
through places on company boards, through franchises and gifts of all kinds
and through access to higher education. A much larger constituency is the
swelling mass of human misery thrown up by the combined working effect of
South Africa’s traditional social structure, the world depression and the
results of sanctions and economic autarky in the 1980s.

To these hundreds of thousands for whom existence is a daily struggle for
survival, the failed rhetoric of the 1980s — of armed struggle and revolt —
continues to offer the appearance of a solution. Following a slump in savings,
declining investment and a seize-up of world markets, this major section of
South African society has experienced a worsening of life. The immediate fu-
ture, like the present, offers nothing but further hardship and privation,
added to the hardship and privation against which they rebelled in the 1980s.

The rhetoric forgets, however, that the insurrectionary perspective of the
ANC army, Umkhonto weSizwe (MK), was cut short by MI through the bru-
tal crushing of the township revolt of 1984-86. This was the time of the mur-
der of the Cradock four, and very many others besides.

A grouping in the ANC National Executive Committee headed by three
le'flders of the South African Communist Party — Ronnie Kasrils (head of
Military intelligence of MK in exile), Chris Hani (secretary general of the
S“_\CP and former deputy commander of MK) and Raymond Suttner —
S€1zed their opportunity as men of action when the men of words failed {0
deliver, A strategy was agreed upon by the NEC which amounted to an al*
'empted seizure of power in the ‘homelands’ by defenceless, unarmed

®monstrators, ranged against lethal troops inured to killings.
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The trap was set. All that remained was delivery of the bodies. There is no
doubt that ANC leaders did in fact aim to occupy the ‘business’ centre of
Bisho with their supporters, 5o as — in their imagination — to force out the
dictator Gqozo.

The marchers set off from King Williams Town (in South Africa ‘proper’).
According to the notional plan, they are to proceed to the agreed assembly
point of the march, the football stadium, paying real attention to Gqozo’s
troops ranged alongside them and between them and the centre of Bisho.

In their real plan, however, ANC commanders aim to lead the loyal and
militant (but unarmed) masses in an infantry charge past the fictional des-
tination, the football stadium, towards the centre of Bisho. They reckon as if,
in a re-run of old Eisenstein and Pudovkin movies, Gqozo's troops will side
with the demonstrators, and turn their weapons on the dictator. Or at least,
refuse to fire.

It is a fatal miscalculation. Real live bullets rain down on the marchers
from two directions for several minutes of uninterrupted free fire. There are
scores of wounded, and 28 dead (or more). Sprinting at the head of the
charge like an infantry licutenant at the Somme, Kasrils is pulled to the
ground by his bodyguards and survives.

A film in the head is transformed into flesh and blood. Flesh and blood is
transformed into film, to fill a slot on TV news schedules. Routine horror in
millions of living rooms across the world. Interviews with leaders of the
march. Discussions on serious-minded chat-shows. Grave and judicious
editorials. What is to be done? President de Klerk makes an offer. The deal is
accepted, the talkers get into gear again, briefcases are loaded, relatives bury
their dead, the wounded get on with the business of living wounded, soldiers
clean their weapons. South Africa moves on. Another month, another mas-
sacre.

The Poetry of Death

If I approach this tragedy in the manner of farce, it is because it was created
in the manner of farce by its authors.

In a country bristling with violence, it is impermissible for political life to
be conducted as if thousands of people assembled for a political demonstra-
tion are so many extras in a movie. It is unforgiveable for political romantics
to re-enact the myths of Eisenstein and Pudovkin in a world in which the ex-
tras really do get killed: perhaps especially, when these romantics really are
courageous, and ready to risk their own lives as well as those of others.

For these producers of the massacre at Bisho, the dividing line between
theatre and life has been a blur for decades. For Kasrils, in particular, a
central figure in the tragedy, it is a serious question at what point the heroic
posture takes over from the calculation necessary in a military leader,
responsible for the lives of people. The clenched fist and exultant expression
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at Bisho were the same as when, a younger man, he appeared on stage in exile
singing with the Mayibuye Cultural Ensemble in London in the 1970s.

With Kasrils, the Byronic stance as people’s leader coincides with the im-
agination of an enthusiast of the Red Army under Stalin, the storming of the
Winter Palace (stalinist version) and the entry into Havana of Fidel and Che,

This is epic theatre of a certain kind. Its tone may be studied in Kasrils’
poetry published under the literary pseudonym ANC Khumalo’ (also his MK
name as former deputy commissar and chief of military intelligence), found
in back numbers of the SACP journal, The African Communist, and in the
collection edited by Barry Feinberg, Poets to the People (Heinemann, 1980).

A dithyramb in hectic monotone dedicated to the ‘washing of the spears’
in the blood of the apartheid regime, this poetry is interesting mainly for the
psychology of the writer, and thus of the grouping that led the march at Bisho.
The pseudonym itself is interesting: the more than intimate identification of
the poet with a political party, and the identification also of the (white,
Jewish) member of the Communist Party with the clan name of one of the
most illustrious of Zulu chiefly families. This is Boys Own stuff, re-written for
the side of insurrection and set in shanty-towns, locations and the northern
suburbs of Johannesburg. With real corpses on the ground.

With Kasrils, and the other ANC leaders on the march at Bisho, it is not
their courage but their judgement that is at issue. As with the language of MI,
the semantics of this leader of the ANC and SACP leader deserves study.
Just before the shooting begins, Kasrils states:

‘It’s a cinch. We are just going to march into the CBD [central business
district]’. (Zimes, 8 September)

After the shooting stops:

‘We had made it clear we were not going to the stadium to have a rally.
Our intention was to go to Bisho’. (Daily Telegraph, 9 September) Hani, his
colleague on the march, speaking before the shooting: “We are going to Bisho
to remove de Klerk’s kitchen boy’. (Daily Telegraph, 9 September)

Later, the rhetorical question from Kasrils: ‘Throughout history, how has
tyranny been toppled?’ The rhetorical reply: ‘Never without casualties. This
is the nature of the struggle. People are prepared to accept sacrifice,
provided the leadership is prepared to be with them'. (Times, 9 September)

Kasrils again, the day after the shootings: ‘One cannot regret what one
does in good faith and in the best judgement of the collective leadership . . .
Casualties take place all the time . . . We can’t regret trying to go forward’.
Followed by evocation of boyhood adventures: ‘The trouble is I always was
the best runner at school. There were others [leaders] with me, but they just
could not keep up’. (Guardian, 9 September)

Then the suggestion that the ‘armed struggle’ should be resumed: ‘This
talk of peace is not going down with our people while war is being waged on
them all over South Africa’. (Times, 8 September) To a rousing cheer at the
site of the shootings the day afterwards, Kasrils states that suspension of the
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armed struggle would ‘have to be re-evaluated’ in the light of the mas-
sacre.(Independent, 9 September)

There is something missing here. From these statements, there emerges
the sense of a person whose moral register is somehow not in keeping with
the horror in which he has been intimately present: of a strange kind of
abstraction from the responsibility not to put human life needlessly at risk. To
suggest an analogy: The owner of a huge articulated truck fails to ensure
proper maintenance of his vehicle; the brakes fail; the truck ploughs into a
queue of people at the roadside, killing several and maiming others. Com-
ments from the owner of the truck even remotely in the spirit of Kasrils’
remarks above could only be regarded as showing a deficiency in the person’s
moral sense. Such a person should not be permitted to be in control of a
potentially lethal vehicle, for the safety of the public and even for his own
good. At the very minimum, if such a person made comments in the spirit of
Kasrils after an accident, a court would be justified in taking away that
person’s authority to own and operate the kind of vehicle that he had failed to
maintain. A technical question — the maintenance or non-maintenance of a
dangerous vehicle, or the judgement of a political leader in encouraging un-
armed people to storm a position guarded by nervous armed troops —
reveals itself as a moral question.

The idea that it was individual people whose lives were put at risk — that
Kasrils’ mind-set and actions got people needlessly killed — that as a well-
known and highly regarded figure, he used his political authority to behave in
a manner that would show lack of judgement even in the captain of a football
team — this speaks volumes for the character of South African life over the
past thirty years. One is compelled to ask, how does a nation acquire such
leaders? If it does have such leaders, how does it acquire more worthy ones?
This society needs better criteria of selection, If it has acquired the leaders it
deserves, then it must raise its standards.

In a dangerous place like South Africa, political leaders require to be
scrutinised with even greater care than in a comparatively mild and peaceful
country like Britain. In fact there is a perfectly adequate standard for guaging
the fitness of someone like Kasrils to be entrusted with people’s lives. It is his
writings. Not the poetry, which gives a clue to his obsessions (but not more
than that). It is his writing on history. Here the reader can examine the rela-
tion of this person to a relatively tested and verifiable truth.

The History of an Illusion

Under his ‘travelling name’ of ANC Khumalo, Kasrils contributed an article
to issue No 101 of the SACP journal, The African Communist (second
quarter, 1985), published just as the SACP was preparing to launch its near-
coup that secured for it almost total control over the National Executive
Committee (NEC) of the ANC in exile. This was at the Kabwe Conference in
June 1985, the first full conference of the ANC since the congress at
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Morogoro in Tanzania in 1969, sixteen years previously. The pro-democracy
mutiny of almost 90 per cent of the ANC’s trained troops in Angola in
January— May 1984 had been crushed the previous year, by means of torture,
the prison camp and the firing squad.

Kasrils, as chief of military intelligence, like Umkhonto’s then chief of
staff, Joe Slovo, had personal knowledge of the dissatisfaction of ANC troops
with the conduct of the Security Department, before the most serious phase
of the mutiny in February 1984. (personal communication) He, Slovo and
other military leaders had done nothing about it. While not personally
responsible for the crushing of the mutiny — this was left principally to
Kasrils’ colleague at Bisho, Chris Hani — their authority in the ANC rose at
Kabwe to the same degree as the critics of brutality within the ANC were
themselves brutalised in the prison camp Quatro.

At Kabwe, the racial barrier prohibiting entry of non-Africans to the NEC
was removed. Slovo, Mac Maharaj and other non-African leaders of
Umkhonto (and of the SACP) were now elected for the first time to the
NEC, by a conference heavily rigged by the Security Department. (See
Mkatashingo, ‘The ANC Conference: From Kabwe to Johannesburg,’
Searchlight South Africa No 6, January 1991) Kasrils was co-opted at a meet-
ing of the NEC in July 1988.

Published almost simultaneously with the Kabwe conference, Kasrils’ ar-
ticle in the African Communist is entitled ‘Forty Years On. How the Red
Army Buried Hitler’. His poem in the same issue, ‘Zoya on Guard’, like his
poems in the volume Poets to the People, is also on a military theme. The pic-
ture on the front cover of the magazine is of a Soviet soldier hoisting the red
flag, with hammer and sickle and star, above the ruins of Berlin in 1945, The
cover bears the same headline as Kasrils’ article: ‘How the Red Army Buried
Hitler’. This issue gives an indication of the mental outlook of the military
leaders of the SACP at the moment they gained even further authority within
the political directorate of the ANC.

The African Communist was one of the sole means of information and
political culture permitted to members of MK in the camps. Whatever Kas-
rils wrote in this magazine would tend to acquire great force within the ANC,
both because of his position as deputy commissar and also because of the
very restricted access of the soldiers to information, Through censorship en-
forced by the Security Department, which was run by members of the SACF,
no interpretation hostile to that of the SACP was permitted to the troops.
Here one may observe how Kasrils respected the mental integrity of his
readers in the camps, who were also in the main his military subordinates.

‘Now, as then’, he concludes, celebrating the time of Stalin from the time
of Brezhnev, ‘the Soviet Union is the sheet anchor of world peace and
humanity’, (p 45) This ideological assertion is complemented by a more
Idamaging distortion. He describes the beginning of World War Two as fol-

ows:
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The Second World War commenced on September 1, 1939 with nazi

Germany’s unprovoked attack on Poland. Britain and France declared

war on Germany. At this stage the Soviet Union was a non-participant,

as was the other war-time ally, the USA. (p 36)

This is a falsification, but many of Kasrils’s readers in MK were not to
know it. The great majority of them had left South Africa illegally after the
crushing of the 1976 school students’ revolt. Because of their participation as
teenagers in the students’ revolt, they had not completed even the miserable
secondary schooling offered to blacks under Bantu Education. In joining
MK in exile, they exchanged Bantu Education for a basically stalinist educa-
tion, conducted (in east Germany and elsewhere) by Kasrils and others. This
was an abuse of the minds of these young people, who constituted the bulk of
Umkhonto’s fighting forces when — to their great credit — they demanded
democracy during the mutiny of 1984. These young people were not per-
mitted to know that far from having been a ‘non-participant’ in the invasion of
Poland in September 1939, the Soviet Union had in fact been joint participant
with Hitler.

Kasrils deceived his readers in MK by hiding the fact that the Red Army,
under the direction of Stalin and Molotov, had been purged of its most
eminent generals in the show trials of 1937 and invaded Poland from the east
just as Germany invaded from the west, and by joint agreement with Hitler.
He endorses this brutal abrogation of the national sovereignty of the Poles,
which prepared the way for the almost total extinction of the Jews of Poland
(one third of the population). The end result of this dictators’ pact was. . .
Auschwitz.>

Kasrils’ comment on the Molotov-Ribbentrop pact is disingenuous. He
writes:

In August 1939 it [the USSR] signed a non-aggression pact with Ger-

many, winning a breathing space of nearly two years during which it

was able to build up its defences and strengthen the socialist founda-
tions of the Soviet state, threatened as it was on two fronts — nazi Ger-
many to the west and militarist Japan to the east. This non-aggression
treaty has been much criticised by the enemies of the Soviet Union, but

subsequent events were to prove its validity. (p 38)

There is no reason to think that Kasrils’ political dream of a future ANC
military victory over the apartheid state differed in any substantial respect
from this interpretation of the final victory of Stalin’s army over Hitler’s.
Stalin controlled the Soviet army with commissars from the KGB. Kasrils,
Slovo and Hani policed MK in similar fashion through the ANC Security
Department. With its death camps at Kolyma and its prison executions in the
Lubianka, the Soviet Union is the ‘socialist foundation’ to Kasrils’ politics.

He makes no mention that the forward defences of the Soviet Union were
almost totally wiped out on the ground in the German invasion of June 1941,
despite Stalin’s annexation of eastern Poland: so much for ‘building up its
defences’. No mention of Stalin’s breakdown under the impact of the in-
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vasion, and his withdrawal from policy direction for many crucial days. No
mention of Stalin’s inability to acknowledge the numerous advance reports
he received of the coming invasion, including detailed high-level briefing
from the Comintern agent Richard Sorge in Japan. No reference (an inter-
esting omission, coming from someone of Jewish background) to the fact that
tens of thousands of Jews in the immediate path of the German invasion were
deprived of all means of knowing about their coming fate during the period
of the pact, and that nothing was done to evacuate at least the Jewish children
to the rear.” One could go on, but there is no need to. Unlike ANC troops in
the camps in 1985, anyone who wishes to study the period may do so.

From Poland to East Germany

Someone who can write history like this, for the consumption of poorly edu-
cated young people with no alternative means for studying the period in
question, cannot be trusted with responsibility for human lives. Respon-
sibility of any real kind disappears into a fathomless pit, in which any number
of deaths can be justified.

Given this insight into the mind of Kasrils (and his military colleagues in
the SACP), the ideological path leading to the massacre at Bisho becomes
open to a more informed understanding. When Kasrils wrote these words,
the Soviet military was a real presence in the sub-continent, mainly through
tens of thousands of Cuban troops in Angola, but also through Soviet and
East German military advisers in Angola and other countries. Penetration by
Soviet armour and air forces into South Africa, in association with the
township revolt that had begun in late 1983, seemed feasible. Cuban forces
did in fact inflict a major military defeat on South African forces at Cuito
Cuanavale in southern Angola, just north of the border with Namibia, in
1988, It is most probable that military leaders of the SACP envisaged a tightly
disciplined Umkhonto we Sizwe arriving in South Africa behind Cuban ar-
mour, to impose a stalinist order as in eastern Europe. '

In this light, it is more than faintly ironic that the strategy governing the
march on Bisho was known among ANC and SACP leaders as the ‘Leipzig
option’, This was ‘the belief that, as happened in East Germany, it is possible
to bring down a state by mobilising mass demonstrations aimed at the state’s
weakest points’. (John Carlin, Independent, 9 September 1992) The phrase
appeared in an SACP document entitled ‘The boat, the tap and the Leipzig
Wway: a critique of some strategic assumptions within our ranks’, written by the
ANC national executive member (and SACP leader), Jeremy Cronin.
Cronin discussed and criticised the ‘Leipzig’ approach in his document,
Which was circulated at an extended central committee meeting of the SACP
I June 1992, arguing that ‘we are further (and we were arguably never that
close) from insurrection now than we were three or four years ago’. (Weekly
Mail, 10 July 1992) This was sober enough. But it appears that other counsels
Prevailed,
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These people knew Leipzig well. The German Democratic Republic was
for decades the most important base of military and propaganda support for
the ANC and SACP. They defended the legitimacy, the conduct, the alleged
‘socialist’ character and the durability of this state until the very day it col-
lapsed in 1989. And then . .. after singing its praises for decades as a model
state, they name their strategy of mass action, culminating at Bisho, after the
political events that brought about its downfall!

1t is difficult to know whether the analogy with Leipzig was the result more
of cynicism or stupidity. For leaders of the SACP to compare their own
strategy with the events of 1989 in the GDR shows how little they understand
the reasons for the collapse of this state. They had no idea how unarmed
people could bring down such a despised armed power. The real causes for
the inner rot of the GDR could not be understood by people who continued
to praise its ‘socialist foundations’. And if they could not understand the
GDR, or the nature of the Soviet Union, or the Stalin-Hitler pact, and thus
the Second World War which gave birth to the GDR . , . then they could not
understand South Africa either. In particular, they did not grasp that the
Soviet Union and its appendages had already over a long time previously col-
lapsed morally, economically, socially and politically, while in South Africa
the old state machine continued to remain a formidable power of coercion.
Thus their blithe indifference to their own responsibility for the deaths at
Bisho.

While correctly placing full responsibility on the Ciskei forces for the kill-
ings, the judicial commission on violence headed by Judge Richard
Goldstone was not wrong in its report to blame also the ANC leaders for ir-
responsibility — Kasrils in particular. Goldstone demanded of the ANC that
it ‘publicly censure’ Kasrils as its campaign organiser, accusing him of ‘know-
ingly or negligently’ exposing the demonstrators ‘to the danger of death and
injury’. (Guardian, 1 October 1992) Goldstone was justified in this judge-
ment, just as he was in later finding the top command of MI responsible for
criminal subversion of the ANC, and thus of the entire political process in
South Africa.

A Choice of Evils

It is not often that a socialist concurs with an officer of the South African
judiciary. This is one such occasion. On the issue of the massacre at Bisho,
this writer does not have difficulty in believing that the future conscience of
South Africa rests more humanely with Richard Goldstone of the South
Alrican bench than Ronald Kasrils, of the ANC army in exile. South Africa’s
misfortune is that the decades of opposition to the brutalities of its capitalist
practice took place in a world divided between capitalism and the system of
stalinist states. Against such a grotesque and entrenched regime, there was
nowhere for this opposition realistically to turn, except to the iron-clad grip
of the Soviet Union.
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The problem with individuals such as Kasrils is that they enthusiastically
reproduce this cruel choice as a positive virtue, and extol what is shameful
and destructive. Respected by many in MK in exile as the only white personin
the camps over very long periods, Kasrils serves merely as a more extrovert
representative of the central dilemma of the opp051t10n to the aparlheld
regime. For years he was a prime target for the regime’s killer squads.” His
virtues are the obverse to his vices, like the Robben Island prison graduate
Andrew Masondo, who inflicted his own experience of brutality on others (as
ANC commissar and founder of the Security Department) as soon as he
received the opportunity.

Unfortunate the land that requires heroes, wrote the dramatist Sean O’
Casey about his native Ireland. In South Africa one concurs, adding: unfor-
tunate also the land that creates its heroes in the mould of Hani, of Slovo, of
Masondo and of Kasrils. It is not the least of South Africa’s tragedies that
courageous, committed, non-racial opposition to the regime was led and car-
ried out over decades by a party so blunted to human suffering, and to truth.

Further decades will be needed to nourish a different, and more
democratic, political culture. The merit of Judge Goldstone in his inquiry, set
beside the lesson provided by the ANC at Bisho, is that the guidelines for a
different moral sensibility may already be discerned.

Notes

1. In Searchlight South Africa No 8 (‘Within the Secret State: The Directorate of Military In-
telligence,” p 22, n 1), | mistakenly confused General ‘Joffel' van der Westhuizen with his
predecessor as chief of staff of MI, General Pieter van der Westhuizen. ‘Joffel’ was head of
the secretariat of the State Security Council in the late 1980s (after the murder of the
Cradock four). Pieter led a high-level MI delegation to Washington in March 1981 within
two months of Reagan's inauguration as president, directed the operations of Renamo in
Mozambique and — as reported in a book published last year in the United States — was
a ‘close friend’ of the son of the former British prime minister, Baroness Thatcher. (Weekly
Mail, 16 October 1992) The careers of the two van der Westhuizens will be explored in a fu-
ture issue.

2. After disclosures about secret operations by MI to subvert the negotiations with the ANC,
de Klerk removed 23 SADF officers from their jobs - many from MI - but not the
kingmakers General 'Joffel’ van der Westhuizen (head of MI) and General AG ‘Kat'
Liebenberg (head of MI in 1985, to whom the ‘Cradock signal’ was directed, and at the time
of writing head of the SADF). Nor does de Klerk's removal of the 23 officers appear to
have restricted MI support for the resumption of civil war in Angola by Dr Jonas Savimbi,
head of Unita - the immediate cause of thousands of deaths,

3. Such cruel indiference to the national existence of the Poles on the part of Kasrils, as a
nulitary leader of a so-called ‘national liberation movement,' has a more recent counter-
part. (He conceals, of course, the deliberate planned massacre of 25,421 Polish officers or-
dered by Stalin, Beria, Mikoyan, Voroshilov, Kalinin and Kaganovitch in Katyn woods, near
Smolensk, in the Spring of 1940).

The national existence of the people of Tibet has been suppressed by the stalinist regime in
China for more then thirty years. Over a million Tibetan people are estimated to have died
at the hands of their Chinese rulers, and almost all their monasteries destroyed. Yet when
Nelson Mandela visited China in October 1992 and was welcomed by the men who had sent
tanks rolling over the demonstrators in Tienanmen Square, his reply to a question on the
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Beijing killings of June 1989 was: ‘We are not fully briefed about this situation.’ (‘Nelson
Mandela turns a blind eye'. (Observer, 11 October 1992)

‘When we turned to the West for assistance,' he told the Beijing press corps, ‘they sup-
ported the oppressor of our country, but when we came to China our leaders were accepted
with open arms ... Which human being of principle, who has a high standard of morality,
would now turn against the very country that has aided them to make the advance we have
made?

Some massacres, one must suppose, are more lethal than others. It is a chilling omen for
how the ANC would treat a Tienanmen Square protest by its own citizens.

4. Yevtushenko's poem, ‘Babi Yar' (1961), is clearly an indictment of the Nazi invaders for
their massacre of Jews at a ravine near Kiev and of the Soviet authorities for their silence
on the attrocity. Kasrils knew this as well as anyone on the South African ‘left’. Yet he and
the editors of the African Communist continued to preserve silence about this complicity
of the Soviet regime in these anti-semitic abuses while those who drew attention to these
facts were denounced as Zionists.. In his 1985 article Kasrils and the AC aggravate the of-
fence: he as deputy commissar in charge of political instruction of ANC troops, the AC as
the authoritative voice of the ‘theoreticians’ within the ANC alliance.

5. Despite my criticism of Kasrils I must make it quite clear that, if as has been reported, In-
katha or any other organisation has taken a decision to murder Kasrils then this — or still
worse, any attempt to carry it out —would be an act of barbarism worthy of the foulness of
the ‘old’ South Africa. While Bantustans leaders drew their state apartheid salaries, in-
dividuals such as Kasrils lived for years in real danger: as witness the murder by SADF for-
ces of the NEC member Cassius Make.
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PROVIDING AN economic background, a discussion of the working
class movement of South Africa, and a history of the groups that were
formed. There is also an essay on the organization of trade unions,
pen-pictures of some of the leading members of the groups, a bibliog-
raphy of works on the Trotskyists and the movement that grew out of
their activities in the Cape.

Finally there is a review of three books that are apposite to this study.

Caption: Top: Workers of the World Unite. Bottom: The Inauguration
of the Lenin Club (Left Opposition), Cape Town 29 July 1933,

From the family album of Anne (Averbach) Bloch.



A Note On The Primary
SOURCE MATERIAL USED IN THE ESSAYS

THE HISTORY of the South African Trotskyists during the 1930s and into the next decade
was never made available or discussed with new recruits. There were vague stories, but no hard
facts. No former member of the groups wrote about his experiences, and there was a silence
that was so extensive that some comrade’s names could not be mentioned. I learnt in the 1940s
that there had been a one-time nun in the leadership of the Workers Party of South Africa. But
no details were available, even though she had died (as I later found) in 1942. The leading
member of the WPSA, if mentioned at all, was always referred to as ‘Mr B', That was all. Even
when we leamnt in the 1970s that he was Mr Burlak we were never told his first name.The other
main group, the Fourth International Organisation of South Africa (a pretentious name), was
open, but we learnt little about its members or what they did. There was perhaps little to con-
ceal about their activities, because they did so very little.

The history of the groups in Johannesburg was also unknown. Nobody in Johannesburg
had kept any records, there were no letters or minutes, and the names of most of those who
joined the Trotskyist groups were not recorded. There was nothing, until the documents of the
liberal Institute of South Africa became available and Lynn Saffery’s files were opened. Only
then did the story of Max Gordon become available. There were a few later discoveries, but like
the tale of the three monkeys, nothing was seen, said, or heard.

Then, in a deserted house in Cape Town, once the residence of Clare Goodlatte, a box of
documents was found in the early 1980s. There is still a mystery surrounding this discovery.
They apparently came into the possession of a ‘stroller’ (a person who lived on the proceeds of
materials taken from deserted or demolished properties) who sold them in two portions. I was
able to get copies of both sections. After maintaining absolute secrecy over five decades, the
documents disclosing the inner working of the major section was hawked and sold. The papers
included draft articles for the journal The Spark, minutes of meetings, documents, letters,
membership forms and minutes. These documents (totalling a thousand or more), once un-
ravelled, provided an unique picture.

This collection was complemented by letters written by Clare Goodlatte (the ‘Red Nun') to
a former student, found in the South African Library and supplemented by a search in the
Department of Education at Rhodes University, Grahamstown, where she had once sat as
principal of the teachers training college.

[ have found no documents of FIOSA. But when [ visited the Library of Contemporary In-
ternational Documents at Nanterre in 1991 to look at the papers of the United Secretariat of
the Fourth International, I found a card referring to the papers of FIOSA. These cannot be
viewed until the late 1990s without the permission of the unknown depositor. This continues
the politics of madness. Even public papers in Europe only have a 30 years rule, and that is ab-
surd. [ had no time to wait for permission, nor was | interested. If some historian wishes to in-
vestigate these documents at a later date, that gift to man- or woman-kind will be available to
them. Except for the material in the WPSA collection, and a few documents in the Trotsky ar-
chives at Harvard, nothing else has been found.

The documents of the WIL were largely destroyed when its rooms were burnt by arsonists.
The papers and printed publications I salvaged at the time were placed in the care of the
University of the Witwatersrand, and these were photographed at a later date for the Hoover
Institute. I copied other materials from the collection held by Nachum Sneh in Beer Sheba.
Nobody, other than myself, has written about the activities of the WIL.



An Economic and Political Background

THE ECONOMIC BACKGROUND
TO SOUTH AFRICA

THE HISTORY of Southern Africa stretches back over millennia. It is a
story of peoples who occupied lands before meeting with, and being con-
quered or incorporated by, peoples who moved from their original lands
near the Cameroons across Africa and down the east coast. Some time after
300 AD the forebears of the African people entered the region now known as
South Africa. Crafts were developed, metals mined, trade conducted and
then seemingly abandoned until the predominant occupations became hunt-
ing, cattle herding and/or cultivation of crops.

This was the position when the first whites arrived to set up a refreshment
station for the ships of the Dutch East Indian Company (DEIC) in their pas-
sage to the East Indies. In the seventeenth century merchant capitalism, as-
sisted by the growth of shipping fleets, was the prevailing form of enterprise,
and it was the might of the Heeren 17 (the directorate of the DEIC), not to
mention their arrogance and aggression, that allowed the Dutch to take con-
trol of the Indies, and subsequently the Cape. The men who arrived at the
Cape were servants of the DEIC, and were required to stay within the juris-
diction of the Dutch-appointed governor. Their task was to provision the
passing ships and to feed and protect the local settlement. Men came first,
and because there was a dearth of Dutch women, the earliest marriages or
liaisons included many with the women of the local Khoi or San clans (known
derisively as Hottentots and Bushmen respectively).

The story of the region was of the dispossession of the local inhabitants: of
their cattle and their land, of their decimation and their reduction to ser-
vitude. The DEIC also sent prisoners from Malacca and the east (described
later as Malay people) who were reduced to slavery. These people provided
a labour force that was otherwise not available, and in time they rose to be-
come the artisans employed in the Cape. More workers became available for
the white settlers when the Khoi were subjugated and the African peoples
conquered.

Ethnicity divided the growing Cape settlement, and yet, at first, the colour
barrier was set aside for those who were converted to Christianity, and ‘free’
men and women arose from the baptismal font. Even at the topmost levels
colour was a matter of small concern; one of the appointed Governors being
of ‘mixed’ blood. Only later were rigid ethnic boundaries defined and har-
dened, and religious conversion was no longer a passage to ‘freedom”.

The Governors at the Cape could not, or would not, control the outward
movement of the settlers, and extended the colony’s boundaries to mamntain
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their control. Nor could the Governors stop trading, cattle rustling or clashes
on the ever-moving borders, as the settlers met with African peoples, them-
selves moving down the coast. When the Xhosa people were confronted by
migrating settlers in what is now the eastern Cape, they were defeated in
frontier wars. This was the beginning of the subjugation of an entire people
and their absorption into the settler economy as a servile class. The posses-
sion of the Cape by the Dutch prevailed until Britain, during the Napoleonic
wars, claimed that its sea route to India was in danger. It occupied the region
and added the Cape to its Empire.

Marx has written in purple prose of the disastrous effect of the expansion
of capitalism on the people of the colonies, and this needs no repetition.
However, he argued that capitalism, with all its faults, transformed the world,
established a single world market and undermined, if not destroyed, archaic
social systems. This was the way of progress, and, concerned as Socialists
might be for the colonised people, the sweep of capitalism across the globe
was necessary and inevitable.! The task of the colonies was to supply raw
materials for the European countries, act as military or supply bases, and
trade with their ‘mother’ countries.

The settlers at the Cape were able to supply passing ships, but had little to
trade, and they found no minerals to mine. This meant that the region that
was to grow into the Cape colony was poor and remained poor, despite the
development of its farmlands. Ostrich feathers, wool and hides and an in-
ferior wine were not the basis for large-scale capital accumulation.

The first significant change in the nineteenth century occurred in or
around 1836, when groups of Dutch in the eastern Cape, rejecting controls
imposed by the new British administration — particularly on slavery and the
status of Africans — crossed the coastal mountain ranges and moved into the
interior of the country. Current research suggests that the interior had been
emptied by slavers (of Portuguese or of Cape 01-igi11).2 This revisionist view,
still hotly denied by historians who maintain that the people of the interior
had scattered because of Zulu expansionism, has still to be proven. But
whatever the reason, large portions of the interior were desolate, and the
trekkers occupied the land in what became the Orange Free State, carving
out huge areas for themselves as farmland, and incorporating previous oc-
cupants as labourers or labour tenants,

The Dutch also moved into Natal, where they came into conflict with the
Zulu people, who were ultimately defeated in battle. The British followed,
and there were further battles to secure the subjugation of the indigenous
peoples. The control by white settlers led inevitably to the opening of the in-
terior to trade. Sugar cane was tried in Natal, and its success led to the impor-
tation of labourers from Asia. First there were indentured Indian labourers,
1ntr0ducc!d to work on the sugar fields in 1860 in the colony named Natal.
Alfter serving their time they were repatriated unless they chose to stay, either
to work their own plots of land or to move into the towns as labourers. Then
in 1905, after the South African war, when Africans were reluctant to work at



AN ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL BACKGROUND 55

lowered wages, Chinese labourers were imported to work on the gold mines,
This complicated the race question in South Africa even further, until they
were repatriated after agitation in South Africa and Britain.

This is jumping ahead. In the mid-nineteenth century there was a thin
sprinkling of whites in the interior of the country, and a British administration
and British police or troops in the Cape and Natal colonies. This was in keep-
ing with the British policy of protecting the sea route to its imperial treasures
in the East. The interior region was less important, although the Boer
republics, named the Orange Free State and the South African Republic
(SAR, later the Transvaal), were annexed and then freed. It is not always cer-
tain whether such moves were the result of local administration initiatives or
were ordered from London. The Treasury in London wept crocodile tears
every time more money was requisitioned for troop movements — but the
money was always forthcoming.

Yet, it must be stressed, there was no unity in the subcontinent. Even the
South African Republic consisted of semi-autonomous communities who
policed their own regions and owed minimum allegiance to the central
government. There was even less contact with scattered African peoples, and
there were three regions, Basutoland, Bechuanaland and Swaziland, that
gained autonomy outside the white controlled regions and maintained a
tenuous independence by accepting, or appealing for, British trusteeship.
The subjugation of those people who fell within the borders of white settle-
ment was achieved through skirmishes or wars, and over several decades they
were incorporated into the labour force for the whites. Ultimately everyone
fell under the control of one overarching economy - but inside this economic
control, local African peoples maintained aspects of their past social struc-
tures and their original polities. These ossified and were converted into
branches of administrative control.

The Mineral Revolution

In 1868 diamonds were discovered at Kimberley inside the Orange Free
State. In a diplomatic move that was little less than criminal, the region was
annexed by the Cape. There was a massive injection of labour from across
Southern and Portuguese East Africa as the digging commenced for these
precious stones. With the discovery of diamonds the economic prospects of
the country were transformed. These stones provided a sudden and instant
source of finance for diggers, the diamond buyers and the Cape administra-
ton. The railway, which had not previously exceeded 10 miles in and around
Cape Town, was extended to Kimberley, 500 miles away.

People from across South Africa, together with adventurers from around
the world, flocked to the diamond fields, and although black labour was uscd
lo dig the extensive fields, there was a place at one end of the diggings for a
small group of African and other entrepreneurs who mined on thcir_ OWN ac-
Count. Most significantly, the diamond buyers, who concentrated this opera-
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tion in fewer and fewer hands, acquired wealth on a scale not previously seen
in South Africa.” Some of this money was to be used for opening up the gold
mines in 1886 in and around Johannesburg (or Goli, the city of gold) on what
became known as the Witwatersrand (the Ridge of White Waters). The dis-
covery of gold brought in foreign finance capital, and transformed the sub-
continent. This was the money commodity, and there was no shortage of
investors. Yet there was a paradox in this new activity. The shaft sinking,
which eventually took the miners a mile below the surface to the low grade
ore, together with the equipment to recover the gold, required investments of
millions of pounds. It was because gold was being mined that investors were
attracted. This was because the demand for this commodity could not be ex-
hausted, and dividends, low as they were, were assured. Yet this was capital
accumulation with a catch. The low grade ore on the Witwatersrand had to
compete with gold that was panned with little capital outlay as nuggets and
with the store of gold that stretched back to antiquity. Consequently, the
price set for gold coming onto the market was far below its value, that is, the
price that would have been charged for any other product requiring the same
amount of work. Also, as in all colonies (whether physically or economically
dominated), dividends had to be shared between local entrepreneurs and
foreign finance houses. More importantly, the price of gold was internation-
ally determined and fixed with little regard to local conditions. Because the
price was pegged at a level that would not upset the world’s money exchan-
ges, the price per fine ounce was kept well below its value (measured in hours
of labour required for its extraction) in South Africa.

The mineowners protested that the price was too low, and so did the
government, but they were not going to stop production. Consequently, the
one factor in production that could be kept low, that of wages paid to African
labourers, was pared. Every means was employed to ensure that workers
were paid the lowest possible wages. This was managed at several levels:
labourers was imported, the work force was divided, and the white labour
sector paid at levels that were adjudged well above the cost of labour in any
other working class occupation. The African labourers, a large part recruited
from outside the country’s borders, were employed for fixed short terms and
then sent back home. The workers were housed in single sex compounds
which were sealed to outside organisers. Even the African workers were
divided, with specified tasks assigned to men of different ethnic origin, the
division bolstered by separating dormitories, the heads of which were ethni-
cally-based by installing tribal sub-chiefs. The many-faceted means of divid-
ing the workers extended from the differential use of men from different
tribes i in selected mines to the fostering of tribal dance teams and the weekly
open air competitions sponsored by the mines,

There were historic factors that allowed for the division between white
and black workers. There had been a large importation of skilled workers
from Europe and a much larger number of unskilled African labourers from
local territories. The whites were housed separately from blacks and were
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paid 15 or more times the rate received by Africans. Even the work skills
were defined on ethnic grounds, excluding Africans from certain tasks.
There were also differential tasks given to tribesmen and these came to ac-
quire a particular status. Quite how this evolved is uncertain, but the effect
was clear: there was intense intertribal rivalry.

The opening of the goldfields led to a further expansion of the railways,
and with them the docks. The railroad carried goods, both exports and im-
ports, across 1000 miles from Johannesburg to Cape Town and 500 miles to
Durban, displacing dispatch riders and wagons alike. As the system ex-
panded and reached Portuguese East Africa and Rhodesia, the labour force
grew, bringing in thousands of men. Once again, segregation was imposed.
Engine driving and even stoking was reserved for whites, whilst blacks were
relegated to permanent way repairs or cabin services.

Originally the mines were in the hands of Uitlanders (foreigners), but the
sites were in the South African Republic (SAR), a Boer territory. This led to
the infamous Jameson raid in 1895, with the minefields as the target. Backed
by Cecil Rhodes and Joseph Chamberlain, in the best tradition of age old
pirates, this failed. That left only one option for the gung-ho imperialists: the
SAR was conquered and annexed by Britain in the war of 1899- 190281t is
one of the myths of the time that the war of 1899 was waged across an ethnic
divide of Boer against Brit, in which blacks were excluded. But this is a gross
oversimplification. Several European powers gave moral backing to the
Dutch, and a section of the more militant white workers supported the Boer
government, whom they saw as their protectors against the mine magnates.
Blacks intervened at various levels. However, the crucial fact is that the
British army prevailed in the war even though the cost in men and money was
high. Britain gained firm control of the territories and also of the source of
gold - the money commaodity of the era in which sterling (linked to gold)
reigned supreme.

The war between Britain and the Boer republics has been a centre of his-
torical attraction for many authors. That is understandable. However, the
description of military action in 1900, interesting as it may be and important
for an understanding of the origins of trench warfare, does not provide any
insight into the events leading to that war, or of its social consequences. There
can be little doubt that the war was fought in order to gain control of the
country which contained these crucial gold fields, and that after the con-
clusion of hostilities political power over the country was replaced in the
hands of the Boer leaders. The bitterness left by the war, however, led to the
unfolding of an Afrikaner nationalism and a legacy of hatred of the British
and foreign financiers. It was during the war that JA Hobson developed his
Ideas on parasitic rentier capitalism, It was Hobson who wrote vitriolic at-
tacks on imperialism, and the message was taken up by some Afrikaner
l?—adcrs. It was thus no accident that Dr DF Malan, future leader on the Na-
tonal Party, spoke in 1913 in favour of Socialism and praised Marx for his in-
Sight into capitalism.
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The single greatest factor that motivated the mineowners was the need to
depress the wages of the black workers, both before the war and in the con-
struction of the subsequent state. They saw that a movement of black workers
between mines allowed them to bid up wages, and they consequently set out
to minimise competition among themselves and stop the free movement of
the workers. It was for this reason that the Chamber of Mines and the Wit-
watersrand Native Labour Association (Wanela) were formed. The latter
had recruiting agents at every main centre to find labour, and obtained an an-
nual levy of men from the Portuguese.

The Chamber imposed an internal pass (the notorious pass law) on a
reluctant SAR administration. This was the basis of the law that restricted
black movement until revoked in recent years. There were other factors that
motivated the mineowners in their attacks on the Boer states. The mines
needed a unified state, both for the recruitment of labourers and for their
control, and for a unified transport system. The Boers, predominantly
farmers, had little interest in supplying black labour to the mines — in conflict
with their own needs — and their resources were too slender to allow them to
police the pass or the liquor laws as demanded by the mine management.

The British state was called in to clear out Boer obstacles, and Milner, an
agent of the state, created the centralised unified bureaucracy to enforce the
regulations required by the mineowners. He and his imported officials
(Milner’s ‘kindergarten’) laid the foundations of the modern South African
state, and imposed some of his own racist laws on the country, in particular
the discriminations against Indians that were to trouble that community
through the coming years.

The population of South Africa was always small, estimated at four mil-
lion at the end of the nineteenth century (one million of them white). The
country attracted few immigrants, and the local growth rate was small. To the
Dutch were added French Huguenots and German immigrants, British set-
tlers (after 1814), and a trickle of immigrants from Europe. Separately at
first, and then together, the whites — whatever their internal differences -
reduced the colonised people to an inferior status. Even growing class
divisions among the whites that came with the development of the economy
only reinforced ethnic divisions as each group specialised (or indeed, had no
option but to take on certain trades).

The importation of skilled craftsmen and miners from Europe led almost
automatically to the importation of trade unions, with many of the original
sections being branches of British unions. This right to organise which helped
to advance the workers’ rights and allowed for strike action stood in vivid
contrast to the illegalisation of black strike action and a refusal to grant them
state recognition under (much later) industrial legislation. If there had been
no colour bar in employment this would have opened up that differential
anyway. As it was, the already existent racial differences (in wages, housing,
social and sporting activity, and so on) were buttressed by the grotccﬂon or
advances of white living standards relative to those of Africans.
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Even more significantly for the period that followed, the capitalists who
owned the gold mines made one crucial concession over labour policy.
Though the white miners were defeated in two strikes in 1907 and 1913, and
bombed into submission in the general strike of 1922, and had their ciaims
negated in a subsequent court case, they were allowed to retain their
privileged position even when it was no longer justified economically. This
helped bolster the new form of racism that was associated with the control of
a sector of the labour market.

During the first decades of the twentieth century, there were three main
centres of economic development: on the white owned farms, and in the two
mining areas: Kimberley for diamonds and the Witwatersrand for gold. Else-
where, the economy of the country was stagnant. The internal market was
small and relatively poor, with the African population unable to purchase
anything but essentials.” There was a small expansion of manufacture during
the First World War, and then stagnation again until after the lifting of the
depression of 1929-31.1° The finance houses associated with mining capital
saw little reason for investing in manufacture. It was cheaper to import goods
from Europe, including materials for building, bricks excepted. Consequent-
ly, African men who came into (or were allowed into) the towns were
employed generally as domestic servants and gardeners, and even as washer-
men. Only a small number entered trades, and then merely as unskilled
workers, the main occupations of whom consisted of carrying tools and
materials, digging trenches, storing or distributing goods, or making tea and
running errands. This was the beginning of a workforce but not yet a working
class. When the African working class was being formed in the 1930, it was
concentrated along the Witwatersrand and in small pockets around the ports
of Cape Town, Durban and Port Elizabeth. The workers in the western Cape
were predominantly Coloured, and Indians were a significant force in Natal,
although here too they were dominant as waiters or barmen in the hotels.

African women played almost no part in the early industrial period.
Where they came into town (and they were restricted both by regulations of
government and control by African tribal chiefs), they were confined to
domestic service, replacing the African men. Others brewed beer illegally,
and some were full or part time prostitutes.

There was a growing informal sector. Africans became hawkers or even
shopkeepers, craftsmen who made furniture or offered services in the black
townships. A small number entered the church (and in particular the inde-
pendent churches), became teachers (with a primary school plus two years
teacher’s training qualification), or found some place in the police force,
Prison service and so on. This was barely a petit-bourgeoisie, and there were
never more than a handful that could be called well-to-do. .

If the mines and later the industries constituted the crowning heights of
the economy, agriculture was always a source of exports, earning a large por-
tion of foreign exchange, and also growing food for the population. Further-
more, the white agricultural region was collectively the largest employer of
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labour in the country. However, as in all colonies, the pattern of farming ac-
tivity was not simple. Until 1936 Africans were allowed to own land — mostly
on a communal basis — on about seven per cent of the land area of the
country. Legislation in 1936 provided for the doubling of this area, but only as
Trust Land under tight government control.” An African peasant class, sup-
plying produce for the market, had come into existence at the end of the
nineteenth century, but had been squeezed out by the white farmers. There-
after, only a minority, mostly associated with chiefly families, acquired
wealth. Most of the rest (about one-third of the African population) were
reduced to subsistence farming, and lived in the Reserves only when they
were not seeking employment in the towns. An even larger number of
Africans were squatters on the white farms, in the Transvaal and Orange Free
State, providing labour in exchange for the right to farm plots for part of the
year, or they were farm tenants or labourers. Among the latter were men
removed from the towns after breaking segregatory laws, and who were used
as cheap convict labour. In the western Cape Coloured labourers were
employed, paid in part by the notorious tot (liquor) system. In Natal Africans
had largely replaced Indian labourers in the cane fields.

The demands of the rural population were diverse, but most demanded
the enlargement of land holdings in the Reserves, or in the white controlled
farms, and the return of what the tenant farmers and squatters saw as their
own land. The complaints of the farm labourers and the people on the Reser-
ves took in the need for better social amenities, for schools and health, for
more time to tend their own plots, and for the right to leave the farmer or in-
deed the rural areas.

1 have concentrated attention on the black population, because they were
in the majority, and because they alone could form the mainstay of an opposi-
tion to the ruling class. But there were obviously other people who filtered
into industry, both from abroad and from the whites already resident in the
country. The latter included large numbers of young women, and some men,
who left the rural areas and sought work in the towns. They came from
families of white labour tenants who were the first victims of the depression in
the late 1920s."* When they entered the towns they were employed as domes-
tic workers or as waitresses, in the sweated clothing trade, and in sweet, can-
ning, tobacco, chemical and other burgeoning workshops. The men found
employment on the trams and the railways, and in the trades. They were
small in number, but they played a significant rdle in the working class move-
ment in the 1930s, and were among the more militant white workers.

White immigrants came to South Africa throughout the twentieth cen-
tury, always in smaller numbers than those who went to the Americas or
Australasia, but they arrived and included in their ranks entrepreneurs and
workers. They brought with them some capital or their ability to work, and
among the latter there were many with experience in the European labour
movement. There were others, particularly Jews, who brought with them a
tradition of Socialism, Many immigrants joined the impoverished white farm
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workers in the newly established manufacturing plants in the early 1930s.
Their work conditions were miserable and their wages were low. These es-
tablishments were dwarfed by the mining houses and state enterprises, which
now included the railways and docks, the water and electricity industries, the
state steel enterprise, and the enterprises controlled by municipal, provincial
and state bodies, But it was the small industries that provided the base for a
new and militant trade union movement. However, with few exceptions, the
workers were indelibly divided by colour, and the few instances of collabora-
tion across the colour line are noteworthy as exceptions to the rule.

Although the number of black workers grew, and there was significant or-
ganisation during the 1930s, their position in production only altered ap-
preciably during the Second World War when they replaced the whites who
had volunteered for service in the army. There was an increase in the number
of small workshops to replace previously imported goods, road building was
accelerated for potential defence purposes, and gold production was in-
creased to pay for Britain’s war machine. Indeed, some of the specie was
shipped direct to the USA on Britain’s account. Agriculture also expanded
to feed the troops in Africa, for export to West Africa and for the local
market. These were all areas of increased black employment.

An urbanised black working class, as distinct from a labour force (and
migrant at that), was coming into existence. The time for organisation had ar-
nived, and among those actively engaged in organising the trade union move-
ment in the Transvaal were Trotskyists. Some of that story is told in the pages
that follow.

Notes

1. Mandsts got it wrong. The ‘archaic’ social systems were undermined and transformed but
survived to become instruments of colonial control. Rosa Luxemburg in her Accumulation
of Capital was particularly faulty on this issue.

2.If correct, this will replace earlier beliefs that the country had been left desolate by a warring
Zulu people.

3. Families who had to work for the farmer in exchange for small plots of land which they could
work on their own account,

4. It seems most likely that the factor leading to the repatriation of the Chinese was their in-
creasingly militant protests — a factor that is not mentioned in most texts. White workers
were in the forefront of the agijtation for the removal of the Chinese. This helped protect
the privileged position of the mineworkers by removing potential competitors.

5. The concentration of buying, ultimately in the hands of Cecil Rhodes, kept control of the
market supply. This maintained the price of gem stones at an artificially high level.

6. This was not the first such annexation. The British had annexed the Orange Free State and
the SAR in the late 1870s, and had relinquished them after an inconclusive war, with clauses
that were a constant source of irritation.

7. Malan, a doctor of theology, was a publicist and Afrikaner National Party leader, He served
in the government in the 1920s, and was Prime Minister in the National Party government
In 1948 - hence the use of the name Malanite 10 describe narrow white nationalism.

8. The system was made more complex in the 1920s by the government's policy of promotng
the employment of whites during the periods of economic stagnation and depression, and
the use of such policies to replace Indian workers on the railways.
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9. This included manufactured goods like primus stoves, oil lamps, candles, bicycles and suit-
cases, gramophones and records, foodstuffs like condensed milk, cigarettes and, illegally
until the 1970s, wines, beer and liquor.

10. In the 1930s South Africa was able to get out of the depression by going off the gold stand-
ard and benefitting by the rise in the price of gold. The fact that in the current depression
South Africa has not been able to repeat its past practice is an indication of the changing
role of gold within the world monetary system.

11. The extra land was only partly acquired, and there was no relaxation of land control despite
the growth of the rural population and evidence of gross overcrowding.

12. The depression in the countryside started in South Africa, as elsewhere, about two years
before the Great Crash in 1929. This was the final straw for most farm tenants, and in the
first instance young Afrikaner women, who did not earn money in the rural areas, left home
to earn money in the towns. Their wages were miserable, but part of what they received was
remitted to their families on the farms. They became the mainstay of the militant unions in
the light industries.

RESISTANCE AND SOCIALISM
IN SOUTH AFRICA

THE HISTORY of working class struggle in South Africa, which extends
back to the nineteenth century, matched the bitterness and the ferocity of
class struggles elsewhere. However, the conflicts in South Africa were more
often noted for the manner in which the class struggle was subverted and
converted into racial clashes.One of the first campaigns fought by white
workers was on the diamond fields in the 1870s when the men rebelled
against body searches for hidden gem stones. These men, supported by black
workers, won their battle with the mineowners. But the co-operation was one
sided, and only the whites won release from this obnoxious procedure.

This victory only served to separate blacks from whites, and set a pattern
that persisted, with few exceptions, throughout the history of working class
struggles. The struggles continued and became fiercer and bloodier, reach-
ing a peak in the general strike of 1922, when General Smuts brought out the
bombers to subdue the workers.

The history of black labour struggles, which did not often converge with
the struggles of the whites, extends back to the first master-servant relations.
The fullest accounts are of local resistance to tyrannical land owners or
whites who misused their labourers, but there is no satisfactory overall his-
tory. Some are chronicled, and it is quite clear that there was no support from
the white workers. In this colonial society the fight against racial oppression
was to become inseparable from the struggles for ‘liberation’, the class lines
being blurred by colour differentiation. In the light of state power and nation-
al oppression, it was inevitable that disaffection expressed itself in religious
separation, of appeals to spirits to assist their people, and of chiliastic hopes
that the local oppressors would be smitten by some foreign agf:ru:y.t The his-
torical accounts include cattle killing by the Xhosa people in 1856, and the
many incidents in which it was believed that magic water could protect
people from bullets,
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These important instances of resistance fed into the myths of nationalist
movements, but, at the time, they were local and community bound. The dis-
crimination embedded in legislation and social practice, together with the
gross inequalities in living standards, led each community to develop its own
forms of struggle.

The earliest Socialist groups seem to have been established at the begin-
ning of the twentieth century. They were all white, and were often confined to
particular communities. The ideas expressed in these groups ranged over the
spectrum of Socialist thinking elsewhere. Syndicalists, Social Democrats and
ethnic separatists intermingled, some members belonging to more than one
group —and there were changes of affiliation over time.The Jews brought
with them methods of organisation that were rooted in Eastern Europe. In
particular, they formed branches of the Bund, the specifically Jewish working
class movement that had built some of the first trade unions in Tsarist Russia.
They were also immersed in a particular Yiddish culture, and combined this
with their Socialism. Similar groups, whose history has not been recorded,
were built by German and other immigrant communities, None of them seem
to have established links with the Social Democratic Federation that was
strongest in the Cape, and which took its inspiration from the British move-
ment of the same name.

There was one other significant early group, strongest on the Wit-
watersrand, that grouped itself around the Voice of Labour, with a strong
Syndicalist tendency. It is known more particularly for the activities of
‘Pickhandle’ Mary. The name was acquired when Mary Fitzgerald led a band
of strikers against mounted police who wielded the infamous pickhandles.
Picking up batons which the police had dropped, Mary and her followers
wielded them against their original owners. Thereafter her cohorts broke up
meetings of their opponents with the now notorious pickhandles, and she was
always to be found when demonstrators were needed during strike action.
Yet even Mary Fitzgerald, who created a living myth around her activitics,
who worked with the miners’ union and then organised the first general
women’s trade union, appeared after the war as a highly vocal racist. When
she died many years later, an alcoholic recluse, her passing went largely un-
noticed.

The South African Labour Party (SALP), with its strongest section in the
Transvaal, was established in the image of its British counterpart, but was
Openly racist, and its members could justly claim that they had been the first
to call for complete segregation. By that means, they said, they hoped to
Protect the interests of the white workers from unfair competition, and main-
tain their standard of living. The SALP was from its inception a parliamen-
tary party, claiming, as in Britain, to represent the (white) working class and
t}_le trade unions. But there is little evidence of the trade unions providing the
kind of support that was apparent in Britain. _

In sharp contrast to this, a small band of white, mainly Jewish, professional
Men and women gave their fullest support to Gandhi in his campaigns agaimst
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discrimination in South Africa. They were Tolstoyans rather than Socialists,
but they mixed with and influenced others who had Socialist sympathies.
Among these was one of South Africa’s most original thinkers, the novelist
and essayist Olive Schreiner, whose ideas were partly rooted in the newly
emergent Socialist movements in Europe. It is still not possible to estimate
her influence on Socialists in South Africa. Her messages were inspirational,
but always ‘from afar’, because she was never a joiner of groups. From
Schreiner came a militant feminism and adherence to the suffragette move-
ment (but only if the vote was extended to all women), a strong antipathy to
discrimination on grounds of colour or ethnicity, a desire to right the wrongs
of women workers (following her writings in Women and Labour), and a
rationalism that bordered on agnosticism. Acquiring some of her values from
radicals in Britain, Schreiner also condemned the Tsarist regime in Russia for
its oppression, and in particular its anti-Semitism. This made her an early
champion of the Bolshevik regime in its fight against the White generals. In
the latter period of her life, she inspired a number of radicals, mainly at-
tached to the University of Cape Town, but they, too, remained outside for-
mal organisation, and the extent of their influence on the Socialist movement
is a matter of c:onjeu::turr::.2 Among the whites there were other radical
thinkers in the country: Harriet Colenso (daughter of the apostate Bishop
Colenso), who gave her support to the formation of the ANC; Ivon Jones,
who came to South Africa as a devout Unitarian and ended his life as a Bol-
shevik; Clare Goodlatte, a nun in the Anglican community and principal of
their teacher’s training college in Grahamstown, who retired in 1920, shed
her religion and ended her career as editor of the Trotskyist journal, The
Spark. But the effect of their ideas, and the extent of their influence, has not
been fully explored.

It is still arguable whether the majority of white workers, and particularly
those who came from Britain, were ever involved in the Socialist movement.
They did join trade unions, and some were associated with the Labour Party,
but, except for a few obvious exceptions, their activities were not ostensibly
Socialist. Afrikaner workers, who had their own political agenda, also or-
ganised and used the strike weapon to improve their work conditions. Al-
though some seemed to be moving towards the SALP before the First World
War, they were seduced by the call of Nationalists to close ranks against
foreign overlords when war was declared. Whether their joining the Labour
Party would have altered that movement is an open question, but their com-
mutment to Socialism was not very strong, despite the appeal of the anti-im-
perialist slogans of the time. Like the English speaking workers, they gave no
support to the struggles of other communities, and although there must have
been some for whom colour was not an issue, most were probably as racist s
the rest of the Afrikaner community.

This racism, or at least indifference to the problems faced by other com-
munities, was not one sided. The leaders of black movements, and many of
their constituents, were also locked into conflicts with those who were ethni-
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cally different. But, like all generalisations, there were exceptions. There
were differences inside each ethnic group, some class based, that need ex-
amination to understand the complexity of the situation. For example, the In-
dians, a pariah community in the eyes of the government, were far from
homogeneous, and were split in their methods of struggle. And the differen-
ces were based on the sharp class divisions in the community. The middle and
lower middle class followed Gandhi in his use of ‘passive resistance’ and
boycotts to remove discrimination (and racism), but the farm labourers on
the sugar cane fields, living at subsistence level, ceased work or rioted during
the Indian passive resistance campaigns in 1913, against the wishes of
Gandhi. In like fashion the Coloured leaders demanded incorporation into
the white dominated society, whilst the Coloured and African women of the
Orange Free State, with a different set of objectives, marched in unison in
1913 to stop the application of passes Lo women.

There were some expressions of solidarity across the ethnic divide and
some blatant examples of racial indifference if not antagonism in those early
years of struggle. In 1914, for example, Gandhi suspended his marches in
order not to embarrass the government when it was confronted by a strike of
railway workers, and the ANC in conference turned down a motion of sup-
port for the white miners in their strike action. This was but the mirror image,
even if understandable, of white working class attitudes. Despite the call of a
few white working class leaders for class solidarity, the whites involved in
strikes in 1913-14 stood apart from their black fellow workers, and in one in-
stance, on the Jagersfontein diamond mines, helped the police suppress
black workers who rioted after one of their number had been killed by a white
worker.

The few trade union leaders who publicly expressed support for the In-
dians in struggle were condemned by their own rank and file. It was, there-
fore, not exceptional for the Coloured and African leaders to condemn the
white miners in the general strike of 1922, and for white and black workers to
be involved in racist clashes during the strike.

The South African Native National Congress (later renamed the African
National Congress) was not the first ethnically organised movement, nor the
largest. Yet its potential constituency led to its later predominance in the
country as the representative of the African people. It was launched in 1912
by a small group of Africans, many of them professional men. The Congress
had little formal organisation outside a national conference that was con-
vened annually. It confined itself to appearances before commissions, to
delegations and to petitions. The Congress ignored the early strike move-
ment of 1913, and it was only after the First World War that its leadership was
involved in some of the urban protests, both at the workplace and in an anti-
Pass campaign on the Witwatersrand. But their involvement was short lived,
and the leading figures withdrew from activities when their followers took to
the streets.
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The closest that the white workers came to class struggle was at a trade
union level. These too had a strong ethnic base, aiming in part to keep the
ratio of white to black miners constant. The miners’ strikes, repeating in 1913
astruggle that had been taken up in 1907, were a matter of life and death. The
main demand was for a reduction of the number of drills (used by Africans
underground), and a shortening of the time spent at the ore face. Although
there can be little doubt that there was a racist element in the demand which
would have cut the ratio of white to black employees, recent research shows
that the primary concern of the miners was to prevent the spread of miners’
phthisis which reduced the working lives of miners to four years, and actual
life to seven years. Although a reduction of time at the ore face and a reduc-
tion of the number of drills at work would have resulted in only a slight im-
provement, the demands were rational and reasonable. The result, however,
was a brutal suppression of the white miners’ strike in 1913, including a mas-
sacre of white citizens who had gathered to hear a call for a general strike.”

There were some expressions of solidarity with black struggles from a
minority of white miners’ leaders, They urged African mineworkers to join
them in strike action, and some spoke publicly in support of the Indian strug-
gle. Yet, as mentioned above, this was not reciprocated by leaders of the
Coloured, Indian or even African movements. Reasons were not always
given, and some of the motives are suspect, but white workers, who showed
few signs of class solidarity, did nothing to bridge the racial gap.

The struggles of the white workers followed the trade union tradition that
workers had brought from Europe —but only at the lowest level. Their racism
(whether overt or covert) was even more rampant than that of their
employers. But the class struggle did not need examples from abroad, and
many confrontations were due to bad working conditions and an intran-
sigence on the part of the ruling class. The government, in alliance with the
employers, were prepared to shoot unarmed citizens, and mowed them
down in 1913, It was a brutal suppression, and this was followed in 1914, when
the railwaymen came out on strike, by a declaration of martial law, the invest-
ment of the Trades Hall where the strike leaders were in session, and their il-
legal deportation, It was this action by the government that led to the
radicalisation of men inside a very tame and segregationist Labour Party, and
took them eventually into the Communist Party.

The First World War was the dividing line between small-scale local
groups and attempts at building a Socialist movement on a national level.
Taking their stance on the resolution of the International Socialist Bureau
against the war, and already angered by Smuts and the government after the
strikes of 1913-14, a group in the Transvaal broke away from the Labour Party
to form the International Socialist League (ISL), first as pacifists and then as
international Socialists. They were isolated from the English speaking
workers, who supported the war, and from the Afrikaner workers who op-
posed Britain and the Allies. This was one of the factors that led the leaders
of the ISL to turn to the black workers. To them goes the credit of having been
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the first to create a black workers’ union, the International Workers of Africa.
Yet there was doubt about the role the black worker would play in the truns-
formation of the country. The issue received publicity in 1919 when
municipal workers in Johannesburg paralysed the town by cutting the power
supplies, and established a ‘Board of Management” which they called a
‘soviet’. Meanwhile, their supporters attacked African workers who were in-
volved in an anti-pass campaign, and the ‘soviet” leaders made a gratuitous
offer to the government that they were prepared to form defence groups to
protect white women and children. SP Bunting, one of the three leaders of
the ISL, rounded on the white workers for the pretentiousness of their use of
the word ‘soviet’ and for their racism. Jones, probably the most outstanding
of all the early Socialist leaders, used the pages of the journal to criticise
Bunting, and came to the defence of those ‘on strike’.®

But Bunting was also unable to chart the possible evolution of the African
working class. In a statement that is reminiscent of the Narodniks of Tsarist
Russia, he said that after the Socialist revolution (by whites!), Africans would
be given back their land and saved from their miserable existence in the
towns. Jones also thought that the white workers would overthrow the
capitalist regime, but added as a corollary that the white workers could not
sustain their revolution unless it was spread to the blacks within 24 hours.

It was the ISL which formed the central core of the Communist Party
when it was launched in 1921, incorporating groups in Cape Town and Dur-
ban. Their conception of South Africa must be understood in terms of the
class forces they could see at the time. The white workers seemed to con-
stitute a force that could spearhead a Socialist movement. Africans might
need sympathy, but were too far removed from the industrial proletariat that
might take power. In their internationalism was nurtured the sympathy they
felt for the revolution from its inception in February 1917, and they gave their
allegiance to the new state in Russia. Ivon Jones had stated soon after the
news reached Johannesburg in the local press, that the revolution in this ad-
vanced period of capitalism could not stop at this stage, and that the workers
of Russia would take it further.

This loyalty to the Russian revolution was cemented when Jones went to
Russia, He translated and publicised some works of Lenin from the Russian.
He worked for the Comintern and the Profintern (the Communist and Red
Trade Union Internationals), called on the Comintern to organise an interna-
tional conference of Negro toilers, and was placed on the Executive Council
of the Comintern as a delegate for South Africa. Jones was seriously ill by this
time and died in mid-1924. Those who remained in the CPSA lacked his criti-
cal ability, and became blind followers of Comintern policy. Even when part
of the leadership disagreed fundamentally with Comintern policy, as SP
Btélétjng did in 1928, they accepted the line laid down by the leaders of the

R.

There are indications that black mineworkers on the Witwatersrand tried

to form African trade unions as early as 1912, but these early attempts failed.



68 SEARCHLIGHT SOUTH AFRICA, VOL 3, NO 2, APRIL 1993

There are slightly more details about an strike of 9000 miners in 1913, parallel
to the white miners’ strike — but a warning that they could be prosecuted for
breaking the law led to the men returning to work. Then came the war, and
Africans faced increasing privation. There was rampant inflation, and condi-
tions in the Reserves worsened, with more demands on the men from their
families for money. Strikes during the war were sporadic, but from 1918 to
1920 tools were downed in the towns and the mines, there was a boycott of
the stores on the mines, which held a monopoly on trading and raised their
prices ahead of inflation, and an anti-pass campaign on the Witwatersrand.
And finally in 1920 an anti-pass campaign in the towns coincided with the
biggest walkout on the mines prior to 1987. Initially, the ANC leaders sup-
ported this action, but they withdrew when the crowd grew more militant.
This was taken by men like Bunting as confirming their view that the Con-
gress was led by men who could not and would not lead their people in
militant action,

There was news of rural disaffection in the eastern Cape soon after war
was declared, but this, too, was smothered by strong administrative pressure.
It was only after 1918 that a wave of action in the towns and in the countryside
provided evidence that the African workers were not prepared to accept
their lot passively. Besides the strikes on the mines and among municipal
employees, and an anti-pass campaign on the Witwatersrand, there were ex-
tensive foci of unrest across the country. Although some of these have been
described and the incidents well known, there is still no overall picture of the
many events of the period of 1918-20. Where there was armed intervention,
as in the case of Bulhoek, the events were notable for illustrating the depth of
oppression in the country, and also for the first protests by Socialists against
such action,™”

The small group of whites who had left the Labour Party to form a more
radical organisation were isolated in the white community. Their candidates
were soundly beaten in local and provincial elections, and there was little
support from white workers. The English speaking white workers rallied to
the support of the Empire; the Afrikaner workers tended to support their
Nationalist leaders in opposition to the British. It was this, in part, that turned
this small group to the organisation of a black general workers’ union, the In-
dustrial Workers of Africa. The IWA was involved in some of the strikes of
1918, but heavy infiltration by police and a court case after the bucket
workers’ strike led to its demise.

The leaders of the ISL were ahead of their followers in manyrespects, and
there were many resignations. There was further discontent over policy fol-
lowing the dispute over the Johannesburg ‘soviet’, and finally there were
splits over the decision to support the general strike of 1922, It was in this
struggle that the workers raised the slogan: ‘Workers of the World Unite and
Fight for a White South Africa.’ This Orwellian style banner, which many
black workers at the time found unexceptional, was both anti-capitalist and
racist, with different factions in the struggle stressing one or other interpreta-
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tion. Ultimately, the strikers were bombed into submission, some of their
leaders were killed, and others were hanged by a revengeful government.
Whether the party was right or wrong in the strike is still a matter of dispute,
but the consequences were disastrous, and the members of the CPSA
emerged even more isolated than previously (see below).

Independently of any other organisation there was an attempt, at the end
of the First World War, led by Selby Msimang, a Nationalist leader, to form a
general workers’ union, known as the Industrial and Commercial Workers
Union. This was a name appropriated in 1920 by Clements Kadalie and
popularised under the name ICU (I See You, White Man) ! Members of the
CPSA joined the ICU, and some were elected to senior posts on its Execuive.
In 1925, following a riot over beer brewing in the Bloemfontein location, the
town officials came to the conclusion that the riot was the result of the low
wage structure in the town. In a daring move the civic authorities appointed a
commission of six whites and six blacks, three of them drawn from the local
ICU leaders. The outcome was a minimum daily wage of 3/6d set for the
town. This was the year in which the ICU first established a branch in the
Transvaal — but few noted then or subsequently that there was no organisa-
tion in factories, railways, or even shops.

The ICU groups that came into existence were either based in the rural
areas, in small villages, or in the townships. There was an internal logic in this
move that most histories ignore. There were no industries large enough to
sustain a trade union except for the mines and the railways: unions were not
allowed access to the former, and the government would not recognise a
black railway union (the white union being effectively a company union).
Consequently, following the success in Bloemfontein, the ICU organised in
the townships but not in the workshops. Then, in a separate set of campaigns,
they went into the rural areas, calling for liberation and the right to own land.
They ended by collecting money from their members for the purchase of land
- and, as in all such ventures, the money vanished into the pockets of the col-
lectors.

The ICU was not a trade union, but (in the towns) a community based or-
ganisation. Its constituents in the townships were mainly workers, but the
form of organisation was not directed at the scene of production. It cam-
paigned for township rights, and in at least one case (as noted above) helped
secure a minimum wage for an entire township. It was a notable victory, al-
though the wage was still miserable. But the movement did not succeed as a
trade union.

The ICU faced harassment and persecution, but that was only one of its
problems. Urged by conservative whites, like the authoress Ethelreda Lewis,
the ICU expelled members of the CPSA, thus depriving itself of its most
dedicated and efficient members. The arrival of WG Ballinger, a member of
the Cooperative Society in Motherwell, to act as an adviser to the ICU, could
not help, and his presence only speeded up the disintegration of the 1CU.
Corruption was also rife in the ICU. Officials dipped deeply into union funds,
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committee meetings were disrupted by members who were too qunk to stay
awake, there were expulsions, counter-expulsions and splits, aud the ICU,
after a last burst of activity in which it was involved in strike:s i1 the eastern
Cape and near Johannesburg, faded out of existence.

In the wake of the defeat of the general strike in 1922, the: CISA was iso-
lated and reduced to a small handful of mainly white members.[t was under
these conditions that it debated the possibility of affiliation tcthe Labour
Party, in line with Lenin’s suggestion that the small parties irthe English
speaking countries try an entryist tactic. An application for affilation in 1923
was rejected by the SALP, and the CPSA decided in Decembzr 1924, by a
small majority, not to try again. The party was split on the issu¢, and among
those who resigned were Frank Glass, and he was supported by 3ill Andrews
(later Chairman of the party during the Second World War). Itseems that a
group in Cape Town, led by Manuel Lopes, also resigned, aid like Glass
joined the Labour Party. This move could not be sustained, particularly in
view of the Labour Party’s segregationist position. Individuall' or together,
these former members of the CPSA left the Labour Party ini th: late 1920s.

The CPSA, manipulated by Comintern apparatchiks, was forced in 1928
to accept the Black Republic slogan during the notorious Third Period,
which was supposed to signal the onset of world revolution. In he squabbles
that followed leading members were expelled and pilloried usder the most
disgraceful conditions. At times it was apparently expulsion for expulsion’s
sake (because that was the only way to keep the party on its toes!).It was at
this point that some former members gathered together as supporters of the
Left Opposition. Glass (who was the first to have a letter published in The
Militant, organ of the American Left Opposition) left South Africa in 1931
for Chi_)na, where he worked with the Trotskyists under the name of Li
Furen.'? Others helped to form the Independent Labour Partyin Cape Town
in 1932, Only a few of those expelled from the CPSA enteredthe Trotskyist
groups. Most dropped out of all political activity.

There proved to be one centre in which members of the new Trotskyist
groups were able to seize the initiative. Members of the CPSA on the Wit-
watersrand had organised African trade unions, partly to overcome their ex-
clusion from the ICU, and partly to create an active link with the Profintern.
In accordance with Third Period tactics, the unions were led into ill-prepared
strikes, and lost many of their members. The collapse of the unions was has-
tened by the expulsions of leading organisers, and it was in the political space
left open that Trotskyists formed a network of African trade unions in the
Transvaal. This is discussed below.

When the first Trotskyist groups were formed, they were confronted by a
white working class, the most important of whom, on the mines and the rail-
ways and in heavy industry, had made their peace with their employers. The
black workers were still small in numbers, but the political and trade union
organisations had succumbed to inertia, to harassment, or to internal corrup-
tion. It was time (o start afresh and the field was open to any dynamic group
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— but the task would not be easy, and many of the earlier Socialists had been
destroyed by their experiences inside the CPSA.

Notes

1. For example, thoughout the 19205 there was a belief that Americans would appear in the sky
to emancipate the African people. This was based on the belief, brought over from the First
World War, that all Americans were black, and this was combined with stories of the effec-
tiveness of the Garveyite movement in the USA.

2. See B Hirson, ‘Ruth Schechter: Friend to Olive Schreiner’, SSA No 9.

3, This, despite the fact that in 1913 Dr Malan, the future Prime Minister in 1948, gave a lecture
in praise of Socialism and of Marx. The circumstances that led to this peroration are not
clear.

4, For Jagerstontein see B Hirson, Judy Jancovich and Julie Wells ‘Diamonds are Forever but

Gold is For Now: Whatever Did Happen At Jagersfontein?', seminar paper at Southern
Africa in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, Institute of Commonwealth Studies, Lon-
don.
The 1922strike produced theslogan: ‘Workersofthe World Uniteand Fight foraWhite
South Africa.' However,therewasanambiguityintheinterpretationof thatslogan,with
many workers believing (correctly) that the strike was a defence against the mineowners’ as-
sauvltontheirstandardofliving. Eventheextentoftheracialattacksisinneedof
reinterpretation. There were only a handful of these fights — and these were highlighted by
the government to discredit the strikers. Some were started by whites, others by blacks, and
in some cases the whites were incensed by the use of black workers as scabs.

5. See Baruch Hirson and Gwyn Williams, The Delegate for Africa: The Life of David Ivon
Jones, forthcoming, General Smuts, who was Minister of Justice, Minister of Defence and
Prime Minister in several governments, called in the (British) Dragoons during the events
of 1913. He also used bombers to break the resistance of the Bondelzwarts in South West
Africa, and to destroy centres of working class revolt in 1922,

6. Yet Jones was to change his approach, and stated in 1919, when he appeared in court as the
first Bolshevik to be tried in South Africa, that the future of the revolution lay with the
black working class, and the South African Lenin would most probably be black.

7. See the contributions of Bunting at the Sixth Congress of the Comintern when he spoke
against the Black Republic slogan, reprinted in Searchlight South Africa, No 4.

8. These were reported in the Voice of Labour,

9. There was discontent in the towns, fuelled by the decline in real wages and a strike of ‘bucket
boys' (that is, night soil removers). The arrest of these men and the callous way in which
they were treated by the court (they were sentenced to do their work under armed guard
without pay) led to a general radicalisation of the urban Africans.

10. The Bulhoek massacre as described by Frank Glass at the time is printed in 88A, No 6

11. The ICU was associated initially with a dock workers’ strike in Cape Town. The strike was
successful, but only the Coloured workers gained a wage increase. The African workers
gained nothing. Nonetheless, the smell of victory gave this new movement an impetus (and
a myth) that sustained it over many years.

12. According to Wang Fanxi he was asked by Glass to coin a name. He decided on Li, because
it was a common Chinese name and Furen because it was the nearest that he could get to
Frank. In the old Wade-Giles system of transliteration, his name appears as Li Fu-Jen,

13. Those members of the CPSA who joined the Labour Party in Cape Town in 1925 found
working in a colour bar organisation impossible. They resigned and helped form the ILP,



THE TROTSKYIST GROUPS IN
SOUTH AFRICA:1932-48

A Retrospective View

THERE WAS a time when South African adherents of the Left Opposition
(Trotskyists) were said to have made a substantial impact on the politics of
South Africa, and having provided leading cadres for the Trotskyist move-
ments in China, India, the USA and Great Britain.

Internationally, in the first decade of the movement'’s existence, Frank
Glass (Li Fu-jen/Furen) moved to China and then the US, Murray Gow
Purdy to India, Ted Grant, Max Basch (Sid Frost), Charlie van Gelderen,
Ralph and Millie Lee, Heaton Lee, Ann Keen and others to Britain. There
were also persons who joined, or were associated with, Trotskyist groups and
received later acclaim for work in their own specialities. Among these were
Peter Abrahams, the novelist, Frederick Bodmer, whose work in linguistics
was widely acclaimed when his Loom of Language was published, Dorothea
Krook, an acknowledged expert on the later writings of Henry James, and
Joseph Sandler, currently President of the International Association of
Psychoanalysis.

Less well known are those who joined the South African groups and built
up a cadre. They published the most important Marxist journals in the
country, distributed newspapers and published the Communist Manifesto in
Afrikaans, participated in demonstrations against the Italian conquest of
Ethiopia, joined in the struggles against the Greyshirts (the home grown Fas-
cist movement), and were among the first to condemn the crimes of Stalin.
From their ranks came members who, separately or collectively, helped to
build the National Liberation League and then the bodies that made up the
Non-European Unity Movement, a national liberation movement that at-
tracted thousands of men and women in the Cape Province. Their leader, IB
Tabata, is said to have exercised a powerful influence on Nelson Mandela
and the men who were to become the leaders of the African National Con-
gress.

In the Cape their members became the leaders of the (Coloured)
Teachers League of South Africa and the Cape African Teachers Associa-
tion; they dominated the intellectual left of Cape Town through the Lenin
Club, the Spartacus Club and then the New Era Fellowship.! They recruited
to their ranks academics and to a lesser extent workers, and could even count
a former nun as a leading member.

The history of the groups in the Transvaal was different. There, the earliest
members of the Left Opposition were involved in trade union work. They
were succeeded by Max Gordon, a Trotskyist who had moved from Cape
Town, and had built the first major black trade union movement in the
Transvaal. At a later stage, after Gordon had returned to the Cape, a new
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Trotskyist group, the Workers International League (WIL), entered into and
had an influential position in the black unions. The WIL also won over men
and women who played an important role in community struggles and (as in
Cape Town) produced a number of newspapers and journals. The groups, in
Cape Town and in Johannesburg, were always small, but they had an effect
that was far greater than their number. Yet, despite the hope that they in-
spired with their message, the groups all disappeared, leaving no movement
in the country. After a resurgent trade union movement was built, bringing
thousands of workers onto the streets after 1973, a student revolt in 1976-77
that swept through South Africa and drew in entire local communities, and a
further wave of revolts in 1984-86, there is no effective Trotskyist movement
in the country, only a number of small groups, mostly affiliated with the many
tendencigs in Britain and Europe, but playing no prominent réle in the events
of the country.

Is there anything in the history of those groups from which lessons can be
learnt so that a new vibrant movement can emerge? What was it that went
wrong in South Africa to negate the work that seemed so promising before
and during the Second World War?

The Early Beginnings

The Trotskyist groups in South Africa were born not in blood, but in con-
fusion. They did not emerge in the wake of powerful working class or com-
munity struggles. They came into existence when the South African workers
(or the small workforce that had recently come into existence) were confused
and dispirited, clinging to their jobs during the massive depression that hit
the country in 1929-31. They appeared when the international working class
was still reeling from the victory of Nazism in Germany and massive defeats
elsewhere, and when there was growing disillusionment in the Communist
International and the local Communist Party. The groups that appeared lo-
cally drew their members from those Socialists expelled by the Communist
Party of South Africa (CPSA) or its front organisations, or individuals who
sought a Socialist solution to counter a race-ridden and exploitative society.

In Cape Town the small band of revolutionaries were drawn from the
Communist Party, the Independent Labour Party, Communist auxiliary
groups like the Gezerd,” cultural and literary groups,” or from new arrivals
from Eastern Europe. They had a number of common positions on foreign
issues, including an uncompromising anti-Fascism, an unconditional support
for the USSR in the war that was anticipated, and a condemnation of the
Comintern and its policies. One of the most important factors helping to
precipitate the formation of Trotskyist groups in South Africa was the im-
Position of the Black Republic slogan by the Comintern on the CPSA — the
1ssue that led Frank Glass and then Manuel Lopes to write to the American
Trotskyist paper, The Militant.* Many were Trotskyists only in name. Like
others in Europe and elsewhere, they knew little about the platform of the
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Left Opposition or about the situation in the Soviet Union, but all were ap-
palled by news of events in the USSR. It was only after copies of The Militant
were received in South Africa that some issues became clearer, but there was
much that remained opaque for the new adherents to the International Left
Opposition.

The effects of Stalinist methods upon those who formed the first Trot-
skyist groups have not received sufficient attention from historians. Firstly, it
must be stressed that the turmoil inside local Communist parties affected the
entire Socialist movement. Expulsions, vicious attacks (verbal and physical),
or rapidly changing tactics to meet Moscow’s demands, made it difficult for
any Socialist group to attract large audiences. But the rot went further, and
inevitably affected the operation of opposition groups. Despite all the repug-
nance against the methods used inside the Communist parties, those who
had come from the CPSA were affected by the crude reduction of Marxism
to clichés, the excessive idolisation of leaders, the aping of Comintern leaders
in their use of invective, and the brutalisation of relations inside the party.

They brought with them from the CPSA, along with their disgust over
Comintern policy, the infighting, bitterness and boorish mud slinging that
had become the hallmark of Communist Party propaganda and meetings.
Although determined to work along new lines, they had imbibed the very
Stalinist features that they were committed to fight. Their world outlook had
been formed inside the CPSA, and their theoretical framework had been
shaped, to a large degree, by Comintern literature. As a result, the Trotskyists
squabbled, they split, and they seemed at times, particularly in the Transvaal,
to be little better than the Communists in their internal relations.

To their credit, they did break with the CPSA and the Comintern, but the
consequences were all too obvious. They had to face, not only hostile right
wing groups who were grouped into Fascist gangs, but also the bitter
onslaught of members of the CPSA. They were beleaguered and isolated,
and found it all too easy to retreat into self-righteous sectarianism. The
defence of revolutionary positions was transformed into dogmatic assertions,
and from there it was only one step to internal slanging matches, suspensions,
expulsions and even fisticuffs, In this they were not unlike small groups
everywhere who tried to retrieve what they could of Marxism from the cal-
lous counter-revolutionary activities of the Comintern apparatchiks.

The early Trotskyists also had to carve out a new programme and a new
perspective for Socialism. They believed that they alone could be the
giefenders of the achievements of 1917, give a lead to the South African work-
ing class, and save Marxism from extinction. Their internationalist ideas wert
taken largely from the pages of the few journals that reached South Afric:
from the USA or Europe, and frogn the news briefings of the Internation:!
Secrelariat of the Left Opposition.” Their programme of local demands wits
hammered out in group discussions with the little that they could salvag
from the Communist Party — although some of their formulations inevitab!)
looked as if they were just the old ideas written anew.
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The members of the new groups set out to fashion a position that would
set them apart from the CPSA and become the basis for activity. They com-
menced by posing alternatives to the CPSA, particularly the position
adopted by the Comintern in 1928, when world revolution was said to be im-
minent and every section had to adapt its programme to meet this even-
tuality. The CPSA was instructed to work for a Black Republic, and to adopt
a trade union policy that involved control by the party, and used
‘revolutionary’ methods to raise the workers’ consciousness, Initially the
Trotskyists opposed the Black Republic slogan, but reversed this (at least
theoretically) after seeking Trotsky’s opinion. But on the trade union ques-
tion they continued on the same lines as the Stalinists. In theory they wanted
to gain control of the trade unions, or at least build a tight fraction in such or-
ganisations through which they could control activities. They also persisted in
calling for direct action until Max Gordon, the most outstanding organiser in
the Transvaal, resorted to the slow building of the black trade unions with
minimum recourse to strike action and using state institutions to secure their
demands.

The Cape Town Experience

Groups in South Africa that adhered to the International Left Opposition
were always minuscule and poverty stricken. There were only branches in
Cape Town and Johannesburg, with a handful of supporters in Durban and
Port Elizabeth. This was not very different from the spread of the Communist
Party: it reflected the sparseness of population and the siting of transport,
colleges and industry. The different social structures of the provinces in-
evitably affected the perceptions and activities of the groups; they had to find
their constituents from the local population and had to advance ideas that
would get a response. In some regions this proved almost impossible. The
white workers were caught in a web of racism that made most of them unap-
proachable, and in Natal the Indian workers and students, if active politically,
were strongly attracted to Gandhi, Nehru and the Indian National Congress.

In the western Cape, the groups also had to find ways of winning the
Coloured people, a people caught by segregatory legislation in the chasm
that lay between the whites and the Africans. Consequently, the Cape Town
Trotskyists, after painfully recruiting individuals, concentrated on work in
discussion clubs, organising the teachers (Coloured and African), and one
group appealed to peasant groups in the Transkei and Ciskei in the eastern

ape.

Joe Pick, a foundation member of the CPSA, was the first to write on be-
half of a group to the International Secretariat for affiliation to the Left Op-
Position. Written in 1932, his letter was brief and provided no details. It seems
that the group consisted mainly of Jews, most of whom had been in the CPSA
Or in organisations associated with that party. The next landmark was the
lauﬂﬂhing of the Lenin Club on 29 July 1933. Its members were overwhelm-
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ingly J ewish.’ This changed in 1934 when some members of the ILP merged
with the Lenin Club, and academics were invited to lecture. Thereafter the
club seems to have become a centre of serious Socialist discussion attracting
sizable audiences, offering celebratory meetings on May Day or the anniver-
sary of the Russian Revolution, and staging Socialist plays.

Seeking avenues of political activity, the club members found several so-
cial problems around which to agitate and organise. Firstly, there was large-
scale unemployment in the wake of the depression, which affected Coloured
and African workers most severely.” This led to the formation of an organisa-
tion of the unemployed in which persons committed to the Left Opposition
were active, including Dr Goolam Gool and Max Gordon — Gool being a fu-
ture leader of the Non-European Unity Movement, Gordon of the trade
unionists in the Transvaal. However, unemployed organisations are of limited
duration. By the middle of 1935 this work had come to an end.

A small group of Lenin Club members, intent on launching a political
party, started drafting a programme in August 1934, This led to a split that
dominated Trotskyist politics until all the groups dissolved themselves. Those
who formed the majority called themselves the Workers Party of South
Africa (WPSA). The minority took the name Communist League of South
Africa (CLSA), but seem to have been known only as the Lenin Club. Four
topics became the subject matter of ‘theses’: the political economy of the
country, the expected world war, the nature of Socialist organisation, and the
need to work in trade unions. These were drawn up, circulated and sent to
the International Secretariat. Other issues divided the members of the con-
tending groups, but these did not appear in the draft programmes. Foremost
among these was the so-called entryist tactic, about which there was extensive
discussion.

The differences that emerged among these early Trotskyists were both
principled and personal. This led to vituperative attacks on the honesty, sin-
cerity and ability of individual members. Some of the personal criticisms
might have been justified, but the attacks did nothing to clarify the basic
theoretical differences between the groups. As a consequence some mem-
bers crossed from one group to another, and some crossed again, Others left
the factions in despair. With each group probably numbering a dozen at most
(although the Communist League was to claim a larger number), these were
a series of storms in thimbles which were irrelevant to the political struggles
in the country.

There are no documents to show why those who formed the Workers
Party placed the land question at the top of their demands. Perhaps it came
from a reading of Lenin’s early work on Russia, or it might have been ex-
tracted from the Comintern’s focus on the land issue in the colonial countries
in the early 1930s. It could also have been influenced by the severity of the
depression in the rural areas (which had preceded the slump in the national
cconomy), or by the writings on the land question in South Africa by the
liberal historian, W MacMillan. Whatever the reason, local or international.
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or both, the draft that became the centre of all future discussion, as formu-
lated by the majority group among the activists in the Lenin Club, was on the
land question.™ Burlak, who drafted the document (entitled The Native
Question), produced government statistics to show that there was a heavy
concentration of land ownership in the hands of a small number of white
farmers. Alongside this, Africans could own land almost exclusively in the
Reserves, which covered at that time about seven per cent of the country’s
land surface. It was the repossession of this land, they claimed, that would be
the rallying point (the axis, the alpha and the omega) of the coming South
African revolution. Paradoxically, they rejected the Black Republic slogan,
which might have been an obvious corollary to their programme.

Contrary to all that was subsequently claimed by the minority, no formal
counter-thesis on the Native Question was presented at the drafting commit-
tee, and the paper or notes prepared by MN Averbach (the leader of the
minority) was deemed a counter-resolution rather than a thesis in its own
right. The original paper written by Averbach and documents sent to the In-
ternational Secretariat at a later date have not been found. However, an ar-
ticle that appeared in February 1936 in the Workers Voice, the organ of the
CLSA, on the land question is obtuse. The ‘mere cry for land’, it argued, ‘does
not constitute an agrarian problem’. The Africans who were driven off the
land suffered mainly from taxes. Their chief need was not for land, but relief
from taxation. Averbach seems to have misunderstood the majority position.
If the Africans got more land, he wrote, the peasant would still suffer from
these pernicious taxes which were designed to drive them into the mines, in-
dustry and the farms.!! But the majority position, sensitive as it was to land
hunger, was not designed to provide more land for the African in an un-
changed country, but to find a lever through which to overthrow capitalism.
The minority position was so unclear on this point that it obscured their main
contention: namely, that it was the struggle of the African workers that would
be the key to change in South Africa. This position could have been taken
without any recourse to theory, and, when it came to theory, Averbach and
the minority had little to offer.

On a conlentious organisational issue, the majority called for a tightly
structured revolutionary party with a clandestine sector (a point rejected by
the minority, who said that it was necessary to exploit every avenue of activity
while conditions for legal work held). The consequences were obvious. The
Communist League seemed to conduct its activities openly, and recruited
With a minimum of enquiry into the background of its members. The Workers
Party in Cape Town was highly, if not overly, selective, maintained a tight dis-
cipline and was secretive in many of its inner party activities. There were rules
a5 to what documents could be read at branch meetings, and what was to be
read only by Executive members. It was a regime that led to derisive com-
ment from members of the League.'> There was a certain logic to the
Majority’s argument, not only because this was what Lenin had demanded for
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Russia, but also because the future of democracy (whatever that meant in
South Africa) was by no means assured.

The land question has been dealt with first because of its later sig-
nificance, but the first division was over the coming war. > The theses of both
sides opposed the expected war, but the minority believed that the white
Afrikaners could be drawn towards the revolutionary movement because of
their basic ‘anti-imperialist’ position. They therefore argued for a position of
neutrality and collaboration with the Malanite (that is, Nationalist) opposi-
tion in parliament. Burlak’s analysis of the war, firstly in the thesis and then in
The Spark, ascribed the war threat to finance capital and condemned both
the west and Germany for their war-like stance. There could be no support
for either side, and Socialists had to call for revolution to remove capitalism,
the cause of the war fever and ultimately war itself, he said.

Then, in a letter of 12 June 1935 to the International Secretariat, the
Workers Party lambasted the Communist League. Its war thesis, they said,
was the most deadly of documents, and one which was ‘equal to suicide’ be-
cause it would antagonise the Coloured and African populations: ‘Under no
circumstances can we support the most hated by the Bantu population, part
of the white bourgeoisie, the Malanites.” The policy, they said, was oppor-
tunism of the worst kind and they added: ‘Itis regrettable that neither you nor
LD [Trotsky] expressed an opinion about the war theses.” There was no
response to this complaint. Instead, several letters from the IS urged that the
groups were too small and the differences not important enough to justify the
split. This was dismissed by the WPSA: they wrote that there could be no
union with people who differed so profoundly on basic issues. There was one
further thesis, accepted by all, on the necessity for work inside the trade
union movement. Unfortunately, the members of both the majority and
minority did nothing in this regard in Cape Town. Although the Stalinists set
up numerous new trade unions in Caplc Town, the Trotskyists were more
notable for their absence in this sphere. :

Originally there were four so-called theses (two on the war) and one
countf:r-thl%sis on the land question. All were sent to the IS and to Trotsky for
comment. ~ There were two responses to the main thesis on the Native Ques-
tion: one from Ruth Fischer (pseudonym Dubois), and one from Trotsky.
Frank Glass in Shanghai, and Ted Grant and Max Basch in Britain were
asked by the IS to comment. There were no responses, although Basch wrote
long letters to the WPSA in support of their stand against entryism (se¢
below).

Ruth Fischer’s criticisms were crude and insensitive. ' The original thesis
was misquoted, and attention was drawn to this in the translated version that
was circulated. Fischer said that statistics were not a substitute for theory
(and in this she was correct), and then said, in effect, that the thesis was use-
less because it did not take as its central issue the struggle against British im-
perialism. The slogan ‘Land for the Natives’ was wholly correct, but
inadequate. Then, arguing that national liberation was a correct slogan for
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South Africa (because, as the majority claimed, there was no black bour-
geoisie), she claimed that the white workers, whose support was essential,
could only be won on the slogan ‘Down with British Imperialism’. That would
mean: ‘Down with the privileges of the white race, forward the Natives, and
also proclamation of the right of total separation from the British Empire.’
And so the document went on. It was a document of the time, and could as
easily have come from the Comintern. Imperialism was the enemy, im-
perialism had to be destroyed, and any document that did not start with this
proposition was false, But Fischer had, in fact, read too narrowly. The mem-
bers of the WPSA were nothing if not orthodox Leninists. The fight against
imperialism was the theme of their thesis in all their documents, and more
particularly in the document on the war, the issue that first divided the fac-
tions. Furthermore, its stress, correctly, was on the rdle of finance capital in
South Africa. It can be argued that the WPSA’s formulation, based on its
definition of finance capital, was more accurate than that of Fischer. (Paren-
thetically, it must be added, the WPSA never again omitted to place the
struggle against British imperialism at the head of their demands. Such was
the authority of members of the Secretariat that they were not often opposed.
Any resemblance to the way the Comintern functioned was not altogether
accidental.)

However, at a later date the WPSA wrote:
At that time we appealed to you, we approached you to decide on the
basis of the documents written by the two factions. This is where the
comedy begins. You sent back a document written by Comrade Dubois
which was the laughing stock not only of the Cape Town comrades, but
of all comrades everywhere who had studied the colonial question, who
knew anything at all of the problems of South Africa. We appealed to
you at that time and we received from you .. . Dubois’s masterpiece of
ignorance.”’

Trotsky’s contribution is probably still contentious. Although he claimed
that he could not really comment on conditions in South Africa because he
lacked the necessary information, he nevertheless accepted the thesis on the
land (claiming however, that the agrarian revolution could only take place
with the active participation of the advanced workers), and argued against
the rejection of the Black Republic slogan. This latter was not a temporary
aberration, but coincided with Trotsky’s other statements on the Comintern’s
position on an independent Negro state in the middle belt of the USA. To
reject the Black Republic out of hand, he said, arose from exaggerations in
the polemic against the Comintern. The blacks would form the majority in a
transformed South Africa, and the country would obviously constitute &
Black Republic. He further said that under no condition could
revolutionaries offer the smallest finger to white chauvinism.

Trotsky’s remarks were set inside an international perspective. He stated
at the outset that it could be assumed that the revolution in Britain would
precede that of South Africa. In that case, it was essential that there be no
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support for the bourgeoisie from the colonies and dominions. That made the
struggle for the expulsion of British imperialism an indispensable part of the
programme of the South African proletarian party. At the end of his letter, he
spoke of a future in which Soviet Britain would exercise a powerful economic
and cultural influence on South Africa through the medium of those whites
who had shown their solidarity, through struggle, with the black workers. A
Socialist South Afnca,1 2i;.u turn, would exercise a profound influence on the
whole black continent.

Trotsky’s remarks on the draft thesis, which were referred to repeatedly in
the polemics inside the South African Trotskyist movement, were important
in orientating the left towards the African people, but they also did a grave
disservice to the Socialist movement. I discuss this in a paper presented u%
Aberdeen in August 1990, and do not wish to repeat the arguments here.
The one point that must be stressed is that Trotsky’s major contention was
doubly false. In terms of his own original work in Russia in 1904-06, he should
have been aware of the impact of finance capital on a backward country. He
knew from the literature on South Africa (or should have known) that invest-
ment in gold mining had played a crucial role in opening up the country to
foreign capital, and he should have known (from Luxemburg and from
Lenin, if not from primary sources) that this had given rise to a large con-
centrated workforce. Yet, in this too, he failed to provide direction. He spoke
of the proletariat consisting of ‘backward black pariahs and a privileged caste
of whites’, but failed to say that the black workers would one day provide the
base for a powerful proletarian movement. He also knew that it was not pos-
sible to talk of ethnic groups as if they were homogeneous. As he had pointed
out in his writings on China, there had to be a discussion of the class forces
and the role that each class would play in any struggle for change. But his let-
ter offered no hint of the need to develop such ideas for South Africa.

Despite their angry response to the tone of Fischer’s letter, there is no full
length reply to the substance of her remarks from the WPSA. However, in a
letter of 14 May 1935 to the International Secretariat, they said that their
thesis criticised the Stalinist slogan of ‘Independent Native Republics as a
step towards a Workers’ and Peasants’ Republic’. Their position, they
stressed, pointing to the class nature of the struggle, dealt with the strategy of
the revolution and not the tactics. In a further comment they said that the
original differences had been on the war question. Only after the minority
had faced opposition on their call for a future alliance with the Afrikaner
Nationalists in a war, did they %oduce supplementary arguments to ‘iron out
contradictions’ in their policy.

The majority launched the Workers Party of South Africa at the end of
January 1935, They felt vindicated by Trotsky’s letter, and in their letter to
him they said that his comments indicated that there was no disagreement in
principle. They confessed to having written in exaggerated terms in opposing
the Black Republic slogan because of their struggle against the pernicious
national policies of Stalinism. Of course, the full liberation of South Africa
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would lead to a black republic. They repeated their rejection of the slogan of
a ‘Native Republic as a step towards a Workers’ and Peasants’ Republic’.
They were not pandering to white chauvinism, they said, or avoiding an open
fight for full rights, but rejected the slogan which was based on the idea of a
national revolution. In any future general strike and armed insurrection, the
participation of the white workers was essential because they held crucial
positions in heavy industry, electricity, water supply, communication and
transport, and in all branches of the repressive apparatus, The active support
of one part of the white proletariat and the neutralisation of the other was es-
sential.

The letter then continued. They confirmed that the revolutionary party
had to turn primarily towards the black workers. Their national self-con-
sciousness had to be developed, but not by kindling and developing chauv-
inism. Both the national and agrarian questions could only find their solution
through the social revolution. For good measure, they added that the central
slogan was for ‘The overthrow of British Imperialism and Colonial
Capitalism’, and for a Soviet South African Republic with the right of all
races to self-determination, and guarantees for the rights of minorities.”! It
was probably this set of ideas that took their members, first to the All-African
Convention, the body called to oppose the Hertzog Native Bills, and then
several years later to merge with a Coloured organisation, the Anti-Coloured
Affairs Department, or Anti-CAD (also in the hands of members of the
Workers Party), to establish the Non-European Unity Movement, the
NEUM. That was to become the almost exclusive activity of members of the
Workers Party from 1943 until at least 1958, although the WPSA seems to
have gone out of existence fally in the early 1950s.

There is some confusion about which group constituted the majority or
minority in the preliminary discussions for a programme and constitution.
Firstly, the Lenin Club was an open body. Those involved in the dispute were
a fraction of the club. Secondly, it seems that Burlak, the writer of the main
programmalic papers, was in a minority of one on the drafting committee of
four, but then won a majority to his position. 2 The group that accepted the
Burlak paper thereafter claimed to be the majority, and were called such by
the IS.

But that is looking ahead. Both groups stayed inside the Lenin Club for at
least six months, but the club no longer prospered. There were lectures, but
no activity: no leafleting, no open air meetings. Differences on almost every
issue were obvious, and a split could not be stopped. Finally, the WPSA
members walked out and set up their own Spartacus Club in July 1935.

One other issue separated the majority and minority, the argument over
the ‘French turn’. That is the policy of entryism that had been accepted by the
French Trotskyists in order to widen their ranks. 222 The WPSA argued that it
Was necessary o build a revolutionary party untainted by reformism. There
were long letters from Basch, who opposed entryism, and the issue was also
raised with the IS. Besides the fact that the latter agreed with the French
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group, they also said that they had no intimation from the theses that this was
a matter of contention between the majority and minority.

The IS opposed the split, and appealed to the minority to join ranks with
the WPSA. In so doing they also urged the majority to accept the Averbach
group into their ranks. In response, and with reluctance, the WPSA said that
they would accept the members of the minority on a personal basis, butnot as
a group, and they apparently meant to exclude some of the leading members.
Purdy in Johannesburg also urged unity. He wrote for the Workers Voice, and
his motives were questioned b%Burlak et al. There was no unity, and the
groups went their separate way.

In 1935, when the groups in Cape Town had barely settled down, there was
a new factor that was to prove far reaching in its effects on the Trotskyist
movement, The Prime Minister, General Hertzog, had been pressing since
1926 for legislation that would finally demarcate the lands that African could
occupy, and the removal of the small number of African voters in the Cape
Province from the common roll. This required a two-thirds majority in a joint
sitting of both Houses of Parliament, and this became feasible when the Na-
tional Party fused with Smuts’s South African Party in 1934. The twin threat
of land restriction and removal of the vote became a political issue that im-
pinged on all parties at the time. This threat could not be ignored, more par-
ticularly in the Cape where the Cape Native Voters Association and rural
associations (among others) were agitated over these issues.

The presentation to parliament of the Four Native Bills (as Hertzog’s
proposals were known)“ in 1935 came shortly before the invasion of
Ethiopia by the Italian army, and the groundswell of agitation over the latter,
with the CPSA in the foreground, provided an outlet for the fledgling groups.
The invasion was met by a refusal by black dockers to load Italian ships, and
then, when the war began and the Ethiopian troops gained initial successes,
there was widespread enthusiasm for the war. The Trotskyists joined in the
protests and undoubtedly attracted some people to themselves, but the agita-
tion died away, and, when the Ethiopian troops were turned back, the issue
turned sour and the demonstrations stopped. In the campaigning the WPSA
rejected an overture from the Communist League to work together because
the latter’s statements included an appeal to the League of Nations.

There was a third issue in South Africa that generated more heat in the
Transvaal than elsewhere, but impinged on groups everywhere. The pro-
German Greyshirts (composed of Afrikaner nationalists and reinforced by
white unemployed), emerged in the wake of Hitler’s rise to power. An Anti-
Fascist League, composed of the more militant white workers’ unions,
Zionists and members of the Labour Party and the Communist Party clashed
with the Greyshirts in a series of battles. Some members of the WPSA in
Johannesburg joined this front. Although the Cape Town group might not
have approved of the front, the policy of the Johannesburg branch, which in-
volved complete autonomy for themselves and any other participating group,
was accepted.
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There is no indication that the Cape Town groups had any plan for con-
crete activity. Their one intervention was to join the call to dockers to stop
loading Italian ships, but there is little to indicate that they set out to organise
workers or peasants, They were propaganda groups who held street corner
meetings, used street theatre to attract audiences, and on a few occasions (il-
legally) entered one of the black locations to speak to residents. Members of
the Communist League also confronted workers in some occupations, and
urged them to form trade unions, but these were the result of individual in-
itiatives rather than a thought out plan.

Their most important task was the producing of journals. The WPSA
published The Spark, a mimeographed journal with radical and theoretical
articles, including reprints of articles by Trotsky and members of the
American Socialist Workers Party. It remains one of the most important
Marxist journals to have emerged from South Africa. Yet, except for reports
by their members who were members of the National Liberation League or
were present at conferences of the All-African Convention, there were few
indications of activities in Cape Town, in the trade unions or in any com-
munity body. The Communist League’s paper, Workers Voice, was agitational
with little theory in its pages. It gave no indication of political activity, publica-
tion was erratic, and ceased, probably after the dissolution of the Lenin Club
in September 1936.%

In March or April 1937 the one-time dispute over the French turn became
real. The members of the CLSA, even more isolated than before, joined with
Stalinists and Coloured nationalists in the Cape Town based Socialist Party,
and temporarily abandoned their c:)rg.a::ﬁsation.2’3 The Socialist Party was a
Cape Town centred group launched by Duncan Burnside, a parliamentarian
and one-time member of the Labour Party, who resigned and formed the
Socialist Party in April 1937. But the party collapsed when Burnside rejoined
the SALP to contest the 1938 elections. When the members of the CLSA
emerged from that dubious adventure, their numbers were said to have been
little changed. But the Lenin Club had disappeared, the League had lost all
initiative, and they had to start as from scratch. Initially, they regrouped as the
Fourth International Club, met in a private house as a study circle, and sought
unity with the WPSA. There were talks about talks, but the WPSA had no in-
tention of agreeing. Several young Coloured intellectuals and a young stu-
dent, Hosea Jaffe, joined the Club in 1939, and at some stage it was renamed
as the Fourth International Organisation of South Africa (FIOSA). Some-
time, probably in 1942, a mimeographed Workers Voice was published. It
claimed to be Volume 1, and in so doing negated the journal of 1935-36. Its
editor and main contributor was Jaffe, and he maintained this 09ntr01
Wwherever he went. There is no record of the group initiating any activity, al-
though some of its members were involved in the protests of the Coloured
People when the government threatened to remove their vote before the war.
However, it is not clear whether these people acted as individuals or as mem-
bers of their group.
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The Transvaal Experience

Johannesburg was the only other centre in which the Trotskyists managed to
form a grou 2 At first, there were only Frank Glass and his wife Fanny
Klenerman.”™ Seeking activity, Glass went to Shanghai in 1931 where he
played a more important réle in the Fourth International than any emigrant
from South Africa, but except for his letter to The Militant he does not belong
to this account. Fanny Klenerman (who had once organised the trade union
of women workers) took over the bookshop that Glass left behind, and, after
a period of financial difficulty which affected the stock she had available, es-
tablished a reputation as the finest bookseller in the country and a centre for
Marxist books in Johannesburg, Without that shop, books by Trotsky and his
co-workers, and other Socialist thinkers, would not have been available in
that city. Her own role in the Trotskyist movement is unclear. She stood aloof
from the WPSA, and besides providing support for Gordon when he or-
ganised African trade unions in the Transvaal, was effective mainly in being a
known mine of information on events in the European Socialist movements.

The process in Johannesburg was very different to that of the Cape. From
April to October 1932 letters were sent to the IS and the Communist League
of America by WT Thibedi. He said he was writing on behalf of 22 Africans
in the Transvaal who were or had been in the CPSA, and claimed to have
several trade unions under his control. The Americans to whom this was
written referred Thibedi to M Lopes in Cape Town. Nothing further hap-
pened, and without resources and with men who had little training, the group
collapsed.>! His importance lay not only in his being black, but in his claim to
have brought with him several of the trade unions initiated by the CPSA in
their Red Trade Union organisation. Thibedi’s list included Alpheus Maliba,
who was to become the most important peasant leader in the northern
Transvaal during the early 1940s.”* However, several of the men, including
Maliba, who were said to have agreed with Thibedi’s letters had second
thoughts. They did not accept the need for a new party and several stayed in
the CPSA.

Trotsky wrote a most enthusiastic letter when he heard that black toilers
wished to work with the Left Opposition. The continuity between this first
letter by Trotsky on South Africa with his later response to the WPSA thesis
is obvious. Trotsky sought contact with workers untainted with the world of
capital and free of racism. Who better than an African who claimed to have
brought with him fellow revolutionaries and the nucleus of black trade
unions?

However, Thibedi was a shadowy man. Despite his long membership of
the CPSA and his period as a union organiser, he had not criticised events in
the CPSA or in the %SSR, and had not contributed any ideas of note to the
}eft wing movement.™ He is said to have produced one copy of a newspaper
in African languages (no copy of which survives), but there is no record of ac-
tivity in his new group, or of any trade union work. He disappeared after an
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extended correspondence with the IS, in large part devoted to his requests
for financial assistance, something the IS was unable to satisfy. Thibedi left
the political scene for over a decade, and only reappeared in 1945 when he
was introduced to, and joined, the Workers International League. His ap-
proach was narrowly nationalist, and, after being accused of chauvinism, he
was expelled. He then melted back into the anonymity from which he had
temporarily f:rnerg&d.:M

As in the south, the groups that came into being drew on those expelled
from the CPSA. These included Ralph Lee (or Levy) but, in his case, hewas
expelled after serving a jail sentence for cat burglary. Lee said retrospective-
ly, in his own wry way, that he had been expropriating the bourgeoisie one by
one! Except for the colour of his skin, Lee was not exceptional. A large num-
ber of Coloureds and Africans in the CPSA had spent one or more spells in
jail on charges of petty larceny. Other members of the CPSA who had joined
Lee in these ventures escaped arrest, and stayed on as loyal members of the
party. The group that did establish itself was the Bolshevik Leninist League.
Formed in April 1934, it affiliated with the WPSA just as the latter was about
to announce its existence.> Its members (and in particular Ralph and Millie
Lee) established contacts outgide Johannesburg, but never founded a stable
group in other urban centres.™ Once again, there was the slow recruiting of
members, but at the same time the group was involved in trade union work,
concentrating on the unorganised African workers. After Thibedi, Purdy or-
ganised the laundry workers, with dubious results. Thereafter, the union was
handed over to Max Gordon, who had left Cape Town in early 1935, and it
was Gordon, more than anybody else, who made his mark as a trade union
organiser. The activities in the trade unions are discussed in an accompany-
ing article.

The work in Johannesburg was not confined to the organising of trade
unions, There were the usual meetings, classes, establishment of branches
(particularly in Alexandra Township, a black township on the northern tip of
Johannesburg), open air meetings, and so on. Externally, at least, the group
functioned as any small radical group might be expected to perform. But in-
ternally there was turmoil. Of the original group of nine or 10, there were
seven expulsions or withdrawals in the first eight months. Thereafter, the
rump was disbanded and the group reconstituted. The only members of the
original group that remained were Lee and his wife. There were slanging
matches, fisticuffs, accusations and counter-accusations, and a stream of
complaints to Cape Town. But Cape Town would not, or could not, intervene.
T}Ic group literally tore itself apart, and from this distance it is not possible to
disentangle the rights and wrongs of what happened.®’

_ Gordon withdrew from the Johannesburg branch, and, condemned for
$ non-participation by the Cape Town committee, continued his trade
Union work independently of the WPSA. His activities went unrecorded in

e Spark, and his successes were not mentioned in further correspondence.

€ one matter of which the Trotskyists could have been truly proud, and the
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one that the Stalinists found the greatest threat to their political hegemony,
was written out of the Trotskyist annals. Several years later, a new generation
of Trotskyists, who only heard storiﬁof Gordon’s work, sought to emulate his
activities in the black trade unions.

Developments in Cape Town

When the WPSA and CLSA were formed in January 1935, the International
Secretariat maintained that the groups were too small to form a party, and
called for further discussion on programmatic issues. But it was too late. The
parties had formed themselves, and had declared their existence. Further-
more, the two groups were at daggers drawn, and could not agree on any
issue. Letters from the Secretariat had antagonised the leading members of
the WPSA, and they were not inclined to listen. Yet the situation was absurd.
The WPSA had an initial membership of 11, only three of whom seemed to
be active and able to contribute to its journal. By mid-year two of the 11 had
resigned. The CLSA, starting with four members, seemed to have recruited
another nine, but it is doubtful whether more than three or four were active.
Also by mid-1935 there were two Clubs, giving a periphery of about 25 or 30
others, none of which engaged directly in political activity. The Johannesburg
group was even smaller, more fractious and centred on one or two persons.
Nor were they all committed to the majority’s theses. Purdy was closer to the
minority, but he was expelled from the Johannesburg group (for assaulting
Lee), and his thesis was never formally discussed inside the WPSA.

The Communist League and some of those expelled from the Johannes-
burg group adopted the IS’ line. They called for unification and for a looser
structure. They also argued for more discussion on programme and on ac-
tivities. To no avail: the leading members of the WPSA in Cape Town, and
Lee in the north, were immovable. The leaders of the WPSA were accused of
bureaucracy and of Stalinist methods, and they in turned replied with
counter-attacks of ‘Menshevism’, of lack of principles, and so on,

Yet the time was not ripe for a centralised party, and it was absurd to
believe that a finished programme had been formulated. On the contrary, it
was a time for further discussion and study, and also for activity that would
recruit new members and provide the experience which could lead to correc-
tion and amplification of earlier formulations. The Cape Town groups were
mainly white and predominantly Jewish. Many were more familiar with Yid-
dish than with English, and their articles required rewriting. Initially there
were few Africans or Coloureds, and recruiting was painfully slow. Aware of
the problem, the Secretary of the WPSA explained in one letter that it was
not possible to work legally with blacks. His reference, presumably, was to
the few African townships where whites were not allowed entry without a
visitor’s permit. There were no full-time organisers, and it seems that nobody
in the WPSA or CLSA was involved in trade union work.



THE TROTSKYIST GROUPS IN SOUTH AFRICA, 1932-1948 a7

The first crucial engagement in political work, although little more than
attendance at a conference, was to move WPSA politics at a later date into
entirely new channels. This came from the presence of Tabata, Jaineb Gool
(later Mrs Tabata) and Goolam Gool at the All-African Convention, con-
vened in 1935, to organise a campaign against the Hertzog Native Bills, >
What happened at the conferences is still unclear. The official minutes of the
conferences were written and published by the President, DDT Jabavu, a
lecturer at the scgr&gatcd college at Fort Hare, and he was highly selective in
what he recorded.

The Spark carried reports of the proceedings each year (1935-37), and
was sharply critical of the tactics (or antics) of the self-appointed leaders.
They lambasted the President, and criticised his policies and his autocratic
behaviour. There is an even more caustic description of events in 1937 in the
recently published diary of Ralph Bunche, at that time a radical left winger,
who toured South Africa. He described caucuses, which included members
of the WPSA and Communist League, where more radical policies were
demanded."!

Yet the new organisation seemed to offer an ideal platform. The two is-
sues at stake were land and the vote. The demand for more land and the en-
ding of the reserve system were demands that fitted in with the WPSA's
thesis. The question of the vote coincided with Trotsky’s call to politicise the
land question, and it also pointed in the direction of a Black Republic. Fur-
thermore, the federal basis upon which the Convention had been summoned
allowed left wing groups an autonomy within a potentially large organisation.
However, it was an outlet which did not lead to the working class, and in
which all reference to Socialism was silenced. The crucial intervention of the
advanced workers in any solution of the land question, which had been
stressed by Trotsky in his letter, was by-ﬁasscd and never appeared in the
contributions of Tabata et al at the AAC.

The first conference of the AAC in 1935 called for a rejection of the
Hertzog Bills, and a delegation was nominated to interview the Prime Mini-
ster. It was following the meetings with Hertzog and other members of par-
liament that a ‘compromise’ was announced. Instead of abolishing the Cape
African vote, those already enfranchised would be placed on a separate roll.
An advisory Native Representative Council would be elected, as would
whites who would represent Africans in parliament and the senate. No one
would confess to having agreed to the ‘compromise’, and this was to be a
source of friction in the years to come.

In the first years of its existence, the impact of the AAC on the WPSA was
minimal, The AAC was confined to an annual gathering (later biannual) with
no intervening activity, and little was required of those who gathered at con-
ference. The fact that leading cadre of the WPSA would assume leadership
of the movement, and in the process become Nationalist leaders with a
-t[hl‘Otskyisl fagade, was a caricature of Trotsky’s meaning in his reply to the

heses.
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The articles on the Native Bills and the AAC in The Spark led to the first
rift between Johannesburg and Cape Town. There was an exchange between
Lee and Burlak on the factors that led to the ‘compromise’, Lee insisting that
it was a ruse to win African support for the coming war, whilst Burlak main-
tained that Hertzog had made the concession in order to win the necessary
two-thirds majority in parliament. The nature of the disagreement between
Lee and Burlak is only of academic interest now. Nor is it clear why so much
heat was generated by the Johannesburg group over the issue. They refused
to sell The Spark, distanced themselves from the journal, and started their
own publication Umlilo Mollo (The Flame). Then, at Lee’s insistence, the
debate was published in The Spark. Lee’s arguments did not stand up, and no
more was heard of the matter.

The distance between Cape Town and Johannesburg made joint work al-
most impossible, and the impecunious state of the groups meant that there
was no money for train fares across 1000 miles. Consequently, there were no
visits for consultations, no conferences, and no election of committees, Con-
tact was maintained through the post, and many decisions were taken
without full consultation. In Cape Town almost all the work was conducted by
Burlak, Koston and Goodlatte. They handled the mail with groups in the US,
the UK and Australia, translated documents from the IS, typed the monthly
Spark, and maintained the work of the group in Cape Town as well as the
Spartacus Club. It was an overwhelming load, but there were no full time
party workers, and no indication that other members assisted in any substan-
tial way.

At first the Editorial Board of The Spark was made up of the Cape Town
trio and three from Johannesburg, This was to be Lee and two others. How-
ever, the constantly changing membership of the Johannesburg group left
Lee as the only effective member. His contributions to the journal were spas-
modic, and then, with the dispute over the Native Bills, the Johannesburg
members withdrew from the Editorial Board, and for two months they did
not distribute The Spark. Also, in April 1936 (prior to the dispute) when Kos-
ton resigned for personal reasons, Lee had been appointed National
Secretary of the WPSA. It was an appointment that was more nominal than
real. Little was altered by the Secretary being in Johannesburg, but the dis-
pute placed the whole party in jeopardy.

African members seemed to leave as fast as they were recruited, and the
training on offer was rudimentary. One new member who seemed to be dif-
ferent was CBI Dladla, a prominent member of the CPSA from Nigel, a min-
ing town on the western edge of the Witwatersrand. His appearance as a
Trotskyist was announced to the pﬁblic in Umlilo. He was to became
Secretary of the Johannesburg group.

In all this there was more than a touch of eccentricity in Lee’s activities. In
one letter written by (an embittered) Gordon, Lee was accused of being inac-
tive in the Laundry Workers Union, and of dissolute behaviour. Also, ac-
cording to Heaton Lee, at one stage he was convinced that he knew where
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the Kruger millions were to be found. For weeks he had members of the
group digging at selected spots for this treasure trove.

The withdrawal from The Spark was the politics of sectarianism, and it
was followed in July 1937 by the decision of Ralph and Millie Lee, Heaton
Lee and Dick Freislich to leave Johannesburg for Britain. There was no
warning of the impending move, and the Johannesburg group was stripped of
its leadership. The WPSA was left to find a new Secretary. It was
reconstructed in Johannesburg with Max Sapire as secretary. The group,
which was mainly white, had some involvement in trade union work, but its
claims of success were exaggerated. That is, some of its members were rank
and file trade unionists, and attempts to restart African trade unions were not
successful. Then the group all but disappeared. At some stage other groups
appeared. One was known as the Propaganda Group for a Fourth Interna-
tional, of which Gordon and Klenerman were members. Another was the
Johannesburg Group of the Fourth International led by Saperstein (an
original member of the WPSA who had clashed with Lee) and Leon Sapire.
These groups left few documents, and little is known about them.*

Then a new group (or a reconstituted group), the Socialist Workers
League appeared in Johannesburg in December 1938 after a split in the
Johannesburg Group for a Fourth International. It had a programme and a
constitution that ran to several pages. The programme took the WPSA to
task on two grounds: i) because it gave no attention to the white peasant or
white worker, and ii) because the WPSA, in calling for support for the All-
African Convention (without one word on ‘its treacherous réle’) had: ‘Not
one word of the class struggle of the oppressed masses. Just national struggle
for liberation and ignoring the white workers.”

The SWL eschewed black national organisation or black chauvinism,
whilst condemning the white chauvinism of superiority and segregation. They
accepted parallel organisations until objective conditions made it possible
for such bodies to draw closer. It seems that it was this group that produced
three issues of Socialist Action in 1939. The paper was in English and
Afrikaans, but besides being anti-Fascist (which indicated a former associa-
tion with the Anti-Fascist League), it gave no support to Gordon, although it
called for work in the black trade unions. Then in September, when war was
declared, the group scuttled and ran. Its programme and constitution were
surrendered, and its anti-war stand forgotten. Some of its members were to
reappear lemporarily in 1944 before finally leaving the scene. None made any
(known) contribution to theory, and none lifted a finger in practical political
work.

In late 1937, with failing health, Clare Goodlatte relinquished her rdle as
Secretary of the WPSA, but continued with her work on the Editorial Board
of The Spark. At the end of 1938 she withdrew from all activity, weakening the
group considerably. There were now far too few members to sustain the jour-
nal or to entertain the idea of embarking on new activity. By mid-1938 the
Strains were showing. Writing to Basch in London, Koston wrote:
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About us . . . not so good. Our Spark circulation increases slowly, now
about 900 are printed monthly and 800 disposed of. We have more than
400 individuals on the mailing list. Recently we circulated about 400
questionnaires to Bantu readers . . . The result has been disappointing,
only about 15 bothering to fill it up and send it back ... perhaps three or
four sound very hopeful.

Basically our trouble [in Cape Town] is this. None of us is in a position to
give more than our evenings to the work that had to be done. Of course
this is hopeless. We have given a certain theoretical training to a number
of Bantu members here, but as they are wholly without practical
knowledge and not in a position to go out and organise and learn by
their mistakes, nothing much is done. If we had one good European or-
ganiser we could support him and our Bantu comrades, and if we could
organise one trade union victory everything would change here. There
have been in the last 18 months, a wave of spontaneous strikes started by
the Bantu at such widely separate places as Durban, Piquetberg, Johan-
nesburg suburbs, etc. Every one of them has failed, not only because the
bosses realise that they mustn’t let the Bantu win a strike, but also be-
cause the Bantu don’t know how to run a strike. One victorious strike
would mean a lot. It would show the Bantu that there is a way, some way,
of bettering their lot, and they would be ready to listen to those who
have shown them the way. After all, why should the Bantu or the
workers anywhere for that matter listen to us and take us on our face
value? The fact that we have successfully predicted the disastrous out-
come of Stalinist policies is not enough: this effects only a few in-
dividuals, those who follow and study events...

The Spark is intended for the Bantu intellectual. From him its message
should percolate down. But the Bantu intellectual, first of all is a very
thin strata [sic] in the country, secondly very backward and ignorant
(cannot in anyway be compared with Indian, Chinese, not to speak of
European intellectual), feels so much better off (which he is) than the
Bantu masses that he wants to lead the masses in his own way, which is
naturally not a revolutionary way. The intellectual does not feel the full
force of the oppression, he eats, and he hopes and believes in the
rulers...’

In August 1939 the editors of The Spark announced that the government’s
imposition of controls on publications spelt the end of open discussion in the
country. In fact, the triumvirate were tired and probably dispirited. Good-
latte, after a long illness, resigned form all positions in 1939. She died in
1942."" The Spark did not appear again, and the group published no leaflets
or pamphlets. It seems to have continued through the first years of the war,
making no new statement, but its members, Tabata, Jaineb and Goolam
Gool, Ben Kies and others were the moving spirit behind the NEUM, the
AAC and the Anti-CAD, and its main associated movements — the two
teachers’ organisations and the Transkei Organised Body. This was not
entryism in the formal sense of the word, because the main bodies had either
to be reconstructed or formed. But it was an inverted entryism in which
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populist movements were established so that Trotskyists could enter them,
and even be their leaders. In the process they ceased being Trotskyists, al-
though these movements were called Trotskyist by their opponents.

The War

The war in Europe, starting in September 1939, was not unexpected. Both
Stalinists and Trotskyists had warned that war would break out, but there was
little agreement on where it would begin or what to do when it commenced.
The Stalinists followed the USSR blindly, switching policy in line with chan-
ges in Europe, and, having been so involved in Popular Front, anti-war and
anti-Fascist movements, vacillated when war was declared until ‘the line’ was
made clear from Moscow. Until the invasion of Russia they were anti-war:
then they switched immediately. The Trotskyists were anti-war but there was
confusion on policy. Inside the WPSA there had been heated debate over
where the war would begin. Burlak said that it would start as a war between
Britain and Germany; others said that the opening shots would be against the
USSR. All were agreed that they would oppose the war and, in line with
Lenin’s position in 1915, called for the defeat of their own government. At the
same lime, they supported Trotsky’s call for the unconditional defence of the
USSR.

There were no published statements from the WPSA after war was
declared. The group withdrew from public sight, and, even if this was a move
to covert activity, it was the underground action of the graveyard. There are
stories that indicate that they continued to meet, but their self-imposed
silence rendered them politically ineffectual. Even those connected with the
AAC and, after 1943, with the NEUM, kept discretely silent on the war. They
did not even refute the statement of the leaders of the AAC, together with the
ANC, supporting the government in its war effort.

Through the first months of the war, the group that now called itself the
FIOSA maintained its absurd policy: that it would be possible to form a front
with elements in the National Party who were anti-war.*® At some point, this
was discretely dropped and never alluded to again. Jaffe wrote a 66 page
pampbhlet entitled World War or World Socialism. The chapter on the war oc-
cupies 11 pages, and in it Jaffe defined Fascism as the universalisation to
which ‘degenerate bourgeois society’ tended, and as ‘the completion of the
merging of monopoly finance capital with the capitalist political state’. He
also discerned ‘the emergence of Fascism out of the threat of revolution’.
This was in fact little more than the Comintern’s definition. Then he added:
the conflict was between two forces that were so much alike that he could see
no end on a ‘purely military plane’ — ‘only the Socialist revolution can finally
end the war’.

Proclaiming the need for ‘revolutionary defeatism’, Jaffe had advice for
everyone. For the German workers, this was simple. They had to sabotage the
war effort. For South Africa, the prescription was also obvious - in the face of
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a possible Japanese invasion the coloured people would be neutral in the bat-
tles between the government and the invader, and between the government
and the pro-Axis Afrikaners. Once again, there was no reference to the pre-
vious stand of the Communist League. For workers in the Allied countries
who feared Nazism, Jaffe recommended strikes, election fights against the
war, mass meetings, demonstrations and ‘other ways of open struggle’.*’ A
far cry from ‘revolutionary defeatism’, and with no call for work on the armed
forces, his call for such defeatism was obscure.

There are few signs of activity in the FIOSA group in Cape Town. They
held meetings, they produced a paper, and they distributed leaflets. They
also gave verbal support to the NEUM - and that seems to be all>® At alater
date Jaffe produced a paper with the title Militant Worker which purported to
represent a set of trade unions — but there is no record of these unions and no
indication that they were anything more than a front for Jaffe’s participation
in trade union conferences.

All Trotskyist activity in Johannesburg ostensibly ceased after September
1939, although a group seems to have been formed at the University. Gordon
had the distinction of being the only Trotskyist to be interned during the war,
but the trade unions remained as a monument to his work. Then, in mid-1942
and again at the beginning of 1943, Jaffe moved to Johannesburg to start a
group. He gathered together half a dozen members (including Fanny Klener-
man and a few black trade unionists). This was a talking group, and besides
assisting Jaffe in producing the paper, there was no other activity. In August
1943 the group was joined by half a dozen members of the left wing Zionist
group, Hashomer Hatzair, and, in the absence of any other trained members,
they soon assumed the leadership in Johannesburg, )

There was a malaise in the movement which grew ever sharper in the next
few years, Members of the WPSA, Tabata, the Gools, Ben Kies and others,
no longer wearing the mantle of Trotskyism, took the initiative in the Cape in
1943 in calling together the almost defunct AAC, organising the Anti-CAD
and launching the NEUM. Henceforth, the Trotskyists acted as leaders of a
national liberation movement, based their work on the vague terms of a milgi
imum programme of democratic demands, and eschewed all class politics.
The members of the FIOSA followed in the shadow of their erstwhile op-
ponents, and devoted most of their energy to promoting the cause of the
NEUM, first as unwelcome guests, but later as part of the leadership. Yet, in
effect, there was little to be done. The AAC, the Anti-CAD and the NEUM
were all federal bodies, and all activity was left to the constituent parts to in-
itiate. There were no national initiatives, no campaigns, and no directives -
outside of the brandishing of the slogan of ‘non-collaboration’, the latter call-
ing for boycotts of persons or institutions cooperating with government,
p!’O\:"'lIlE.‘,'lﬂ.l or local bodies. Torch, the newspaper of the NEUM, was vitupera-
tive in its attacks on all collaborators (the ‘quislings’ as they were called), at-
tacked the white ruling class as ‘herrenvolk’, and declared its organisational
superiority in having a programme that demanded the vote, and the policy of
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non-collaboration. Socialism, the réle of the worker and internationalism
were verboten words. '

The AAC leaders, and Tabata in particular, turned their attention to the
rural population. In the Reserves, but most particularly in the Ciskei and the
Transkei, they mounted a campaign against the implementation of the
rehabilitation scheme, a government policy of resettlement of homesteads,
cattle culling, and an enforced system of crop rotation. The problem, said
Tabata and his followers, was not overstocking, but of too little land. For this
they won support. In this they were only continuing a position that can be
traced back to at least 15 September 1938. In a letter of that date, from the
WPSA to MS Njisane in the Transkei, the writer said that:

The problem of overstocking is the problem of overpopulation, and this

in turn is the problem of insufficiency of land. This is the crux of the

matter, and any “solution” that does not touch this fundamental prob-

lem — the land problem - is sheer hypocrisy and can solve nothing,’

The letter continued, citing the number of landless homesteads in the
region, and the lack of money to improve stock. It was a long letter which then
went on O say:

The Reserves are for the government nothing but a reservoir of cheap

Native labour for the mines and for the farms, and the misery in the

Reserves is fostered towards this end.

The government would not give the African sufficient land to plough, and
an additional burden was imposed through the poll tax to force Africans out
of the Reserves to work. The letter concluded by stating that there could be
no solution under capitalism. Socialism provided the only solution with its
plans for ‘a scientific distribution and use of land’ in a system ‘which will be
concerned with the needs of the people and not with making profits’.

However, the NEUM had done nothing beyond issuing rallying calls, it
had no plans for action, and there was no more talk about Socialism. Forgot-
ten was the concluding words of that letter of 1938 which said that the motto
of the society they wanted was ‘from each according to his ability; to each ac-
cording to his need’. When finally there was an armed peasant revolt in Pon-
doland in 1960, the AAC was split — with the central leadership refusing to be
involved in a campaign that, they said, could not possibly succeed.

However, the issue is not what these erstwhile Trotskyists were doing — or
not doing, By becoming the leaders of a national movement they behaved as
nationalists. It can be argued that it was permissible to enter such a move-
ment, participate in its activities, and even be elected to its committees, and
equally, when rcqjujrcd, to leave its ranks, criticise it and even condemn it for
its false policies.® However, when revolutionaries establish such movements
and put themselves at the head, they are tied in spirit and ideology to such
movements — and in that they mix the rhetoric of radicalism with the conser-
vatism of nationalist policies.
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Meanwhile, the FIOSA group in Johannesburg, unable to make progress
before Jaffe’s return to the Cape, persuaded Lee, who had returned to
Johannesburg, to join them. He grew impatient with a set of amateurs, tried
to galvanise them into action, and he also planned some active position for
himself. This alarmed Jaffe, who revived old accusations against Lee, al-
though they had been shown to be false in Britain. In a manner reminiscent of
the prewar days (but unknown to the newcomers), Lee was expelled in 1944,
The procedure was both reckless and corrupt, but perhaps it was fortunate.
Lee, stung by this event, contacted many of the former Johannesburg
Trotskyists, and, launching the Workers International League (WIL), in-
itiated an ambitious programme of activity, and, most important of all, he
found some of Gordon’s old trade union organisers. This provided the WIL
with a means to work with and to influence the African trade union move-
ment. Jaffe had returned to Cape Town, and for several months the Johan-
nesburg group survived.> But it could not last. The Workers Voice became
increasingly remote, and when the paper arrived at the end of June 1944 with
blazing headlines ‘Why The Second Front Will Not Be Opened’, the group
said they could not sell the paper: the second front had been opened on the
6th. Jaffe’s response was that the prediction might have been wrong, but the
analysis was correct. That opened a gap that finally led the Johannesburg
group to make their peace with Lee and join the WIL.

Lee proved remarkable in providing the means of approaching the trade
unions, and also of finding the means to print a newspaper at minimal cost.
The group was alive and found the means to influence events. Their anti-war
position, which was more a matter of rhetoric than of activity, nonetheless
meant that they were prepared to encourage and engage in strike action, and
although the Africans were not interested in the politics of the WIL, they
responded to the militant trade unionism that the WIL encouraged.

The members of the WIL had few illusions about their work in the unions.
They knew that they were not getting their political message across to the
workers, were meeting only the needs of the trade union bureaucracy
(militant as they sometimes were), and could not hope to gain immediate
converts from these quarters. Yet, the impact of WIL activity resonated there
and elsewhere. At the time of the Alexandra bus boycott in 1944, a section of
the boycott committee, impressed by the activities of the WIL, joined the
group and gave it a presence in that township. It also gave the WIL a fillip by
bringing to its ranks Vincent and Lilian Swart, two talented intellectuals with
awide circle of contacts.>’ But there were also casualties. The old-timers had
mostly dropped out, and Lee, in a repetition of the behaviour that Gordon
had noted in 1935, stopped coming,

The group grew to over 50. Its activities extended to assistance for the
African teachers in their campaign for higher wages, intervention in town-
ships where persons were in conflict with the administration, and the usual
run of pamphleteering, calling meetings, and so on. The WILs influence in
the trade unions extended to nearly half the existing organisations, and its
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members (or sympathisers like Koza) played a significant role in the unions
and at the conferences of the Council of Non-European Trade Unions>® I
was soon after this event that the Swarts met with David Schrire of the old
Spartacus Club. He apparently persuaded them that trade union organisa-
tion was a waste of time and that they would be better occupied in studying
Marxism. They concurred, and basing themselves on the spurious argument
that local industry was a wartime bubble, and that the black working class
would be dismantled when the armed forces were demobilised, called for the
abandonment of the WILs trade union work. Instead, they called for study
and a retreat to community organisation Factions were established, with
erson !cadmg a minority of eight, opposing the abandonment of trade union
work.” The Swart group, firmly established in the Alexandra group, won
overwhelmingly, and apparently hoped for the resignation of the minority.

However, the minority stayed, protesting that they would accept group
discipline and would be shown to have been correct. Shortly thereafter,
members of the majority, including the leaders, announced their joint resig-
nation by letter. They had not even bothered to call a meeting or inform their
supporters, and left behind them a majority that was completely
demoralised. Within two months, in April 1946, the WIL ceased to exist —just
before the African mine workers’ strike, an abortive event which was poorly
organised and was a miserable failure. This could have given the WIL a gold-
en opportunity in the trade union movement if it had not self-destructed.

With the war at an end, the Trotskyists, who had believed that they would
emerge locally, as well as internationally, with a mass following, lay shattered
in the Transvaal, had a tiny group (FIOSA) in the Cape, and the leadership of
a nationalist movement in the Cape. The latter still seemed to have promise
as the nucleus of a liberation movement. That was the promise, although it
did not mean that the Trotskyists would have prospered — even if its op-
ponents (and some of its friends) all referred to the NEUM as a Trotskyist
movement. That promise turned out to be empty, but that belongs to a dif-
ferent study. In 1947 or 1948 the FIOSA group decided to disband. Jaffe and
some others joined the leadership of the NEUM, and made this the centre of
their work. Averbach joined his family when they went to Israel. There he was
apparently isolated and unable to find a place for himself in a land he found
alien. The WPSA is said to have continued its underground activities in the
early 1950s and then dissolved. By this stage (in 1950) the government had
passed the Suppression of Communism Act (which defined Communists as
those who followed the teachings of Marx, Engels, Lenin and Trotsky), and
the groups that were formed after this either existed as clubs, or worked
covertly.

For the coming period little groups appeared in Cape Town and Johan-
nesburg. In Cape Town some were offshoots of the FIOSA, and others were
made of new recruits. Most had disappeared by the late 1950s. In Johannes-
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burg there were several small and ephemeral groups, mostly existing as study
groups. It is a tortuous story of regrouping year after year until at last there
seemed to be some success. The Socialist League of Africa was formed, and
some of its members worked inside the Congress alliance (that is, the groups
allied to the ANC). After the Sharpeville massacre in 1960 and the state of
emergency that followed, this group allied itself with several other groups to
form the National Committee of Liberation, and embarked on a campaign of
sabotage, preceding other similar groups. It was a false move, generated by a
mood of desperation as the state machine clamped down on all political op-
position. It ended when most of its members were arrested in 1964 and given
long jail sentences.”!

Notes

1. Many Socialist groups had associated clubs from which they recruited members. The Lenin
Club was launched on 29 July 1933. Other groups, like the Independent Labour Party (or
at least some of its members), merged with the Lenin club at a later date. The Lenin Club
split in mid-1935 when the Spartacus Club was launched. There is less information on the
origins of the New Era Fellowship, which attracted Coloured intellectuals, and from which
the leaders of the Anti-Coloured Affairs Department emerged. There were similar
Socialist clubs in Johannesburg but they were less successful.

2. This was a period of flux. Thus, the Marxist Education League, ostensibly a group that
studied Marxist texts, was one of the groups that entered the ILP, itself a group that had
passed through and been repelled by the racism of the South African Labour Party. The
Yiddish speaking Gezerd (Gezelshaft far Erd) — Society for Land — was a pro-Soviet club
which supported the settlement of Russian Jews in Birobidjan, in the far east of the USSR.
When Gina Medem, a leading Stalinist, arrived from overseas, on an official visit to the
Gezerd, she officiated over the expulsion of all those who were said to be critical of the
Moscow line.

3. Cf B Hirson, ‘Ruth Schechter: Friend to Olive Schreiner’, Searchlight South Africa, no 9
(1992) for an account of the radicals at the University of Cape Town.

4, The controversy in South Africa is discussed in articles in Searchlight South Africa, nos 3
and 4 (1989/90). Frank Glass and Manuel Lopes were always in close contact and might
have cooperated in writing these letters. However, | have not seen Lopes’s letter and know
of it only from a hostile editorial in Umsebenzi, paper of the CPSA, of 12 September 1930.
There is little information on Lopes (or his brother), founding members of the CPSA and
among the first critical voices from the left against events in the USSR. They later moved
to the right, but there is little information on their activities.

5. The Secretariat, set up in Europe, consisted of former members of European Communist
parties, all of them supporters of one or other of the Left Opposition tendencies in the
Comintern.

6. This is a contentious position and is discussed in more detail in the article on trade unions.
See also my book Yours For the Union, Zed, London, 1989, for details of union work in the
Transvaal.

7. The members of the Club sent out postcards, announcing its inauguration, under
photographs of Marx, Lenin and Trotsky, in Yiddish.

8. This was exacerbated by the government's policy of promoting the employment of whites in
national sectors of the economy. This included the raitways, steel works and state institu-
tions.

9. Reported at the General Meeting of the Lenin Club in mid-1935.

10. Although it seems that there were sharp boundaries between the two political parties that
were formed, it is not possible to determine what influences were at play on individual
members.ments. He then led the majority of members in the WPSA. The theses were



THE TROTSKYIST GROUPS IN SCUTH AFRICA, 1932-1948 97

wvoted on at different meetings. The majonty obtained between 15 and 19 votes, One or wo abstained. Seven or less voted
with the minority.

11. This was a simplistic view of the process forcing Africans into the labour market. African
men were originally directed by the tribal chiefs to work on the farms and the mines to earn
money for the purchase of guns. At a later date the Rhodes government at the Cape intro-
duced taxation to increase the supply of men and to keep them at work. But the bulk of the
workers came from outside South Africa: from Mozambique, Basutoland, Nyasaland and
elsewhere.

12. Averbach wrote to the IS criticising the WPSA’s conception of the party (see letter of 24
April 1935 from the IS to Averbach). But there is no reference to other criticisms of the
WPSA's theses.

13. Letter from WPSA to the IS, 14 May 1935.

14. In one letter (WPSA, 12 April 1935) C van Gelderen was criticised for being ‘too close’ to
Ray Alexander, the leading Stalinist trade union organiser. I know too little of the cir-
cumstances, but cannot believe that Alexander would have allowed an avowed Trotskyist to
work inside her unions.

15. Those who joined the Trotskyist movement in 1943 were told by the minority leaders that
their theses were never received by the IS. This was maintained through the subsequent
years. Yet the minutes of the IS of 7 May 1935, sent to both groups, show that ‘counter-
theses from the minority’ had just arrived. It was said further that they would be seriously
studied, but there is no further intimation of any deliberations or discussions.

16. There is a full (typed) literal translation in the WPSA papers. A part translation, sent to me
by lan Hunter in 1990, differs in tone. The WPSA version is pninted below.

17. Letter to the IS, 8 February 1939. Continuing, they said that Trotsky’s contribution on the
Native Question had clarified the whole position. No more was heard from the IS on the
political differences.

18. This was a plausible appraisal in 1935, but, in line with other predictions that were not borne
out, does not seem to have been noted, or, if noted, has not led to any critical comment
from Trotskyist groups.

19. See Terry Brotherstone and Paul Dukes (ed), The Trotsky Reappraisal, University of
Edinburgh Press, 1992, where I discuss Trotsky's acceptance of the Comintern’s call for an
independent Negro state in the middle belt of the US, and his support for the Black
Republic in South Africa. His reasoning, although obviously different to that of the Com-
intern, was nonetheless faulty.

20. It is not possible to comment on this because the minority documents have never been
found.

21. Letter to International Secretariat, 26 July 1935.

22. Details about the drafting of the theses are contained in a report to the IS. The minorty
theses were drawn up by M Averbach, J Pick and C van Gelderen. J Burlak drafted the
minority docu

23, Yet strangely, in all the arguments that | heard in South Africa about the split, this issue was
never mentioned. See also the polemical article written by A Mon - that is, MN Averbach
— in the Workers Voice Theoretical Supplement, 1945.

24. Purdy'’s thesis, a copy of which was sent to Cape Town, has not been found. A letter from
WG Duncan of the Communist League (June or July 1935) to GJ Lambley claimed that
this document was in basic agreement with the League's position, but was more detailed.
According to Duncan, Purdy also said that the Native Problem and ‘poor white’ elements
were problems to the ruling class only, and should not be treated as such by Manasts.

25, Although four measures were foreshadowed only two Bills, on the franchise and the alloca-
tion of land, were presented in 1935. These measures were to be taken together with the
extra land that was promised acting as a sop for the proposed removal of the vote.

26. The two groups protested separately, unable to reach agreement on policy, the WPSA ac-
cusing the CLSA of pandering to liberal ideas by calling on the League of Nations to inter-
vene.

27. In an unpublished memoir, Bernhard Herzberg says that members of the Communist
League set out to convince African distributive workers that they should join a trade union.
However, the workers were afraid that they might be deported if they were involved in an
Organisation, and theproject ended in failure.
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28. The few remaining members of the Lenin Club then attended meetings of the Spartacus
Club.

29. This entry into the Socialist Party was never alluded to in South Africa in the 1940s. The
Workers Voice during the war years always said that their group had an unbroken record
since 1935. It was only in the late 1980s that I heard about entry into the SP from Herzberg,
He states in his memoir that it was on his initiative that the group entered the SP. The only
available documents of the Communist League, besides their irregular publication, consists
of the letters that the Secretary of the WPSA filed.

30. Initially there was at least one supporter of the Trotskyist movement in Durban, and some
individual supporters elsewhere. There was apparently a small section of the Communist
League (or the later FIOSA) in Port Elizabeth, but I have no knowledge of their activities.
When Gordon was invited to organise trade unions in that town in 1941, he was unaware of
their existence. He handed the unions that he formed to members of the CPSA.

31. In an interview in Los Angeles in 1986, Glass said that they only had contact with one intel-
lectual, whose name he could not recall. This might have been his close friend, Manuel
Lopes. I discuss Glass's life and work in my forthcoming biography.

32. Thibedi, trained as a teacher, was one of the first Africans to join the CPSA and one of its
first trade union organisers. He wrote to say that he was assisted in his new role as a Left
Oppositionist by V Danschen. Although Danschen was on leading committees of the
CPSA, there is no record of his activities, nor of his involvement in the Trotskyist move-
ment. [ met him only twice in 1946 in a short-lived study group, but he revealed very little.

33. See my chapter on Maliba in Yours For the Union. I was unaware at the time of Maliba’s
possible connection with Thibedi. The relation is still opaque.

34. Thibedi was expelled from the CPSA for misappropriation of funds. Such accusations, true
or false, were often used by the CPSA to remove dissidents. It is not possible to verify this
charge.

35. This is not a justification for the expulsion. Such moves were too easily resorted 10 in
Trotskyist groups. But Thibedi aroused suspicion at the time (over occupation and financial
resources), and his nationalist sentiments were not in accord with the policies of the WIL.
Nathan Adler came to his support and left with him.

36. The first information about the establishment of the group is in the Bulletin of the Interna-
tional Communist League of America, in September 1934. Its members included several
blacks, but most were untrained, and most did not stay long. Its early members included
Ralph and Millie Lee, J Saperstein and Murray Purdy.

37. There are reference to their activities in Pretoria in Naboth Mokgatle, The Autobiography
of an Unknown South African, University of California Press, 1975.

38. This is all chronicled in the letters found with the papers of the WPSA,

39. I was only able to rediscover in the mid-1970s the work done by Gordon, Dan Koza and
others. Until then, except for brief and distorted accounts in works by Stalinists, it was al-
most forgotten.

40. Tabata and Jaineb Gool were members of the Spartacus Club or the WPSA. Goolam Gool,
Chairperson of the Lenin Club, joined the WPSA, left it to join the CLSA and later
returned to the WPSA.

41. Tabata, who became de facto leader of the AAC after 1943, does not refer to the conflicts
at theconference in his history of the AAC, The Awakening of a People, 1950, Johannes-
burg, and presents a roseate account that is totally misleading.

42. See Bob Edgar (ed), An African American in South Africa: The Travel Notes of Ralph J
Bunche, 28 September 1937-1 January 1938, Ohio University Press, 1992.

43. In The Awakening of a People, Tabata did not associate social change with the intervention
of the working class, advanced or otherwise.

4. lnl_‘onnation on Dladla is scant, but it seems that he was a leading member of the CPSA in
Nigel. At some stage he left the Transvaal and reappeared in Durban, the gadfly of the
Non-European United Front (a Stalinist dominated movement), and was soon at logger-
heads with the local leadership. What happened to him thereafter is unknown. Only two
copies of Umlilo have been found in the newspaper section of the British Library. It is not
known whether other issues appeared.
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45.

46.

47,

50.

3

—

The gold that President Kruger was said to have buried before he fled the South African
Republic during the Boer War (1899-1902). I was told this story by Heaton Lee in 1975 in
Merthyr Tydfil.

Little has been discovered about the Johannesburg groups of this period. I have found one
(incomplete) typed document that opposed the launching of the Fourth International as
premature. Gordon, for the Propaganda Group, printed a four page pamphlet on GPU
(Soviet secret police) terror in Europe, but that was all. Leon Sapire, writing in December
1937, said that the WPSA branch, led by his brother, had one member, and he had been out
of town for the past three months. However, three months later, five members of the
Saperstein group transferred their allegiance to the WPSA, as did two members of the
Propaganda Group.

Copies of the programme and constitution are in the Trotsky papers in Cambridge, Mass
(I216596). Copies of the newspaper are in the International Institute of Social Sciences,
Amsterdam.

. Goodlatte's career is recounted in Searchlight South Africa, no 2.
. Bernhard Herzberg, who fled Germany and had been editor of the Workers Voice, says in

his memoir that he was anti-war before September, but could not accept Averbach'’s con-
tention that there could be an alliance with Afrikaners who were anti-war. Now that war
had been declared he said, it was necessary to fight against Nazism. Jaffe accused him of
being prepared to kill German workers.

The subject is obviously dead, and there is little purpose in doing a detailed analysis of this
infantile political document. However, 1 point to some of these statements because they did
determine the writings in the Workers Voice during the war, and did precipitate a split be-
tween the Johannesburg group and Cape Town.

. I have little knowledge of FIOSA members because none have written about themselves,

there are no details of their activities. Only after the dissolution of the movement and the
formation of looser discussion clubs did some flower. The historical writings of Kenneth
Jordaan, although surpassed by more recent researchers, are evident of a talent that never
received organisational backing. He subsequently said that there were no Marmxists in the
groups he knew. See my account in *A Question of Class: the Writings of Kenneth Jordaan’,
Searchlight South Africa, no 4.

. Hashomer Hatzair or HH. (The Young Guard), was a left wing Zionist youth movement

that trained its members for the kibbutz in Palestine. Its Zionist creed maintained that only
by creating a Jewish peasantry and working class could the Jews become ‘real’ Socialists;
until then they would practice Socialism on the collective farms. The mix of Zionism and
eclectic Socialism led to internal strains,with members cleaving to different positions on the
USSR, Spain, China and the coming war. The leaders in Palestine, despite their criticism of
the western powers, were pro-war. Consequently, in August 1943, a dozen members in
Johannesburg and Cape Town resigned and joined FIOSA — the only visible Trotskyist
group. This included Baruch Hirson, Itzke Skikna, Shimon Joffe, Charlie Mancim and Ber-
tel Hertz. Those in Cape Town were disillusioned by what they found, and dropped out of
all political activity. In Johannesburg the members from HH moved into leading positions
and remained in such until the demise of the Trotskyist group in 1946. When disagreements
arose inside the FIOSA, or with the FIOSA, these comrades were referred to sneeringly as
‘the ex-Zionists’.

53. The Anti-CAD (Anti-Coloured Affairs Department) was formed to oppose the setting up

of government departments that would place further controls on the Coloured people.
Leaders of the NEUM, many of them members of the WPSA, denied their Mandsm until
they went into exile in the 1960s and there proclaimed their true red internationalism. Yet
even outside South Africa Tabata, who continued to act as head of the NEUM, proclaimed
in an interview that the politics of the NEUM could be no other than pelillbuurgcois. See
extract in Julie Frederick's otherwise absurd book Non-Racialism, The Unbroken Thread,
1990.

.In the 1930s Goolam Gool, a member of the WPSA, was elected to a leading position in the

National Liberation League in Cape Town. He acted in his own capacity and, at WPSA in-
sistence, kept his NLL activities separate from that of his WPSA functions. But he did not
conceal his Mandst beliefs, and when he resigned, after disagreeing with the actions of the
CPSA leadership, he published his reasons in the Coloured press.
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55.

56.
57.

Throughout the war years and into the postwar period, the top offices of the AAC were
held by the officials who had been condemned by the WPSA before the war. Their policies
continued unchanged, but, except for the treasurer, Dr Moroka, who was forced to leave
when he refused to resign from the Native Representative Council — and then became the
president of the ANC — there was no open criticism of the leading conservative members.

"The main activity consisted of selling the monthly Workers Voice,
“I'his did not mean that they eschewed the use of the Wage Board. They used any means to

improve the living conditions of the workers. That also meant that they were not particular-
ly interested in the revolutionary message of the WIL's paper, Socialist Action.

58. This had its own problems. Vincent and Lilian Swart, brilliant as they were, had all the traits

of the rootless intellectual, They lived dissolutely on an inheritance, and combined radical
action with an irresponsibility in their personal lives.

59. The events at the conference in 1945 are reported fully in Socialist Action, and in Yours For

60.

6l.

the Union. A brief summary would not do justice to an event that was one of the high
points of the WIL's achievement.

The minority included four ex-members of Hashomer Hatzair and the two active trade
unionists, Dick Mfili and John Motau. Skikne voted with the majority. The positions taken
appeared in articles in the Internal Bulletin of the WIL. Letters sent by Hirson to the
British WIL, appealing for assistance, have not been found. It is quite possible that they
were intercepted by wartime censors.

Gordon's role in starting the union, the control exercised by the Stalinists who stopped
several attempts by the workers 1o come out on strike, and the debécle after the stnke was
called, are all described in Yours For the Union.

. This will be described in my autobiography.

W ook ok Kk

As an historian, [ was thrilled to get the documents for this essay. As a Trotskyist, | must con-
fess that at times [ would rather these papers had never been found. But the story must be
told as it was, if we are to learn from what happened. I wish to acknowledge the receipt of
documents and the assistance [ received from many people and institutions. I hope that in
so doing I have not excluded anyone or perhaps mentioned names of those who would have
preferred anonymity.

For the papers of the WPSA, without which this could not have been written, Jaco Malan
and Ciraj Rassool. For a complete copy of The Spark, Louis Sinclair. For papers of the WIL,
Nachum Sneh. For documents, Bob and Renate Kamener, Myrtle and Monty Berman, Tony
Southall, Jenny (Curtis) Schoon, Tom Lodge.
ForaccountsofeventsinthevanousTrotskyistgroups, ShimonJoffe, DStuartLinney.
Bemhard Herzberg, Selim Gool, Ann (Averbach) Bloch, Charlie van Gelderen, Paul Kos-
ton, Heaton Lee, Millie Lee Haston, Joe Urdang and Hosea Jaffe (but [ was told that this
last conversalion was not to be quoted).
Theinstitutionsthatprovideddocumentsormicrofilms: Instituteof Commonwealth
Studies, London;the Prometheus DocumentaryCentre, New York; The Churchofthe
Province Collection, Universityofthe Witwatersrand; The South African Library, Cape
Town; International Institute of Social History, Amsterdam;the Bodleian, Oxford; Harvard
University Library, Cambridge, Mass.



THE TROTSKYISTS
AND THE TRADE UNIONS

THE ONLY policy document or thesis that was accepted by both groups in
Cape Town was the one entitled ‘The Trade Union Question’. It started with
the claim that ‘the problems and tactics of the trade unions are determined by
the conditions and intensity of the class struggle’. Then it continued:

As a starting point we take the irrefutable fact that capitalism is in

process of decay. The economic crisis throughout the world for the past

five years [1929-34], the enormous masses of unemployed, the decline

in wages, the onslaught on the standards of living, the various develop-

ments of Fascism, the imminence of war, all this shows the impossibility

of retaining the existing social and economic system, the deadly rule of
oppression and exploitation. Against the background of this sharp
economic crisis, the social struggle in all countries grows more severe.

Strikes of unusual magnitude are breaking out, beginning in the United

States, as the proletariat strives to maintain its standards of living under

the heavy hand of capitalism.

The document then condemned the trade unions in most capitalist count-
ries for their betrayal of the workers. They were in the hands of reformists
and bureaucrats (‘the direct servants of capitalism’), who were narrowly
economist, and kept away from the political struggle. The task of the party
was to oppose and ‘unmask the treachery and slackness’ of the reformist
leadership, and set ‘a steady revolutionary course’.

In South Africa, said the authors, the unions reflected the backwardness
of the workers. The unions were hampered by reformist leaders, stultified by
the existing industrial legislation ‘which aims at settling disputes by mutual
agreement instead of by direct action’, Furthermore, Africans were debarred
or discouraged from entering the unions, and were left ‘completely unor-
ganised and helpless against the continual attacks on their meagre standard
of living’.

The thesis condemned the policies of the existing trade union movements
and the segregationist South African Labour Party to which, they claimed in-
correctly, the white workers mainly owed their allegiance. Consequently, the
SALP was largely responsible for the failure of past strikes. In fact, the trade
unions were largely unaffiliated, and any political influence came from the
Position taken by union officials. In like fashion, but for different reasons, the
document accused the Communist Party of sectarianism, of splitting the
Unions, and removing the more militant workers. What was required was a
united militant trade union movement.

The new revolutionary party had to work to oust the trade union
bureaucracy, by ‘winning the confidence of the masses’. This could OI}JY be
done by participating in the daily struggles, the main task lying ‘within the
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economic struggle’. This could be achieved by rejecting class collaboration
and using direct action.

More specifically, the colour bar had to be abolished, and black and white
workers were to be united in one trade union movement. Until this was
achieved workers, who were debarred from the trade unions should be or-
ganised into separate trade unions. But they stressed:

Under no circumstances... do we regard such purely Native trade

unions as opposition trade unions or as a goal in themselves. They are

only a step towards the amalgamation of all the trade unions, black and
white, into one central organisation of trade unions of all the workers of
South Africa.

The document concluded with a warning, The problems of the workers
could not be solved under capitalism. Concessions could be gradually forced
from the ruling class, but ‘only the overthrow of capitalism and the estab-
lishment of the dictatorship of the proletariat can solve the social question’.

This was a document which, except for the point made about the colour
bar, could have been written anywhere, by syndicalists or radical groups,
There were no new ideas on the role of trade unions in society, and the
problems that would be raised by the separate organisation of ethnic trade
unions was not spelt out. It was almost as a concession that the authors al-
lowed for the possibility of building African trade unions, and the burning
issue of the day, the use of the government-created Wage Board was not
mentioned. That is to say, the statement gave no direction to the members of
the group, fudged the main problems, and did not offer anything new in the
way of theory. Perhaps it did not matter. None of the persons involved in for-
mulating policy was engaged in trade union work, and few if any attempts
werclmade in Cape Town to participate or to engage in trade union organisa-
ton.

It was different in the Transvaal. This was the industrial hub of the country,
and from the beginning members of the Left Opposition were engaged in
trade union work. Frank Glass, one-time organiser for the CPSA, had been a
trade union secretary. Thibedi, before he was expelled from the CPSA, had
been active in organising the African Trade Union Federation, the section of
the Red Trade Unions (or Profintern) in South Africa. In his letter to the In-
ternational Secretariat, he claimed that he had with him the nucleus of
several trade unions in which African workers had been organised. This in-
cluded the Laundry Workers Union. But there is no information on what he
did or what he achieved.

Then came Murray Gow Purdy and Ralph Lee. Whatever their inten-
tions, their trade union activity, centred on the Laundry Workers Union, was
not successful. Precipitate strike action (praised initially in the Communis!
press) was poorly organised and could not succeed. It led to hasty affiliation
to the Trades and Labour Council (the TLC, the South African TUC) in
order to get strike money. Lee criticised the strike in an internal document.
claiming that the union was not prepared for action, that there was no or-
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ganised party fraction in the union, and that there was bureaucratic control of
the body. Lee had taken over the organisation of the union, but it came close
Lo collapse. Gordon, who took over in April 1935, wrote to Cape Town
criticising Lee’s inactivity over a six months period and the lack of organisa-
tion. Lee demanded that the letter be kept from the branch membership to
save him the need to answer point by point. Unfortunately, this was acceded
to, and Gordon’s letter was dismissed by the Cape Town committee — leaving
Gordon under a cloud.

The appointment of Gordon as Secretary of the Laundry Workers Union
and its reorganisation was the turning point in the fortunes of the trade union
movement in the Transvaal > After the collapse, the reconstituted committee
sought a way of getting higher wages, and the one solution seemed to them to
request a wage determination from the government-instituted Wage Board.
According to the minutes of the committee meeting of 9 April 1935, Purdy
and Lee, in accordance with the trade union thesis, were completely opposed
to the Wage Board. Purdy condemned it as harmful, and Lee, saying that the
Workers Party opposed the Wage Board added, in patronising terms, that
children sometimes only learnt that a fire would burn by being burnt. There-
fore, he said: ‘If the laundry workers burnt their fingers, they must not forget
that we warned them.’ The members of the committee were not impressed. If
fingers had to be burnt, they said, so be it: they were prepared to learn for
themselves. Appointed that evening to take Purdy’s place, Gordon was in-
structed to approach the Board on behalf of the workers.

Arrangements by Gordon took time, and the workers were critical of him
on that account. The whole issue became intertwined with personal feuding
inside the Johannesburg branch of the WPSA. Letters were written to Cape
Town with accusations and counter-accusations of incffcicn(.y Lee’s letters
were less than truthful. He said that he had favoured going to the Wage
Board, but that Gordon had bungled the issue. Gordon said that he had
received no help from Lee, and the matter had taken much longer than ex-
pected. In fact, all the work was left to Gordon, and any support he received
subsequently came from individuals connected with liberal organisations. He
even received a small grant for trade union work from the Institute of Race
Relations, a body established with the help of the Carnegie Institute. This was
the only money that Gordon ever received, and it was noted that he was al-
ways hungry when invited out to dinner. It was said that on those occasions he
ate voraciously.

Gordon, as described in the main essay, left the WPSA and worked with
the aid of 4 number of young African organisers. Thereafter, the WPSA in
Johannesburg did little work in organising unions. What little activity there
was stemmed from individual initiatives. One episode, which is referred to in
ashort typed document, was the discovery by a mine manager of an attempt
to reach African mineworkers through the covert ci irculation of the paper
Umiilo Mollo in September 1935, so it appears. This was the work of Heaton
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Lee (no relation), a mine surveyor. Heaton was reprimanded, and his
African assistant was repatriated to Mozambique.!

It was two years before Lee was once again involved in union work. This
time he was seemingly invited to lead steel ceiling workers in an African
Metal Trades Union. Scaw Works, one of the largest firms, refused to recog-
nise the union or meet any of their workers’ grievances. Once again there was
precipitate strike action, the workers were defeated and the union collapsed.
In this case, Lee said later that the Johannesburg branch had opposed strike
action, but, once the decision had been taken, had given the workers their full
support.

Gordon found that the meetings of the WPSA were less and less relevant,
and, after a further set of rows and expulsions, the Johannesburg branch was
temporarily disbanded by Lee to remove some dissident members in mid-
August 1935. Gordon wrote to Cape Town proles[ingﬁagainsl such manoeuv-
res, and then withdrew completely from the WPSA.” Henceforth, he relied
on Lynn Saffery, a member of the staff of the South African Institute of Race
Relations (SAIRR) for legal assistance and secretarial support, on university
students for assistance with office work, and on Fanny Klenerman (Glass) for
political backing,

Gordon was further isolated when the Cape Town section demanded that
he reapply for mcmbcrsh.ig: to the Johannesburg group. He did not, and he
was cut off from the party.” There are no reports of his trade union work in
The Spark or in the documents of the WPSA. The one Trotskyist whose work
was of significance in the workers’ movement was isolated and ostracised.

In her taped memoirs, Klenerman was to say of Gordon that his ‘efforts
were astonishing’. She explained:

Max Gordon was a born organiser. It was his character and his friendli-
ness which gave him immediate admission to the sympathetic hearing of
large numbers of Africans who had not even known what a trade union
was. He spoke badly, but he spoke from the heart. What he told them
was of interest to them, and he made sure that they understood what he
said. Better speakers, more fluent speakers, might present their mes-
sage with more picturesque or literary expression. But he spoke basical-
ly to people who think in basic terms . ..

Thereafter, he organised an African Commercial Workers Union, and
succeeded almost single handed in establishing an African working class
movement. His success came from listening to the laundry workers who
decided to use the government’s Wage Board to press for an increase in
wages. He sought the help of liberals, Social Democrats and even forme:
members of the CPSA who were still Stalinist in their orientation, whils!
maintaining his political integrity. By these means he was able, in the space 0!
less than two years, to build the nucleus of the first industrial trade union
movement in the Transvaal,

Gordon was also confronted at an early stage of his trade union career by
a wildcat strike in one of the laundries, and the union was only saved from ex-
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tinction when a court case against the workers was defeated on a technical
point. I tell the story of Gordon and his principal assistant Dan Koza in my
book Yours For the Union. It was a story of patiently building up a trade union
movement from scratch, of finding the means to attract workers who had
been repelled by the CPSA, when, in their Red Unions, they constantly called
the workers out on strike, and found that their most militant workers were
victimised.

In a conversation quoted by Peter Abrahams in Tell Freedom!, Gordon
described his method of winning minuscule concessions in order to gain the
workers’ confidence:

One day a vigorous and strong Native trade union movement will grow

up. None of the government’s prohibitions and restrictions and arrests

will count for anything then. And that movement is going to play a key
part in the political emancipation of all non-whites. So, for the present,

I ask for a threepenny rise [which laundry workers obtained], for a

recognised and proper lunch hour, and for decent and safe conditions

of work. It’s a small beginning, but it’s a beginning. That’s what was
wrong with earlier efforts. They did not know how to start.

Gordon also made it clear (in other reported discussions) that his aim was
to organise the mineworkers. This was in close accord with the WPSA decla-
ration at the end of 1935, that it was essential that the mineworkers be or-
ganisr:d.8 Gordon expanded: he needed a well organised trade union
movement Lo acl as a spring board before he could move into the mines. He
did penetrate the workforce on the mines by gaining the confidence of the
African clerical workers. They emptied the waste paper bins at night, and
brought him all the discarded papers, allowing him to build up a knowledge
of the mine manager’s plans. There was also a story that I heard from many
sources and widely believed in Socialist circles, that he would blacken his face
and gain entry to the mine compounds. Myth or otherwise, this was the kind
of reputation he built around his activities.

Gordon used every legal means to gain improved wages and work condi-
tions for his unions, and had built a movement, presided over by a Joint Com-
mittee, of over 15 000 members before war was declared.” His methods were
not problem free. The unions he built could have been absorbed into the state
structures or into the liberal SAIRR. However, Gordon was alive to such
dangers, and would have warded them off, but he was never called upon to
save the unions. Gordon was anti-war in 1940, in line with the WPSA, and was
interned in 1940-41 for approximately a year. No satisfactory reason was
given, but it was suspected that during the first year of the war, when victory
was far from certain, the government cracked down on whites who might act
as organiscrs of black opposition.

Yet Gordon’s trade union activities were denigrated by the Johannesburg
WPSA at the end of 1938. On 2 November 1938, in a letter to Cape Town,
Max Sapire, without providing any evidence, belittled Gordon’s trade unon
work as bureaucratic. By way of contrast, said Sapire, the primary work in the
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WPSA was in the trade unions, and he claimed they had made significant
progress, not only among black workers but also among whites. But no more
was heard about this activity, and the white workers disappeared.

In reviewing Gordon’s achievements, it cannot be stressed often enough
that he succeeded only because he was able to enrol African organisers of
ability, and of these Daniel Koza was the most remarkable.” 19 When Gordon
was interned, it was only the work of Koza and some of his organisers that
kept the unions alive, although in so doing they turned against the use of
white cn’ganiscrs.ll Then the unions went on the offensive, led strikes, and
during the early period of the war won some significant victories.

During Gordon’s internment the only support he received was from
Klenerman and Saffery of the SAIRR. But on release in 1941 he found that
he had lost his effective position in the Johannesburg trade unions. 2 Gordon
was invited by Socialists in Port Elizabeth (in the eastern Cape), in collabora-
tion with the SAIRR, to assist in the formation of black trade unions. In a
three month visit he set up half a dozen unions. Then, with no Trotskyist avail-
able to take the unions over, Gordon handed them over to members of the
CPSA, who used the unions to advance their personal political ambitions. By
this means his work was negated, but he had demonstrated the ease with
which unions could be founded.

Gordon’s internment by the Smuts government in 1940 brought his ac-
tivities to a premature end. However, the unions he had established con-
tinued through the war years. With considerable success they secured wage
increases and better working conditions, and the trade union movement
grew in size, claiming a membership of 150 000 by 1945.

Gordon was not a theoretician, and he had no claims to originality. In a
pamphlet on the need to organise workers, he commenced with a paraphrase
of the WPSA thesis on the Native Question." It is a document that makes lit-
tle sense in the context of Gordon’s work. He had set out to build a trade
union movement, spoke (at the TLC Conference) on the fight against
capitalism and against the coming war, and yet, writing about the trade
unions, he commenced mechanically with a lengthy quotation about land
from the WPSA thesis on the Native Question.

When finally, in 1941, he returned to the Cape after police harassment
made continued work impossible, he did not recontact his old comrades in
the WPSA. For the rest of his life he remained in isolation, although he ap-
parently said that if he could find a group with whom he could work, he would
return to political activity. He never did, and he died in 1977, barely known o
a new generation of workers and trade unionists.

It was only when Lee launched the WIL that the resurrected Trotskyis!
movement resumed trade union work. They were able to link together som¢
of Gordon’s original organisers, and form, or rescue, ailing unions — although
none of the union officials gave more than token allegiance to the WIL. Wha!
had eluded everyone except Gordon turned out to be amazingly simple. The
work was done under the aegjs of the Progressive Trade Union group that
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was [ormed in 1944 (o support the Milling Workers Union in its strike action.
This re-established contact with Koza, who was by then the most effective
black trade union official, taking the Commercial and Distributive Workers
Union to its peak, and securing the highest wages for its constituents.

Thereafter, WIL organisers spent a large part of their time on trade union
work, providing speakers, printing facilities and transport for union officials.
Working under conditions at the edge of legality the members of WIL spoke
at workers’ rallies, helped in the organisation of workers, and attended the
conferences of the African trade union movement. They helped elaborate
policies calling for the recognition of the unions outside the crippling I[n-
dustrial Conciliation Act (which stopped strike action during a lengthy cool-
ing off period), and urged a minimum wage policy of three pounds a week. In
this they clashed with the Stalinists, who controlled some of the unions and
urged their members not to strike, wanted recognition under the 1C Act, and
would not countenance a demand for three pounds a week, despite evidence
that this was at the edge of subsistence. In all this Koza played an outstanding
role. He was the spokesman of the PTU, put their case at the conference of
trade unions, and maintained an anti-war position at meetings. The an-
tagonism of FIOSA to this work,' the self-destruction of the WIL, and the
shameful desertion of the trade unions is told in part in the essay above. The
history of that endeavour is told in greater detail in Yours For the Union and in
my forthcoming autobiography.

Despite the advances made through the immersion in such activity, there
were no recruits from the unions. Yet this was not the immediate objective.
The building of a working class movement, which could form the base of a
larger Socialist movement, seemed to several members of the WIL to be
central to their endeavours. If this meant that the group had to work through
a leadership that was bureaucratic and even corrupt, that seemed to be only
a hurdle that would have to be surmounted. And when, after a conference of
the Council of Non-European Trade Unions, at which Koza and other as-
sociates of the PTU put the case for a mobilisation of the unions to organise
the unorganised, the WIL participated in the meeting of thousands of
workers, it seemed to be at the pinnacle of its work. It was at this stage that
leading members of the WIL were persuaded by an associate of the WPSA
that this was not the work that revolutionaries should be doing.

There was a bitter struggle inside the WIL to save the work that had been
done. Hirson, the organising secretary of the WIL, Mfili of the power
workers’ union, and Motau, a trade union worker, and five others fought the
majority over a three months period. All other work stopped whilst the issue
was debated, but the eight were defeated. It was thus, just months before the
African Mineworkers Union called the strike that seemed to shake South
Africa, that the Trotskyists pulled out of trade union work — not because they
were forced to, but because a few leading members decided that this was un-
necessary work.
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There were bitter recriminations from the trade unionists who had been
so abandoned. This was a betrayal that could not be forgiven or forgotten.
This was amongst the most shameful episodes in the history of the Trotskyist
movement, but as far as can be seen, those who were in the WPSA or FIOSA
in Cape Town ignored the event. The abandonment of the trade union move-
ment by the WIL negated all the work that Gordon had done, and brought
the group into contempt. It was perhaps only right that with the collapse of
the WIL, the Trotskyists in the Transvaal were eclipsed and did not par-
ticipate again, except peripherally, in the African trade union movement."

Nonetheless, the work that Koza and others had done, despite the col-
lapse of many of the unions after the defeat of the mineworkers’ strike,
provided a base upon which future unions were built. The continuity was
tenuous but should not be discounted. The great shame was that the work
that had been put into their organisation should have been so wantonly
thrown away.

Notes

1. See the letter of March 1937 from Cape Town to Lee, quoted in the main essay, saying that
the WPSA in Cape Town had not yet undertaken any trade union work.

2. From the minutes of the annual conferences of the TLC. The delegates were furious at what
they saw as affiliation to secure financial support.

3. Gordon’s background is obscure. It seems that he spent one year as a medical student before
working in the leather department of a Cape Town store. Although he was active in organis-
ing the unemployed workers in Cape Town, he was not taken seriously by the members of
the WPSA, and, secking an opening, went to Johannesburg where he earned money by
repairing radios, and working in a big department store. He had set his eyes on trade union
work, and this became possible when he was invited by Lee to take over as Secretary of the
Laundry Workers Union.

4.1 first learnt of this event when I interviewed Heaton Lee in 1975 in Merthyr Tidfyl. His ac-
count was very different from that in Ralph Lee's letter. Ralph, who always insisted that
party publications must ‘window dress’ in order to attract attention, speaks of ‘the
authorities laying bare a great part of our organisation on the State Mines'. Heaton said that
he and his assistant were the only two involved, and his account contradicted Ralph'’s fanci-
ful statement that the African was subjected to third degree methods, severely beaten up
and forced to point out his white comrade. Heaton did not claim that his assistant was a
‘comrade’, and said that after a confrontation he had spoken up and thus prevented such a
beating.

5. There is an ambiguity in accounts of the strike. Lee in his letters to the Cape Town branch
on 21 and 26 February 1937 claimed that there had been months of secret preparations
prior to the demands being made by himself. A letter from Max Sapire, writing one year
later, said that the union was only formed on 15 January 1937. When the workers’ demands
were rejected, the union members decided unanimously to strike the following morning.
Sapire does say that Lee advised against strike action.

6. The Cape Town branch accepted Lee’s reports of events in Johannesburg, and refused 10
hear what the dissident members had to say.

7. See Tell Freedom, the autobiography of Peter Abrahams, the South African novelist, for an
account of Gordon's trade union methods. The WPSA statement appeared in the discus-
sion of its aims in the All-African Convention (see main essay). _

8. This comment, overheard by Nachum Sneh in the Vanguard bookshop, was told me in an 11
terview in London in the mid-1970s.
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La

. Naboth Mokgatle. enroled by Gordon to organise unions in Pretona, describes how im-
pressed he was at the mass meeting when Gordon announced the pay increases obtained
through his submission to the Wage Board.

. Koza had started traiming as a teacher, but did not complete the course. It 1s not known why
he withdrew, but one thing is certain, he was (ar too proud (o accept the servile status and
the miserable wage of African teachers at the time. He sympathised with the Trotskyst

position and for a brief period belonged to the FIOSA, but did not stay. When the WIL was
launched he was considered a friend of the movement, and he led the Progressive Trade
Union group. He was also active in township protests, and in particular with the protests
against the increase of bus fares in Alexandra Township.

“This has never been satisfactorily explained. As I show in my book, Rheinallt Jones, director
of the SAIRR, with the knowledge of government officials, tried to foist Saffery on the trade
unions during Gordon's internment. His highhanded manner angered Koza, and Jones was
forced to leave empty handed. None of this was Gordon's doing, and his exclusion when he
retumed remains a mystery.

. Gordon had actually gathered together the nucleus of the African Mine Workers Union.
Because of his internment, he had lost his contacts. When the union was relaunched, Koza
and Gordon were elected to its Managing Committee, but it turned out to be a dummy
body, controlled exclusively by the Stalinists. Meanwhile, Gordon had handed them all the
documents of the embryo union.

. “The Scope for Native Employment’, Saamwerk Papers (Work Together), no 2, (c1937),
mimeographed. There is no indication of who published these papers, and there 1s no date
or address given.

. For reasons that have never been satisfactorily explained, Jaffe voted at the 1945 conference
of the Council of Non-European Trade Unions with the Stalinists against the Progressive
Trade Union group. This was reported in Socialist Action, paper of the WIL, and drew a
hurt reply from Jaffe in a FIOSA internal bulletin, because the WIL had dared to attack
him publicly.

. In the late 1950s, Hirson, then a lecturer at the university and a member of the Congress
movement, was invited to join the South African Congress of Trade Union’s study group
that was engaged in preparing a lecture series for trade union officials. However, his views
were unacceptable to the committee, and he was excluded from the meetings.



PROFILES OF
SOME SOUTH AFRICAN TROTSKYISTS

The following selected thumb-nail sketches of personalities is only meant to assist the
reader in identifying persons named in this supplement

The Editors of The Spark

IF THE Trotskyists in South Africa had done nothing else, the production of
The Spark, during the period 1935-39, would have marked them as worthy of
attention. Without a doubt, it was superior to any other left wing publication
in the country until the late 1980s. Although it was mimeographed and small
in size, it carried theoretical articles on South African issues, together with
reprints of articles by Leon Trotsky and members of the Left Opposition. By
way of contrast, most other publications of the left in South Africa avoided
serious theory.

The people responsible for producing and for writing most of the articles
were Yudel (or Jacob) Burlak, Paul Koston and Clare Goodlatte. The South
African articles bore no author’s names, but to meet legislative requirements,
Goodlatte’s or Koston’s name appeared in the journal as Editor. These three
were also on the Central Committee, representing Cape Town, but they never
met with the Johannesburg members. Consequently, they constituted the
leadership for South Africa.

What is known about Goodlatte’s life (1866-1942), with new details now
becoming available, was published in Searchlight South Africa, no 2. Until she
was 55 and required to retire, Goodlatte was a nun in the Anglican Com-
munity of the Resurrection in Grahamstown and was principal of the
teachers tram.mg college. She moved to Cape Town, and, becoming increas-
ingly left wing, she joined the Independent Labour Party and then the Lenin
Club. When that body split, Goodlatte went with the WPSA, and played a
central part in its work. In 1939, when she felt incapable of continuing, she
resigned. Goodlatte was an ill person, but there was also a hint of disillusion-
ment in her letters. The WPSA had not made progress, and she was obviously
tired, politically as well as physically.

Paul Koston, who left South Africa in 1925, joined the US merchant
marine. His movements are not clear, but it seems that in approximately 1930
he jumped ship in Cape Town and entered the Socialist movement. He was
Secretary of the ILP, joined the Lenin Club and then the WPSA. For some
time he was the party Secretary. Besides his work in the party, he also owned
and ran Modern Books, the main outlet for Marxist books in Cape Town.

There are few details of the life of Yudel Burlak. It is known that he ar-
rived from Poland in 1930, and he is said to have been involved in a strike of
bank clerks before leaving Europe. In South Africa he worked as a book-
keeper. There is little doubt that all the WPSA’s major formulations came
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from his pen, and that the party’s theses, the main political letters, and the
editorials of The Spark were written by him.

Isaac Bongani Tabata, Goolam Gool and Ben Kies

These three members of the Spartacus Club or the WPSA are seldom men-
tioned in the WPSA papers. Yet they, together with Jaineb (often referred to
as Jane) Gool, Halema Nagdee Gool, Cadoc Kobus and others, all members
of the WPSA, were the driving force in the formation of the bodies that
joined together to launch the Non-European Unity Movement in December
1943,

Gool’s early involvement has still to be unravelled. He returned from
Britain, where he was trained as a doctor, as an avowed Socialist. He joined
the Lenin Club, and after the split he first joined the Communist League, At
some stage he switched and joined the WPSA. He was a office holder in the
National Liberation League, but resigned when he felt that leading members
of the NLL, who were also in the CPSA, had deserted a demonstration near
parliament against proposed legislation.

Gool was a member of the AAC, and was associated, together with other
members or sympathisers of the WPSA, with the New Era Fellowship,
formed in 1937 with a nucleus of students and members of existing Cape or-
ganisations. This club exerted considerable influence in and around Cape
Town, and secured increasing influence among Coloured teachers and their
organisation, the Teachers League of South Africa. The NEF played a lead-
ing role in opposing the formation of a Coloured Affairs Department, helped
to form the Anti-CAD in 1943, and joined with the AAC to form the NEUM.
After 1943 Gool and the others mentioned above devoted all their time to
work in the NEUM, producing the Torch, and the newsletters of the AAC
and the Anti-CAD.

A critical note on Isaac Bongani Tabata appeared in Searchlight South
Africa, No 6. It was slight because the writer had so little information on his
activities before 1943, In that year he played a prominent réle in relaunching
the AAC and the NEUM. In 1958 Tabata led one section out of the NEUM
following a stormy debate in which he proposed that after changes in South
Africa, the peasants should be allowed to buy and own land. His opponents,
led by Kies and Hosea Jaffe, opposed the private ownership of land. A full
length biography is being prepared by Ciraj Rassool in Cape Town.

Ben Kies’s story has yet to be researched. A leading member of the NEF,
Kies led the campaign against the Coloured Affairs Commission and then
the Coloured Affairs Department. He was a teacher, and played a major role
in the politicisation of Coloured teachers in the Teachers League of South
Africa. He later resigned and entered the legal profession.

The independent radical journal Trek carried articles in July and August
1942, obviously written by members of the NEF, with proposals for a new
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liberation movement, together with a programme that foreshadowed that of
the NEUM. The Educational Jounal, organ of the TLSA, had a series of 23
articles on black struggles in South Africa, commencing July-August 1977
and ending in June 1980. Its approach was nearest to that of the Kies-Jaffe
group of the NEUM. The issue of April-May 1978 has a sketchy outline of
the NEF, and the issue of June covered the formation of the Anti-CAd and
the NEUM.

The Workers Voice Group

It is not clear who the members of the Workers Voice group were. The three
members who first framed policy were Joe Pick, Moshe Noah Averbach and
Charlie van Gelderen. They named their group the Communist League of
South Africa. Then van Gelderen left for Britain. New members included Joe
Meltzer, Max Blieden and Bernhard Herzberg, who edited the group’s
paper. Itis not known which of the others played a prominent part, partly be-
cause the papers are not available, and also because the group dissolved itself
and joined the Socialist Party.

When the SP was dissolved, the League reassembled, and several younger
persons joined. However, it is not always clear when members entered. Ar-
thur Davids was an carly recruit, Zeid Gamiet entered at a later date, and
Hosea Jatte joned mn 1939. The younger members, together with Averbach,
were the mainstay of the group during the war years.

Joe Pick (1895-1968) came to South Africa at the age of 13. Apparently
considered too old to go to school, he was apprenticed as a watchmaker. He
entered the Socialist movement at the end of the First World War, and was a
founding member of the Communist Party in 1921.

Active in the CPSA, he was on the strike support committee when British
sailors walked off their ships in August 1925. But little else is known about his
early activities. In 1931 he was expelled from the CPSA (see accompanying
box) and joined forces with others who moved to the International Left Op-
position.

Moshe Noah Averbach (whose initials form the acronym A Mon) went
from Europe to Palestine as a Zionist and from there to Cape Town.
Profoundly alienated from the Zionist movement, Averbach joined the
CPSA and the Gezerd, and tried to earn a living as a Hebrew teacher. How-
ever, finding that his job was to train boys for the bar mitzvah, the religious
ceremony when they reached the age of 13, he opened a small grocery shopin
the predominantly Coloured area known as District 6, where he lived with his
family. Averbach never made a success as a grocer, and devoted most of his
time to the group he had started — but was always at a disadvantage because
of his poor command of the English language. The articles printed under his
pseudonym were always heavily edited, and it cannot be ascertained how
much was written in by his editors.
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The Johannesburg Groups

Al the beginning there was TW Thibedi. He was followed by Murray Gow
Purdy, Ralph and Millie Lee, and J Saperstein, They were joined by Max
Gordon and others, mainly African recruits. But the groups never solidified.
The story is told in the main essay above, and accounts of Purdy, Lee and
Gordon appear in the discussion of trade unionism and the additional article
on Lee. The roles of Gordon, together with that of Dan Koza, are described
in greater detail in Hirson’s Yours For the Union. There were at one time three
groups in Johannesburg, but they all disappeared when war was declared.
Gordon was interned, presumably because of his involvement in organising
African trade unions, but no official reason was ever given.

Very little is known about others who joined the WPSA, nor of the Sapire
brothers who joined the left in 1937-39. Six members, only four of whom had
been active in Johannesburg (R and M Lee, Heaton Lee [no relative] and
Dick Frieslich) played an important part in the reconstruction of the British
Trotskyist movement, and both Leon Sapire and Saperstein tried to get to
Spain during the Spanish Civil War as journalists, All activity seems to have
stopped in 1939 or 1940.

After 1943 a Trotskyist group was reformed in Johannesburg. Its main
force, alongside Ralph Lee who had returned to Johannesburg and launched
the Workers International League, were six members of the left wing Zionist
movement Hashomer Hatzair, who were to become part of the leadership.
Among the recruits to the WIL were Vincent and Lilian Swart, Vincent had
been a lecturer in English, and was a poet of considerable talent. He had
gone to Britain as a post-graduate student just prior to the declaration of war,
and had to return immediately. After returning he turned increasingly to the
left, and was actively involved in the support committee of the bus boycott in
- Alexandra Township in 1943-44. When he joined the WIL he brought with
him some leading members of the boycott committee.

Of the earlier Trotskyists who were enroled by Lee were Raymond Lake;,
Zina Blank, Issie Pinchuk and several others. Nearly all withdrew within the
first year, and little is known of their personal histories. On the other hand, a
few African trade unionists joined, or were associated with, the WIL. Except
for Dan Koza, little is known of the lives of the black members.

WRITINGS ON THE TROTSKYISTS

There are few studies of the Trotskyist groups in South Africa, and most suf-
fer from a dearth of original documents. Authors have used a limited number
of sources and/or oral testimonies from the few early members who have
been prepared to speak of their past activities. Unfortunately much of the
oral evidence has been found to be faulty and many of the following cite the
interviews uncritically. I know of no autobiographies (except that of Phylis
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Ntantala Jordan which has just been published — a work that is not yet avail-
able in London) and there are only a few essays written on individual mem-
bers. Much of the latter quoted in the essays above were written by myself.
The Non-European Unity Movement has attracted more historians but
few have provided a satisfactory discussion of the connection between the
NEUM and the WPSA. This is not surprising. IB Tabata, in his history of the
All African Convention, does not mention the WPSA. Furthermore, without
the archival material the link, even when mentioned, could not be elaborated.
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THE CASE OF COMRADE PICK

In 1990 the CPSA issued an illustrated book entitled The Red Flag in South
Africa. On page 20, veteran Stalinist, Ray (Alexander) Simons wrote a piece
entitled: ‘How and why we expelled comrade Joe Pick’. She explained: the
Central Committee in Johannesburg sent a comrade to Cape Town to hasten
the Bolshevisation of the party. He was a guest at the house of Joe Pick. Then
nemesis struck:
Under the bed he was sleeping in he [the comrade from Johannesburg]
found three unsold copies of the party journal Umsebenzi. They were
part of a batch given to comrade Joe Pick to sell. Pick had already
returned in full the sum owing on the batch. The money for these three
unsold copies obviously had come out of his own pocket. Nevertheless,
he was expelled from the Party for failing to carry out his duty to the full.
That’s how things were in those days.

It is not certain why Ray Simons waited 60 years to tell this story. A search
under the bed, three unsold journals, the money paid, but out he went: “That’s
how things were in those days." Ray Simons also gives the name of the man
who went down to Cape Town. He was Lazar Bach —not an insignificant fig-
ure in the history of the CPSA. Lazar Bach went to the USSR, got mixed up
with the wrong people, and was sent to the gulag. There he was shot or died,
and, except for the Trotskyists, everybody said they did not know what hap-
pened. Even his lover said she did not know. Lazar Bach was rehabilitated in
1990, and his ghost did a little dance in heaven. So now the story can be told.
You see, comrades, it can be said by comrade Ray, Lazar Bach was a bad, bad
man. He was only being punished for expelling Joe Pick. Or was he?

What Ray Simons does not say is that Joe Pick opposed the Black
Republic slogan. Is that not the real reason for his expulsion in 1931? Poor
Lazar Bach, even after rehabilitation, his name is not safe in the hands of his
one-time comrades.

—
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Review Article

DISSECTING SOUTH AFRICA?

Robert Fine with Dennis Davis, Beyond Apartheid: Labour and Liberation in
South Africa, Pluto Press, 1990, pp338

Hillel Ticktin, The Politics of Race: Discrimination in South Africa, Pluto
Press, 1991, pp115

Bob Edgar (ed), An African American in South Africa: The Travel Notes of
Ralph J Bunche (28 September 1937-1 January 1938), Ohio University Press,
Witwatersrand University Press, 1992, pp398

DURING THE past few years two books have appeared, both written by
writers who are sympathetic to the ideas of Leon Trotsky, although differing
in their political affiliation. Hillel Ticktin is editor of Critique, but does not
belong to any political group. Robert Fine has been for several years an active
member of Socialist Organiser.

The books are so different that this review will note the contrast in their
approach and appraisal and is to be read as supplementary to the history of
the Trotskyite movement in South Africa. Ticktin’s work is couched in Mar-
xist language, and he presents his analysis in terms of categories through
which he claims to present a critique of the South African political economy.
Whatever the merits of the book, this is a remarkably one-dimensional ac-
count, in which people appear as shadows, and events are selected to provide
a backdrop for the chosen categories. Fine’s work is steeped in the history of
people and their working class organisations (although in this review I will
concentrate upon his treatment of the Trotskyist movement). However,
naming characters without trying to understand what motivated them
renders this another one-dimensional work, albeit in a different dimension
from that of Ticktin. Fine has looked at the history of the working class in
South Alrica, and he knows what people did. What he lacks is an under-
standing of the factors that drove them, and that leads him to judgements that
might be formally correct, but show no empathy for persons who had to make
snap decisions without the benefit of hindsight.

Starting first with Fine and Davis, [ was struck by the approach found in
the opening pages. This offered hope of fresh insights into the history of the
struggles of the twentieth century, On page x they write:

‘In the history of the liberation movement, nothing could be more er-
roneous than the image of black people as an undifferentiated mass
united by a single political consciousness in their opposition to apart-
heid. The history of class struggle has been one of debate and dissent,
sharp breaks and abrupt turns, competing political organisations and
traditions, ad hoc alliances and unpredicted outcomes.’
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However, this promise is not sustained. The authors had obviously wand-
ered through existing literature, choosing bits and pieces to provide a back-
ground history of trade unionism, mainly African, from 1930 to 1947. Some
sections were familiar, having come from documents, supplied or mentioned,
during a joint course which I presented with Bob Fine at Warwick University.
The use of original data is admirable, but Fine and Davis have their own
agenda, and I found myself in profound disagreement with them as I read on.
It was when 1 came to their final conclusions that I saw most clearly why they
were seeing matters so very differently from myself. They had started out with
the proposition that the black working class was inchoate and backward, and
that the industrialisation after the depression of 1929-31 had produced a
large working class, but it was immature and unable to stand up against a
ruthless ruling class. With much of this I concur. But their reading led to the
conclusion that the trade union movement, built and formed by Max Gordon
and Dan Koza, could not have survived once the ruling class decided to
clamp down. That was what the Smuts government proposed, and their argu-
ment sounds superficially convincing. However, the authors’ treatment of the
mineworkers’ strike of 1946, tailored to fit into their thesis, indicates that they
had missed the point made by Dunbar Moodie, and somewhat differently by
myself, as discussed in Yours For the Union.

The period that is being dealt with here is that of the Second World War.
During these years several of the unions, and the Mine Workers Union in
particular, were controlled by members of the Communist Party of South
Africa. The original impulse for their entry into this union was made during
their anti-war period, and the object was to embarrass the government
severely. By the time the union was formed, Germany had invaded the
USSR, and the position of the CPSA had altered. Henceforth, strikes were to
be discouraged and stopped if possible. Officially, the party’s papers said that
they understood the reasons for all the industrial action, but urged negotia-
tions or even restraint. Wildcat strikes in the mines were deprecated, and
everything was done to get the men back to work as quickly as possible. Even-
tually, the miners forced through a call for a strike, and the union officials,
somewhat tamely, accepted a resolution that the men be called out within a
week. Yet the union was completely unprepared. The Council of Non-
European Trade Unions (which had previously pledged support) was not in-
formed, and only heard of the decision from the newspapers. It was not even
called upon to put into effect its promise of assistance. When the men came
out in August 1946, it was not primarily because of allegiance to the union. In
most cases the men, hearing of impending action, but not knowing who had
called the strike, came out spontaneously. The union leader, JB Marks of the
CPSA, carelessly got himself arrested, leading Communists were out of town,
the sympathy strike never took place, and the miners were beaten back to
work. Little of this is stated by the authors. Instead, Fine and Davis ask
socratically whether the unions were not wise in avoiding strike action earlier,
and in the same breath suggest that the strike ‘highlighted the inefficiency of
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the liberal model of industrial relations held by the union leadership in the
face of the ruthlessness of the state and mineowners on one side, and the
desperate rebelliousness of the mineworkers on the other’.

Obwiously the union would encounter ruthless opposition; obviously it
would be harassed and intimidated. But the union did little organising, and in
its public posturing acted mainly as a body to restrain the workers. The strike
might have failed, as Fine and Davis say it had to, but the workers never had
a chance. They were driven to desperation, and they were provoked by mem-
bers of the CPSA to take action after Churchill’s Fulton speech, which
opened the way for Truman’s provocative acts in the Mediterranean, and
70 000 miners downed tools. This was less than 20 per cent of the workforce.
These details, which provide a different perspective from that of the authors,
are bypassed.

In the next chapter, the war that was barely mentioned in chapter one is
discussed, but without any position being taken on the role of the left during
the war. That is discussed in chapter three, and is used mainly to condemn
the Trotskyists. And although they note the switch by the CPSA (in fact a
double switch from pro- to anti-back to pro-war), there is little reference
back to the discussion in the first chapter. The reader cannot fault Fine and
Davis for their position. That is their prerogative. But it already seems by the
time page 30 is reached that this is not a text that might develop a useful Mar-
xist discussion.

Skipping to the third chapter, some of the faults of the book become more
marked. Fine and Davis believe that the Trotskyist position was based purely
on attacks on the Stalinists. This is not the place to explain once again the
struggle against a worldwide movement that was throttling the working class
movement. Nor is it my purpose to exculpate the South African Trotskyists
for their failure to advance further. However, two interconnecting factors
have 1o be grasped when historians view what happened. Firstly, they must
have an understanding, if not empathy, for the persons and the organisations
under discussion, and that also means that they must have the facts. Some of
us have discussed the events in the South African left for years, but we only
published articles or chapters of books when there were documents. Even
then we had problems, because only part of the story was revealed in the
documents we retrieved. Fine had only part of what has since been found, but
it is a travesty of historical writing to proceed on the smell of a rag and write
with so little documentation about groups like the Trotskyists.

Chapter three provides one further potted history that, correct as it is in
some respects, bowdlerises the story, and gives an account that fails to under-
stand what occurred. Fine did not have access to the theses sent to Trotsky,
and, quoting the Workers Voice, he and Davis even date Trotsky’s letter as
prior to the thesis on the Native Question. Nor did they have the criticism of
Ruth Fischer, or the letters that establish Gordon’s position in Johannesburg
as working outside of the Workers Party. Of Gordon they claim that he did
not have a programme, and so on. They blunder along until they come to the
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article on Palestine in The Spark, presumably one of the few copies they
found. At last they are on solid ground, and they lambast the writer of that ar-
ticle, correctly, I think, but this tells us little about the group and its work in
Cape Town.

The events in the Left Opposition in the 1930s are open to criticism, but
this must be placed in some perspective. If, as the authors say, the working
class was immature, the problem in Cape Town was the difficulty in forging
an alliance between the Coloureds and the smaller African community. It
was this that took Goolam Gool into the National Liberation League, but he
resigned his official position when he believed that the struggle had been
betrayed by leading members of the CPSA. What they did not know was that
the Cape Town group had only three activists, only one of whom (Clare
Goodlatte) was employed. They wrote and published a journal, they ran a
Socialist club, were in financial straits, yet they sent money to a dozen appeals
from oppositionists in Europe, and it seems, exhausted themselves over five
years in trying to build a movement. The Cape Town Trotskyists made many
mistakes, but no study of their actions can ignore the composition of the
group. It is also difficult to excuse the early groups in Johannesburg. The
fights and splits were execrable. Nonetheless, they did not ignore the white
workers — as Fine maintains. They were marginalised by Sachs (an un-
reformed Stalinist) and those so loosely quoted by the authors. Their only
sphere of activity was among the African workers, and it was there that Gor-
don made his mark. His efforts could have been afforded a less negative ap-
praisal. In like fashion, the caustic comments on the work of the Workers
International League could have been tempered, after further reflection, by
some positive statements of its work. There were never more than half a
dozen activists, They built up a considerable influence in the trade unions,
and because of the fragility of the trade unions they were prepared to work
with bureaucratic leaders; they cooperated with the teachers in their cam-
paign for better conditions; they worked in community movements (negating
Fine’s claim that their policy was syndicalist); they even tried to get a toehold
in the white unions, but were rebuffed. They also carried on all the functions
of a Socialist movement, holding public meetings, producing a newspaper,
pamphlets and journals, and so on. Yes, they made serious errors, and their
implosion was inexcusable. But was there nothing they did that pleases Fine
and Davis from their elevated positions in the universities, 50 years on?

If that was all, the book would be rather lightweight. The authors do have
serious arguments against the all-too-muddled thinking on the national
liberation movement, and in a later section of the book, a damning indict-
ment of those (including myself) who became involved in sabotage groups.
Theoretically they are correct, but once again it must be said that they do not
explore the factors that took so many into the movements that espoused, and
practised, violence. That requires a volume in itself, and will be discussed
elsewhere. Readers who are prepared to walk warily (and wearily) through
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the maze of errors generated by Fine and Davis, might wish to explore some
of the problems of South Africa with them.

Hillel Ticktin was born in South Africa, studied at the University of Cape
Town, and attended lectures by Jack Simons, the doyen of CPSA-SACP
theoreticians and later tutor of Umkhonto We Sizwe commissars in Angola.
Ticktin obviously believes that Simons represented a considerable advance
on other Communists, but to describe Simons as belonging to the left of the
CP, is only to call into question the meaning of the word ‘left’. On the campus,
Ticktin worked in groups that were sympathetic to the teachings of Leon
Trotsky. This made him a natural rebel when he obtained a scholarship given
by the ANC for study in the USSR. He emerged from the course convinced
that there was no Socialism in the USSR, and no adherence to Marasm. His
experiences are partly reflected in his essays in the journal Critique and else-
where, and in his book on the Soviet Union. His writings illuminated a subject
that was otherwise opaque, and he was able to cut through many of the past
debates on the nature of that society.

Whilst in the USSR he presented a thesis, researched in the years 1961-65,
which provided a comparison of racialism in South Africa and the USA. The
thesis was not accepted, he says, because he would not accept the line on the
USA demanded of him by his supervisor. This book is an update of the sec-
tion he wrote on South Africa in the rejected thesis.

This book follows a different path from most other writers on South
Affrica. Firstly, he makes no concession to the reader’s ability to follow his ar-
guments. He uses language like a bludgeon, assumes that his readers can fol-
low his logic, does not stop to define key concepts, and, when he refers to
persons or movements, seems to believe that his readers should know to
whom or what he is referring, He is not overconcerned by dull historical facts,
the book contains no accounts of class struggles, except for the 1922 general
strike, which he needs to buttress his arguments, he says nothing about trade
unions or community struggles (which he ascribes, incorrecetly, to Stalinist in-
fluences), has peculiar ideas of what happened historically, and has only a
crude conception of what happened inside the Trotskyist groups. Instead,
Ticktin sets his eyes on unravelling the categories through which South Africa
should be understood. Only then, he argues, can the nature of the problem in
South Africa be explained.

The introduction of new categories in Marxist analyses is a standard pro-
cedure, and fruitful if they allow for new, more incisive, interpretations. That
is, categories used in a critique of a social structure are invaluable if they
allow the investigation to produce new understanding, and uncover hitherto
unsuspected connections or contradictions which provide an insight into un-
folding events. Such categories should be consistent with the existent corpus
of Marxist theory, and if they are new or relatively unknown they must be well
defined. If, however, they do not lead to new insights, then, in line with
Occam’s razor, they must fall away, because simpler concepts can do the
same work more expeditiously. It is my belief that the insights that Ticktin of-
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fers in his book, new and perceptive as they are, could have been made
without the introduction of his new categories. In fact, these only serve to
obscure his analysis, and make his text even less readable.

Requiring a critique of political economy in South Africa, Ticktin intro-
duces, or redelines, four categories. These are abstract labour, declining
capitalism, class and surplus product. From these, Ticktin claims, a better un-
derstanding of South Africa can be developed, and the nature of racial dis-
crimination can be explained. These categories cannot be discovered
empirically (a virtual swearword in his lexicon) and he uses empirically dis-
covered facts sparingly.

One of the hallmarks of Critique, recognised by its readers, is that we live
in an era of declining capitalism. This assertion can be found in Lenin’s writ-
ing on imperialism, and in a speech (and a later letter) by Trotsky in which he
presented a graph indicating the period of growth followed by the period of
decline of capitalism. Trotsky linked his curve to specific historical turning
points. Readers of Critique will have been acquainted with Lenin and
Trotsky’s ideas, and have had the opportunity of deciding on their veracity.
By starkly asserting the notion of ‘decline of capitalism’ as a category, it is
made unquestionable. This has now to be accepted as given, and Ticktin of-
fers no further elaboration in this work. Despite its primacy in Ticktin’s argu-
ment, the new reader will find no argument to support this claim.

Thereafter, Ticktin’s thesis depends on his peculiar use of the category
‘abstract labour’. In the first volume of Capital Marx pointed to two com-
ponents of labour, that which is termed ‘concrete labour’ because it makes
use values, and ‘abstract labour’ which produces exchange value. Marx notes
later in the volume that Ure, a champion of the new system of production and
a rabid anti-trade unionist, envisaged a de-skilled working class in which
workers could be used interchangeably anywhere in the factory. That is, the
work process would allow for homogeneity, and no workers could halt
production by going on strike. It was a fanciful picture, more useful for a
Charlie Chaplin production than reality, even if the work process in some
sectors of production was increasingly de-skilled.

Ticktin adopts the latter aspect of the work process to define abstract
labour. He says of it that ‘specifically it refers to the social reduction of labour
to a common form’ (level of labour time, intensity of labour, etc) (p5). For
purposes of his critique he then states that in South Africa ‘abstract labour
has necessarily to be fractured to maintain the system’, but this has ‘only
delayed and hindered but cannot prevent the formation of a black working
class’ (p6).

This i1s quite ingenious. Ticktin, by introducing the word ‘fractured’ has
laid the way to introducing ‘racial discrimination’. At the same time, he
foresees the future formation of a ‘black working class’ - but why this has still
to take place, and why it must be black, is not specifically discussed. This
seems more like verbal sleight of hand than the basis for new insight. The na-
ture of capitalist production everywhere, despite Ure, rests on the atomisa-
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tion of the workforce. The class, says Ticktin, depends on the workers band-
ing together as a collectivity — once again with little explanation, But a barrier
to this coalescence is the atomisation that is intrinsic to the relations of
production. The workers are divided along lines of gender, age and skill. In
various countries there are further dividing lines, of religion, ethnicity and
colour. These are all exploited in order to weaken the exploited class, and in
many societies one or more of these sectors is (or are) coopted into the ruling
group. To create a special case for South Africa seems unnecessary.

The foundation for Ticktin’s thesis has been laid. By adding his concept of
‘surplus product’ he can move to the assertion that the white worker extracts
surplus value from the black workers by exercising a limited degree of control
over its extraction (p9). The thesis is almost complete. It is only necessary to
add that:

‘Capital accumulation in South Africa has been regulated by racial dis-
crimination, a term which has therefore to be understood as a special
category of political economy and not just a particular politics of a par-
ticular group. It regulates profits, it assists the development of capital in
particular directions, it forms the nature of that capital itself... it con-
tains and directs in particular ways the political economy...” (p36)

This Ticktin expands, referring to the response to the general strike of
1922 as the ‘watershed’ when racism (which is ubiquitous) was transformed
into racial discrimination, and became government policy in response to the
strike. His claim is that:

‘A specific division of the surplus product which leads to particular

forms of capital accumulation can lead in turn to specific legal and

political forms to enforce that particular division, Such is the case in

South Africa... The political forms, in turn, are used to maintain the

specific relation... [that is to defend] the particular form of extraction of

the surplus product.” (p49)
Or again:

‘The division of the working class is not an empirical and arbitrary ac-

tion. It is a considered action under conditions of capitalist decline.’

(p13)

This is a remarkable assertion. Racial discrimination became a fact in
South Africa when it was put on the statute books. Was there indeed no racial
discrimination in the housing of labour on the diamond fields, or in the body
searches? No racial discrimination in the divisions created on the gold mines,
or in the Chamber of Mines’ agitation for a pass law in the 1890s? No racial
discrimination in housing, jobs, pay, health protection, pass restrictions and
s0 on? Was it not rather necessary to put the date forward to fit the assertion
that racial discrimination ‘is a modern response utilising forms and doctrines
of an earlier period... [which] can only be appreciated in a context where a
declining capitalist class [my emphasis] accepted a policy to which they were
opposed, rather than lose all’ (p9). The category is extended. In this short
review only a few passages can be quoted:



124 SEARCHLIGHT SOUTH AFRICA, VOL 3, NO 2, APRIL 1993

‘Racial discrimination divides the workers, so preventing the formation

of a class under conditions when industrialisation tends towards the for-

mation of a relatively homogeneous mass of workers. It performs this

act by paying the discriminated workers below the value of their labour
power.’ (p3)

From this it follows that the difference between South Africa and other
countries is that the majority is discriminated against, permitting the white
workers to get much higher pay (cf p3).

There are other categories like ‘superexploitation’, but they are undefined
in the text and are ancillary to the argument as a whole.

How this makes the analysis any more penetrating is not easily deter-
mined. Ticktin’s predictions are not any more acute than those of other Mar-
xsts who do not find it very valuable to introduce the categories he favours —
and do not make it any easier to operate inside the political arena of South
Africa. Even more important is the lifelessness of the writing, There is no dis-
cussion of the changing structure of the country, nor of the political struggles,
nor of the political organisations. But then, as Ticktin stresses, this is not a his-
tory book. For that the reader should perhaps rejoice. When the author does
usc historical facts he is so often at fault that one becomes appalled at his slip-
shod carelessness. To draw up a calendar of errors would be tedious. But
some should be noted.

Ticktin’s knowledge of the Trotskyist movement is rudimentary. He
claims, on the basis of a conversation, that Trotsky’s letter was an answer to a
letter from Burlak (p2). He also maintains that the move to organising blacks
on a community basis was the fruit of the CPSA’s policies (which he abhors).
There is no doubt, that in the violent move to the left in the early 1930s, the
CPSA organised in the townships. In the late 1930s they repeated this in the
Cape. But it was the Trotskyists who worked in community organisations
after 1943, and never stopped working in such areas. There is no good reason
to condemn either movement for so doing. Why, then, twist the facts?

He claims that peasants had no desire to immolate themselves in mines,
and that draconian measures were required to secure them (p22), unaware
that the first such workers in the diamond and gold mines were sent by the
chiefs to earn the money to buy arms and ammunition, or came from
Mozambique where large numbers welcomed work in the mines to escape
the forced labour imposed by the Portuguese. Rhodes only introduced his
oppressive measures to maintain the flow of workers from the Reserves to
the mines.

Ticktin fails completely to differentiate between workers in the mines in
the 1920s, who wanted a black labour force to do the drilling underground,
and workers in transport and industry who wanted the black labourers forced
out of town (p24). This is not an aristocracy of labour issue, nor of declining
capitalism — but of alterations in the nature of the urban economy and the
specific interests of white workers.
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The short description of the 1922 strike in the book is highly contentious,
It1s not true that the CPSA took a leading role, although some of its members
controlled the initial committee. There was no Johannesburg Soviet in 1922,
This body (which was called a soviet but did not vaguely resemble one), was
set up in 1919, and is discussed in Searchlight South Africa, no 1.

The list can be extended, taking in errors and dubious generalisations.
Ticktin presents ‘facts” that he wants to use in his thesis, In order to condemn
the Stalinists, and they were to blame for many things, he decided that they
were Browderites after the war. To buttress this he said that Earl Browder
was the postwar leader of the CPUSA (p60). This is quite absurd. Browder
was the party Secretary during the war, and called for the dissolution of the
Communist Party after the Teheran conference in 1943. If Stalin could join
with Roosevelt and Churchill in laying the foundations of a new world, he
said, then the Communists could work with the American financiers. Many
South African Communist leaders agreed with him. Then, in May 1945, after
Jacques Duclos, Secretary of the French party, condemned Browder's liqui-
dationism, the latter was removed from his posts. The South Africans fol-
lowed suit. This did not reverse the reformist role of many Communist
leaders, but Browderism was officially dead.

There is a third book, rescued from the travel notes of Ralph Bunche in
1937, part of which has bearing on the history of the Trotskyists. Because of
the later rejection of Bunche by the left (and this is mentioned in Bob Edgar’s
epilogue), it 1s necessary to quote briefly from the introduction. In this Edgar
indicates that Bunche was radicalised in the depression years, and moved
towards Marxism, but was wary of the CPSA, and never became a party
member. Addressing the problems of the blacks in the USA| he claimed that
their problems were an outgrowth of class exploitation. That is, ‘racialism is a
myth, albeit a dangerous one, for it is a specific stalking-horse for selfish
group politics and camouflages economic exploitation’ (p7). He saw that
black leaders would not change because their positions depended on appeals
to race, and because they could not comprehend how blacks were sidelined
by the broader economic and social conditions at work. Consequently, he
rejected appeals for self-determination (as decreed by the Comintern) or for
advancement through business enterprises. In his early writing, Bunche
viewed colonisers in Africa as manipulating race as an instrument of domina-
tion and exploitation...

Bunche’s notes on his journey through South Africa consist largely of ac-
counts of his meetings with personalities from the trade unions, the Com-
munist Party, and with leading liberals and leaders of the national
movements. His visits to the townships provide us with vivid accounts of the
lives of the urban blacks, of their traditions (both tribal and modern), and
their living conditions. It is an account that provides a witness’ survey of
poverty, squalor, and oppression. It is from such accounts that the historian
can partly reconstruct life as it was — and one that should be compulsory
rcading for would-be authors.
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This is not the place to offer a review of a volume of nearly 400 pages, but
there is interest for those who want to read about another side of Trotskyist
activities. Bunche attended the third conference of the All-African Conven-
tion in 1937 at which Tabata, Janub Gool and Goolam Gool were present.
His account contradicts that presented by Tabata’s history of the AAC, and
comes close to the criticisms printed in the WPSA's journal, The Spark.
Bunche's diarised entries speak of wasted sessions spent in trivialities, of dis-
order, and the side-tracking of any serious suggestions made by the ‘radicals’.
Many delegates left the gathering in despair, with the feeling that there was
little purpose in the AAC surviving.

Bunche was even-handed. From the conference of the AAC he wenton to
the gathering of the ANC. His account of that body was, if anything, even
more scathing than that of the AAC. Quite obviously, the petit-bourgeoisie
was timorous and self-serving. The only time they came alive in either of the
two conferences was when the question of blacks in business was discussed at
the AAC. Even that was more a matter of anecdotal discussions of those
Africans who had failed in their enterprises, and those stories led to
uproarious laughter! It is salutary to note that these were the people with
whom the members of the WPSA had to work.

Bunche met few Trotskyists — but there were few to meet. The Johannes-
burg group had collapsed in the wake of the departure of Lee and his friends,
and Dladla, former Secretary of the Johannesburg branch, said to Bunche
there were no revolutionaries in South Africa. When he met Gordon, it was
to hear about trade union progress. As for Cape Town, the Communist
League was just about to reform after their stay in the Socialist Party, and the
WPSA did not often meet with people outside their ranks. Consequently,
Bunche met them only at the conference of the AAC. The comments on the
gathering of the AAC will have to be taken seriously by those who want to un-
derstand the politics of black nationalism in the 1930s.

Baruch Hirson
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